

Walden University ScholarWorks

# Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2-20-2024

# Self-Forgiveness as a Moderator Between Moral Injury and Posttraumatic Growth Among Veterans

Mario S. De Souza Ferreira Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Psychology Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Allied Health

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Mario S. De Souza Ferreira

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Denise Horton, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty Dr. Neal McBride, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty Dr. Megan Gramm, University Reviewer, Psychology Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2024

Abstract

Self-Forgiveness as a Moderator Between Moral Injury and Posttraumatic Growth among

Veterans

by

Mario S. De Souza Ferreira

MS, Texas Tech University, 2016

BS, Embry Riddle Aeronautical University, 2010

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

**Clinical Psychology** 

Walden University

Feb 2024

Abstract

The process of reintegration after military combat service is a difficult path for many veterans. Countless studies have been conducted examining the effects of trauma secondary to military service that result in posttraumatic stress disorder and other related consequences. However, moral injury (MI) related to the shame and guilt experienced by veterans has been of particular interest among mental health providers. Researchers have investigated the effects of forgiveness as a moderator between MI and posttraumatic growth (PTG). Gaps remain in the current mental health literature regarding the effect of self-forgiveness as a moderator between MI and PTG among combat veterans. The present study examined the effects of self-forgiveness as a moderator between MI and PTG. Combat veterans were recruited via a veteran podcast website and an internet survey collection platform was used to collect data to examine whether high selfforgiveness correlates with reduced MI and increased PTG. Multiple regression was used to explain the relationship between MI, self-forgiveness, and PTG followed by a moderation analysis to examine the causal effect of self-forgiveness between MI and PTG. Findings from the research showed the interaction between self-forgiveness and MI significantly improved PTG. The findings of the study may help service agencies implement screening instruments to identify MI traits among service members deploying to combat theaters. The results of this study have potential implications for positive social change through outcomes such as creating clinical interventions associated with life meaning and purpose and the successful reintegration of combat veterans into society.

# Self-Forgiveness as a Moderator Between Moral Injury and Posttraumatic Growth

Among Veterans

by

Mario S. De Souza Ferreira

MS, Texas Tech University, 2016

BS, Embry Riddle Aeronautical University, 2010

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

**Clinical Psychology** 

Walden University

Feb 2024

# Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation to my wife, Lisa Marie De Souza, who left me too soon to be with our Lord and earn her wings to become my guardian angel. She was my muse along the way, watching over me and encouraging me with ideas to write down on paper. Her heavenly guidance helped me make this study the best I could produce for a cause that is very dear to both of us. Rest in peace, my beautiful Angel, my dissertation journey is complete.

I also dedicate this dissertation to my first love, my dear mother, Magdalena Ramis. From humble beginnings as a shoemaker's daughter, she came to this country to follow the American dream of success but instead, she put aside her dreams and made sure her children pushed forward, to learn as much as possible and strive for success. Gracias Mami, por todo tu amor, por toda la afeccion, por la disciplina, y por la paciencia que tuviste para guiarme a seguir adelante.

Finally, I want to thank my son, Anthony M. De Souza, who from a very young age had a dream, stuck to it, and never gave up. I am grateful he taught an old man like me to follow in his footsteps. I am so proud of him for the young man he has become and for the inspiration he gave me to stay the course to finish my dream of becoming a doctor.

To all my fellow veteran brothers and sisters in arms, this one is for you!

## Acknowledgments

I want to express my deepest appreciation to my dissertation committee chair, Dr. Denise A. Horton for always showing a sense of patience, humility, flexibility, wisdom, and guidance. She always motivated me through the dark times and always held the torch up high to continue the mission at hand. I will forever be grateful and never hold it against her that she was in the Army. More than a professor, she was like a leader and a mother to me, always pushing me forward to reach the goal despite the many times I just wanted to quit. I would like to thank Dr. Neal F. Mc Bride, and my URR Dr. Megan L. Gramm, for their advice and dedication in making my dissertation a quality product. Go, Air Force!

I want to acknowledge my two greatest mentors along the dissertation journey, Dr. Eva Miller and Dr. Si-Yi Chao. Dr. Miller is a true friend and a wonderful mentor. I will always cherish the numerous meetings and numerous drafts I had to rewrite to make the content of this dissertation a top-grade product. Dr. Chao, thank you for making statistics a fun journey and for always making me strive to find peace along the way.

I want to thank all my family, classmates, and friends who were my cheerleaders and provided words of encouragement along the way. You all know who you are, so please take a bow. Finally, I want to acknowledge and thank my Heavenly Father, who bestowed His eternal grace upon me. The Virgin Mary of Guadalupe for always looking after her humble servant, and the Blessed (Beata) Francinaina Cirer, who I always asked for intercession, through troubled times, to our Lord for guidance and assistance.

List of Tablesv
List of Figuresvi
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study1
Introduction1
Background of the Study2
Problem Statement5
Purpose of the Study7
Research Question(s) and Hypotheses
Theoretical Framework
Nature of the Study
Definition of Terms10
Assumptions11
Scope and Delimitations
Limitations
Significance of the Study14
Summary15
Chapter 2: Literature Review17
Introduction17
Literature Search Strategies
Key Variables, Concepts, and Themes20
Literature Review

# Table of Contents

Posttraumatic Stress Disorder	21
Psychotherapy and Veterans	31
Moral Injury	33
Forgiveness	44
Combat Deployments	54
Self-Forgiveness and Moral Injury	56
Posttraumatic Growth	58
Moral Injury, Self-Forgiveness, and PTG	71
Summary	72
Chapter 3: Research Method	73
Introduction	73
Research Design and Rationale	73
Methodology	74
Population	74
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	74
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	76
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	79
Data Analysis Plan	84
Threats to Validity	89
External Validity	89
Internal Validity	90
Ethical Procedures	90

Data Security	90
Managing Risks of Harm to Participants	91
Summary	92
Chapter 4: Results	93
Introduction	93
Data Collection	94
Results	96
Descriptive Statistics	96
Preliminary Data Examination	99
Hierarchical Regression Analysis	101
Assumptions Hypothesis 1	102
Assumptions Hypothesis 2	
Assumptions Hypothesis 3	
Summary	105
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	106
Introduction	106
Interpretation of the Findings	107
Hypothesis 1	107
Hypothesis 2	107
Hypothesis 3	108
Limitations of the Study	
Recommendations	110

Implications	111
Conclusion	112
References	114
Appendix A: Permission to Use Moral Injury Event Scale	148
Appendix B: Permission to Use Homeland Forgiveness Scale	149
Appendix C: Permission to Use Posttraumatic Growth Index Scale	150
Appendix D: Demographics Survey	151
Appendix E: Moral Injury Event Scale	153
Appendix F: Homeland Forgiveness Scale	154
Appendix G: Posttraumatic Growth Inventory	155
Appendix H: Survey Invitation	156
Appendix I: Permission to use non-Department of Defense (DOD) entities	157

# List of Tables

Table 1. Demographics of Moral Injury/Homeland Forgiveness/Posttraumatic Growth	
Survey	)8
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics and Correlations among Posttraumatic Growth Index,	
Moral Injury Event Scale, and Homeland Forgiveness Scale (N = 80)10	)1
Table 3. Regression Coefficients of Predictors on Posttraumatic Growth   10	)4

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Working Causal Framework for Moral Injury	40
Figure 2. Proposed Model of Self-Forgiveness	52
Figure 3. Theoretical Model of Posttraumatic Growth	67
Figure 4. Interaction Effects of Intensity of Moral Injury Events and Levels of	
Forgiveness on Posttraumatic Growth	105

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

#### Introduction

The U.S. Armed Forces is comprised of approximately 18 million veterans (U.S. Census Bureau, 2020). According to Elnitsky et al. (2017), approximately three million service members have served and returned from combat service deployments to Iraq and Afghanistan since 2001. Combat veterans returning home experience many distressing circumstances, including psychological trauma. The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) reported that approximately 46% of service members returning from deployment have sought help for mental health-related concerns, and almost half those individuals were diagnosed with a mental illness (Smith et al., 2016; Tsai et al., 2016). According to the 2020 National Veteran Suicide Prevention Annual Report, the rate of suicide among veterans was estimated at 18 per day in 2018 (VA, 2020).

Despite the alarming rates of mental illness and related suicides correlated with traumatic experiences resulting from service members participating in combat, mental health professionals continue to struggle to find evidence-based treatments to effectively address trauma-related issues among veterans. As such, it behooves researchers to examine other psychosocial difficulties that plague combat veterans. One such issue is moral injury (MI), which entails experiencing guilt and shame subsequent to engaging in behaviors incongruent with one's morals and values. Self-forgiveness has been shown to mitigate the effects of trauma and may be an effective psychotherapeutic approach to use in clinical settings with veterans, as self-forgiveness has been shown to enhance positive health and mental health outcomes and increase posttraumatic growth (PTG; Maguen et al., 2017).

In this study, I examined the effects of self-forgiveness as a moderator between MI and PTG. In this chapter, I provide background information relevant to the study, discuss the research problems and the purpose of the study, state the research questions and hypotheses, and describe the theoretical framework of the study. I will conclude the chapter with an overview of the nature of the study, definitions of key terms and variables for the study, and a discussion of the limitations of the study.

## **Background of the Study**

In the past century, the U.S. Department of Defense and the U.S. military have implemented strategies to connect and adapt to world changes, including peacetime and wartime operations (Baylis & Gray, 2015; Bodie, 2015; Freedman, 2015). The necessary strategies used by the military in combat operations to stabilize political and military objectives have incurred lasting effects (Freedman, 2015). Besides the effects imposed by war on societies at large, the resulting outcomes have had a tremendous impact on veterans returning home from combat operations (Baylis & Gray, 2015; Brodie, 2015; Currier et al., 2015; Hoge et al., 2014). A comprehensive literature review conducted by the VA (2014) revealed a deficiency in the reintegration and transition of combat veterans returning from deployment, and this transition deficiency continues to be a growing problem. Many of the issues surrounding veterans returning home focus on anger, frustration, anxiety, depression, shame, and guilt (Currier et al., 2015; Nash et al., 2013). The focus of many studies has been on posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) as the culprit of many issues, such as guilt and shame faced by veterans returning from combat, when the issues might also entail MI.

Studies have directed attention to the increase in issues related to MI (Johnson et al., 2015; Hoge, 2010). MI relates to a standard of guilt, shame, anger, spiritual problems, and alienation from others that transpires after being a witness to or being part of combat events that challenge one's personal moral beliefs (Litz et al., 2009; Nash et al., 2013). Koenig et al. (2018) conducted a study examining the development of measurements used in intervention studies of MI. The study was conducted among 427 veterans and active-duty military members with PTSD symptoms. The findings indicated MI symptoms were prevalent among those individuals who demonstrated high levels of PTSD. As such, psychotherapeutic interventions can be tested and used by clinicians and the pastoral care field to treat the psychological and spiritual/religious symptoms of MI that may hinder the successful treatment of PTSD (Koenig et al., 2018).

One of the concerns researchers have highlighted regarding MI is the spiritual struggles that affect the reintegration and transition of veterans back into society (Currier et al., 2015). Forgiveness, as a component of spiritual wellness, is a concept that was relatively nonexistent in psychological literature until the 1980s (Sanjay & Hooda, 2019) as it was mainly relegated to theological studies. More recently, forgiveness has become of increased interest in the social and psychology literature as a measure to resolve personal conflict. Many definitions of forgiveness exist, varying from reconciliation and resolution (Worthington & Wade, 1999) to feelings of revengeful acts (Forward, 1989). For this study, key elements of Hall and Finchman's model (2005) of self-forgiveness

seem most appropriate. Hall and Finchman described forgiveness as a means of making amends to oneself and to an afflicted person. For example, Wusik et al. (2015) conducted a study to examine the influence of forgiveness as a mediator between posttraumatic stress (PTS) and PTG. The study consisted of a panel of 1,191 college students affected by the 2007 Virginia Tech mass shooting. The researchers suggested further research to ascertain if forgiveness serves as a moderator between PTS and PTG. MI has been shown to correlate with PTS characteristics, often co-occurring with PTSD, but automatously different (Barnes et al., 2019).

Many individuals have researched the relationship between PTSD and PTG. However, while MI has close ties to PTSD, there appears to be no research showing a connection between MI and PTG. Koenig et al. (2018) stated that MI and PTSD share a common bond of anxiety, depression, and suicide. However, while individuals with MI may not experience some of the characteristics of PTSD, such as hypervigilance, hyperarousal, and avoidance, they often experience psychological and spiritual symptoms stemming from internal moral incongruence. Tedeschi and Calhoun (2004) posited that negative situations lead to psychological distress, which results in a personal journey to strive and achieve PTG. Through a network of support systems, it is possible for combat veterans to work significantly to achieve PTG (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2004). The results of achieving PTG can prove beneficial in the enhancement of relationships and improvement of self-view and self-worth and can lead to a new improved lifestyle outside the traumatic event.

# **Problem Statement**

The research has shown that despite numerous psychotherapeutic treatment approaches, many combat veterans experience chronic PTSD, often leading to suicide (Mahoney et al., 2020). Conversely, existing psychosocial literature shows myriad studies (e.g., Whealin et al.,2020; Wozniak et al., 2020) that illustrate how the negative effects of PTSD can be mitigated, resulting in PTG. However, few studies depict how protective factors such as forgiveness can impact the relationship between PTSD and PTG. Even less research has been conducted to address how forgiveness (notably self-forgiveness) can mediate the impact of MI and trauma, thus resulting in PTG. Determining the effects of self-forgiveness as a moderator between MI and PTG among veterans involved in a combat environment could have a significant impact on the mental health treatment outcomes of these veterans. In this study, I examined whether there is a positive correlation between veterans who score low on MI and high on measures of PTG and self-forgiveness.

The potential for growth following traumatic events is possible despite the psychological outcomes from PTS (Wusik et al., 2015). For example, survivors from traumatic events (e.g., Virginia Tech shootings) have experienced positive psychological transformation from the stressful occurrence (Tedeschi et al., 2017). Several factors have been shown to correlate with PTG, including spirituality (Wusik et al., 2015), PTSD (Tedeschi et al., 2017), and MI (Litz et al., 2009). Self-forgiveness, which offers an opportunity for self-actualization and resiliency, correlates with the growth of psychological health and mental improvement, therefore permitting the alleviation of

anger, hurt, and pain associated with transgression (Balkin et al., 2016). Forgiveness, in the onset of a traumatic event, may result in PTG (Wusik et al., 2015). Although a traumatic event may lead to negative psychological response, Tedeschi et al., 2017 suggested PTG is the response to hostile situations, and spiritual guidance (e.g., forgiveness) presented a method of positive psychological growth.

Starnino et al. (2019) conducted a qualitative study on how MI depicts dissonance between an individual's beliefs about how they and the world should function along with the trauma events they experienced. The study was comprised of 18 participants who took part in a spiritual search for meaning intervention program set up at a VA Medical Center (Starnino et al., 2019). The purpose of the study was to explore what guilt, shame, anger, sense of betrayal and the desire for forgiveness meant to the participants. Starnino et al. used a spiritually related intervention group process designed to treat spiritual and moral wounding experienced by combat veterans with PTSD. The findings pointed toward the combination use of chaplain/pastoral and mental health professionals to fill an important gap in treatment (Starnino, et al., 2019). Furthermore, the use of spiritual integrated interventions may bridge the issues of MI (e.g., guilt, shame, betrayal) and mindfulness and compassion-based practices (Starnino et al., 2019). The researchers indicated a need for additional studies that address moral and spiritual aspects related to trauma. In the present study, I sought to address the dearth of research regarding how self-forgiveness moderates between the predictor variable MI and outcome variable PTG (Creswell & Creswell, 2018).

# **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of the present study was to investigate whether self-forgiveness serves as a moderator between the independent variable MI and the dependent variable PTG among combat veterans. Understanding the ability of self-forgiveness to serve as a moderator between MI and PTG could lead to significant changes in how combat veterans transition into society. These findings can also change the way counselors screen for MI and understand the functional impact (i.e., physiological, psychological, social, spiritual) of MI on an individual. Furthermore, due to the nature of self-forgiveness and its relationship with spirituality, the involvement of members of the clergy conducting screening evaluations for MI prior to spiritual counseling may be an option for treatment.

#### **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

RQ1: Does a relationship exist between MI and PTG among combat veterans?  $H_01$ : There is no relationship between MI and PTG among combat veterans.  $H_a1$ : There is a relationship between MI and PTG among combat veterans. RQ2: Does a relationship exist between forgiveness and PTG among combat veterans?

 $H_02$ : There is no relationship between self-forgiveness and PTG among combat veterans.

 $H_a$ 2: There is a relationship between self-forgiveness and PTG among combat veterans.

RQ3: To what degree does the presence of self-forgiveness moderate the relationship between MI and PTG among combat veterans?

 $H_0$ 3: The presence of self-forgiveness does not moderate the relationship between MI and PTG among combat veterans.

 $H_a$ 3: The presence of self-forgiveness does moderate the relationship between MI and PTG among combat veterans.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

Tedeschi and Calhoun's (1996) theory of PTG demonstrates the basis of a positive psychological transformation due to tribulations and other challenges following traumatic events. Tedeschi and Calhoun (1996) posited five general domains that engage the traumatic event and determine the meaning of it: (a) appreciation of life, (b) relationship with others, (c) new possibilities in life, (d) personal strength, and (e) spiritual enhancements. The PTG theory is a method used by researchers to comprehend the relationship between emotional and psychological growth among individuals who experience traumatic events.

When an individual experiences a traumatic incident in a perceived assumptive world, the reaction may trigger a need to cognitively process the experience. This process is called *rumination* (Lindstrom et al., 2013). PTG theory notes that an event may conjure an upsetting reaction that leads to questions about a person's goals and beliefs. The management of affliction and stress create change in the individual's worldview or self and may result in positive growth. PTG shows a minimal focus on the emotional process rather than the cognitive processing of creating meaningful growth and learning to deal with life's future challenges. One general domain of PTG involves spiritual enhancements, such as forgiveness. The process of forgiveness allows for personal emotions, motivations, and behavioral intentions toward an offender to become less negative and more positive over time (Fernandez-Capo et al., 2017). In this study, I focused on forgiveness as a transition of growth to minimize the effects of MI and increase PTG because forgiveness is important to healthy human functioning and to restoring interpersonal relationships after conflict (Fernandez-Capo et al., 2017).

Forgiveness is considered a channel for positive growth and healing in comparison to therapeutic methods (e.g., exposure therapy, medication, interpersonal therapy) that may not be sufficient for treatment of individuals who experience MI. According to Wusik et al. (2015), PTG evolved from the PTS magnitude when forgiveness measures were active. Self-forgiveness, as a derivative of forgiveness, involves accepting the responsibility for infractions, making amends, and reinstating moral values leading to negation of moral guilt (Purcell et al., 2018). Veterans returning from war can exhibit self-forgiveness when they atone for their actions committed during the war. The concept of using self-forgiveness as a measure between MI and PTG may invoke the future cooperation of mental health professionals connecting with spiritual counselors when treating combat veterans with MI (Sullivan & Starnino, 2019).

#### Nature of the Study

The research design used for this study was a quantitative nonexperimental design. I investigated MI as reported by combat veterans. Potential participants for the study were selected from an internet podcast platform that caters to veteran's needs. One other form of data collection involved directing potential participants to an electronic version of a survey packet generated by the internet survey collection website, a service

provider for online survey and research projects. The collected and stored data were exported to the IBM Statistical Product and Service Solutions (IBM SPSS), Version 27, for data analysis (Wagner, 2017).

In the study, I used a multiple regression analysis to examine self-forgiveness as a moderator between MI and the criterion variable PTG. An interaction between self-forgiveness and MI could moderate the relationship with PTG (Warner, 2013). Cognitive discord exists as an antecedent for MI, which is described in PTG models (Litz et al., 2009). I anticipated the quantitative analysis would demonstrate how self-forgiveness functioned as a moderator to reduce MI and increase PTG for the combat veterans who participated in this study.

# **Definition of Terms**

*Combat veteran*: A military service member who experienced any level of hostility for any duration consequent to offensive, defensive, or friendly fire military action involving a real or perceivable enemy (VA, 2017). The term veteran is assigned to individuals who served in active-duty status as well as those who obtained an honorable discharge at last time of discharge or release but does not require wartime service (VA, 2014). For this study, the term *combat veteran* was used from federal law stating that a combat veteran is a person who served honorably on active duty in a combat theater (VA, 2014).

*Forgiveness*: An intentional motive, through a voluntary process, to which an individual who has been a victim of an offense has a change in feelings and attitudes toward the aggressor (Doka, 2017).

*Moral injury (MI)*: "The betrayal of what's right, by a person in legitimate authority or in a high stakes situation" (Shay, 2014, p. 182). In addition, the self can be the cause of betrayal by witnessing and not stopping an event (Litz et al., 2009). MI can be viewed as a collection of symptoms that may include shame, anger, demoralization, self-minimization, poor self-care, and guilt (Maguen & Litz, 2014). Little formal research exists on MI; however, a wide range of cognitive, behavioral, and affective symptoms are associated with MI. For this study, the term *MI* was used to describe the inner conflict based on a moral examination of having inflicted harm and a judgment based in the sense of personal activity (Litz et al., 2009; Maguen & Litz, 2014).

*Posttraumatic growth (PTG)*: A positive psychological (cognitive–emotional) transformation resulting from the struggle to process a challenging life event. Tedeschi and Calhoun's (1995) Posttraumatic Growth Inventory (PTGI) may be used for measurement.

*Self-forgiveness*: Self-acknowledgment of fault about an incident that fosters a positive relationship; forgiveness allows for the peaceful resolution and restoration of positive perception (Lichtenfeld et al., 2019). The term *self-forgiveness* in this study is a form of auto reconciliation between MI and PTG.

# Assumptions

In this study, I examined self-forgiveness as a potential moderator in the relationship between MI and PTG among combat veterans who have served in conflicts since World War II to present-day operations, such as Operation Enduring Freedom and Operation Iraqi Freedom. I assumed (a) the veterans taking part in the study had selfawareness to truthfully answer the online questionnaire, including sections assessing demographics, MI, and PTG; (b) veterans only referred to the experience of combat when answering the online questionnaire; and (c) veterans were knowledgeable in using the technology required to complete the online questionnaire.

#### **Scope and Delimitations**

In this quantitative study, my exploration centered on the predictor variable MI, self-forgiveness as the moderation variable, and PTG as the criterion variable. I used an internet platform to collect data from the target population (i.e., combat veterans) via a survey. As an added resource, an internet podcast service platform website was used to recruit participants who could access the survey through a URL on the website's homepage. The research problem was focused on the lack of studies addressing self-forgiveness as a predictor variable that affects the direction or strength of the relationship between MI and PTG among combat veterans. To lessen the noted gap, I employed specific study tools and PTG theory to conduct this research investigation.

According to Cesur et al. (2013), military personnel entering the armed forces bring personal cultural backgrounds, values, and beliefs and are trained and equipped to use strength, force, and aggression and to cause substantial amounts of harm to meet a military objective. Service members may be assigned to combat operations around the world and may be composed of different ranks and time in service (Cesur et al., 2013). The scope of the study focused on the role of combat veterans consisting of those who served in past combat theaters and who subscribed to an internet podcast service as well as those veterans who were invited by an internet survey platform to participate in the survey.

The delimitation factors of the research study included population theoretical perspective, variables, and research questions. According to Creswell (2009), delimitations set limits to the scope and define the study boundaries. The purpose of the study was to investigate self-forgiveness as a potential moderator between MI and PTG. Studying the quality of life, reintegration into society, mental disorders beyond PTSD, and specific treatment choices for combat veterans was not covered in this research study. Precise components linked with these issues were related to the study purpose but were not covered in their entirety.

# Limitations

Potential limitations for this research study involved the application of instruments in an online environment. Multiple variables regarding the online survey interface were not controlled and may have influenced the external validity of the study. The generalization of the population may not be represented because some individuals may not have had access to computers or online services for multiple reasons. For example, some geographical areas in the United States and worldwide may be considered too remote to access the internet; therefore, qualifying individuals may not have had the ability to participate in the study. Some qualified participants may be deficient in computer and internet use competency and therefore were unable to access the online instruments. For example, elderly veterans from the WWII, Korean, and Vietnam eras. Furthermore, because of the online nature of the instrument, there may be potential for certain areas of the United States to be more represented than other areas, which may affect the generalizability of the targeted population.

Another uncontrolled measure that contributes to the limitations of the study involved the self-report nature of the measurements. The possibility existed for participants of the study to have not responded truthfully to multiple questions in the questionnaire and psychometrics. The use of online surveys afforded a chance for fraud. For example, participants may be involved in the surveys to receive incentives for participation, which may be disingenuous and fail to offer true data for the study. An ethical concern regarding confidentiality and anonymity cannot be guaranteed to any participants. The design of the research cannot control the background in which subjects participate in the online survey. The data submitted by the test subjects may be susceptible to interception and potential manipulation.

# Significance of the Study

In the present study, I investigated self-forgiveness as a potential moderator between the independent variable MI and the dependent variable PTG. The relationship between MI and the moderating effect of self-forgiveness, which may increase PTG, is an important concept to examine. If positive results from the study indicate that selfforgiveness moderates or lessens MI and increases PTG, then forgiveness and selfforgiveness can be used in psychotherapeutic settings.

Countless psychotherapeutic treatments exist for trauma-related symptoms, but many of the intervention processes have not yielded positive results. For example, in a review of evidence-based therapies (e.g., cognitive processing therapy, prolonged exposure therapy, eye movement and desensitization reprocessing) for the treatment of PTSD, Ortega and Miller (2020) found that while these treatments may be effective for some, negative individual responses to these treatments may persist posttreatment. The multitude of trauma-related issues resulting from treatment-resistant results require the need to identify alternative measures to meet the needs of veterans, such as those who experience MI. Forgiveness has been shown to reduce symptoms of PTS among veterans (Currier et al., 2016), allowing for the healing process to begin within oneself and others (Purcell et al., 2018). However, a dearth of research exists to show the effects of self-forgiveness as a moderating factor between MI and PTG, leading to the reason for this study to examine the correlation between MI, self-forgiveness, and PTG. The results of the study could bear innovative counseling techniques that may provide positive growth among combat veterans who experience MI.

#### Summary

The goal of PTG research is to instill a positive psychological change that arises following exposure to trauma and that results from the survival of a traumatic event and the vision of new possibilities in life (Calhoun & Tedeschi, 2014). According to Wagner et al. (2017), little is known about PTSD treatments to increase PTG. Extensive research on PTSD has been conducted, and the focus of this study involves MI, which is not a diagnosis in the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (5th ed.; *DSM*-5) but may co-occur with PTSD (Haleigh et al., 2019). Purcell et al. (2018) stated that MI is a decreasing factor of PTG, whereas forgiveness could increase PTG. I focused on the function of self-forgiveness that may be associated with the perceptions of growth or

inhibit PTG among combat veterans. The study's results may be informative as to the development of a forgiveness-based intervention that specifies how combat veterans can apply self-forgiveness to promote PTG. In Chapter 2, I discuss the literature review and offer a comprehensive examination of PTSD, MI, self-forgiveness, and PTG.

# Chapter 2: Literature Review

# Introduction

Military combat can be a highly distressing experience that can cause severe psychological trauma. The combat situations in Afghanistan and Iraq have qualities different from those of previous wars. Hawker and Nino (2017) noted the wars in Afghanistan and Iraq have been called unconventional in that many of the insurgent tactics by the enemy cause slow erosion of strength and will of the adversary. For example, in these two wars, Afghani and Iraqi soldiers have not adhered to rules of engagement that prohibit shooting noncombatants such as children or clergy. This warfare is far more psychological than conventional tactics (e.g., tank warfare, trench warfare, artillery warfare) of previous wars, and upon returning home from combat, more veterans than ever carry the emotional and traumatic scars from the battlefield (Hawker & Nino, 2017). The traumatic effects of war transfer to the home front upon a veteran's return from duty in the form of conditions such as PTSD.

Approximately 11–20% of veterans who served in Operations Iraqi Freedom and Enduring Freedom screen positive for PTSD each year (Reisman, 2016; VA, 2019). Trauma, secondary to serving in the military, can also lead to long-term MI, which entails the "betrayal of 'what's right' in a high-stakes situation by someone who holds power" (Shay, 2012, p. 183). MI is not a diagnosis in the *DSM-5*, but it has been compared to PTSD in that the two co-occur, but one may exist without the other (Haleigh et al., 2019). Litz et al. (2009) described MI as the harmful result that takes place when an individual's action (or inaction) violates their moral beliefs. I begin the following literature review with an overview of PTSD followed by MI and the relation between the two psychological conditions. Following the overview of PTSD and MI, I discuss the term *forgiveness* and how it can be used to reduce PTSD and MI. In a section following forgiveness, I address PTG and how it entails positive growth secondary to trauma. In the final section, I discuss how forgiveness can show potential to decrease MI and increase PTG.

With this study, I intended to support the need, value, and benefits of researching the potential relationship between MI, forgiveness, and PTG. Forgiveness (i.e., selfforgiveness) may benefit the outcome of the characteristics of MI (e.g., guilt, shame) in a positive direction leading to PTG, resulting in improved treatment methods for veterans, and creating beneficial impact on society. While this study was focused on MI, PTSD is also discussed as the two concepts are closely related; clarifying the similarities and differences between these two psychological wounds is important. The key terms, PTSD, MI, forgiveness/self-forgiveness, and PTG are reviewed based on the literature. I also address how self-forgiveness can be used as a moderator between MI and PTG. An explanation of search strategies, key variables, and concepts is followed by a summary and recommendations for future research.

#### **Literature Search Strategies**

A systematic review of the current investigation on PTS, forgiveness, selfforgiveness and PTG could help connect prior investigations by involving spiritual counseling in therapeutic counseling sessions on the topic (Wusik et al., 2015). Researchers have conducted studies on the effects of forgiveness and spirituality on PTSD (Currier et al., 2016), and the effects and evaluation of MI on combat veterans (Frankfurt & Frazier, 2016; Nash., 2013). Reviewing results of past studies, examining implications for future research, and evaluating theoretical frameworks and methodologies of leading research shows a dearth of empirical evidence analyzing the effects of forgiveness between MI and PTG among veterans. A thorough search, review, analysis, and synthesis of the literature indicated a need to study the relationship between MI, forgiveness, and PTG (Currier, 2016; Garcia, 2015; Wusik, 2015). The literature search consisted of clinical and empirical studies without restriction of the type of research and number of participants. There is a lack of empirical-based review and evidence from peer-reviewed articles and other sources regarding specific investigations of the correlation between MI, self-forgiveness, and PTG. To address the issue, an empirical-based review of the history of MI, self-forgiveness, and PTG related to equivalent research and themes helped to find the need, prospects, and significance to this specific study.

The research used in this review included articles published within the last 5 years; some articles related to forgiveness dated 5 to 20 years ago are used fir historical and critical relevance. The search strategies included multiple searches using the following databases: Academic Search Complete, Journals @ OVID, CINAHL Plus with full text, MEDLINE with full text, and ScienceDirect. My Thoreau multi-database search consisted of the following keywords: *veterans, MI, forgiveness, self-forgiveness, PTSD symptoms, surveys, PTG, guilt,* and *shame*. Using the Walden University Library EBSCO search engine for sources published within the last 5 years produced 791 results using the

following keywords: *history of PTSD* and *combat veterans*. The search engine produced six results with keywords *forgiveness*, *combat veterans*, and *moral injury* published within the last 5 years. The articles presented regarding *forgiveness* yielded 9,886 references more than 5 years old. A refined search regarding *forgiveness*, *moral injury*, and *combat veterans* resulted in six articles. A search using the keywords *self-forgiveness*, *combat veterans*, *moral injury*, and *PTG* yielded zero results published within the last 5 years. Using the most search studies involving MI, forgiveness, PTG, and veterans produced one qualitative study result: Starnino et al., 2019. Researchers found strong support to understand the association between PTSD, MI, and spirituality. However, there is a lack of empirical studies and evidence from peer-reviewed journals and other sources with specific investigation on the significance of PTG on MI and self-forgiveness among veterans. A comprehensive review of the psychosocial literature suggests no research exists examining the correlation between MI, self-forgiveness, and PTG among U.S. veterans.

#### Key Variables, Concepts, and Themes

In the current study, I used a multiple regression analysis to examine MI and PTG, using self-forgiveness as a moderator. I examined the history of PTSD and the connection with MI. I discus the roles of PTSD, MI, forgiveness/self-forgiveness, and PTG in detail including a definition, overview, relationship with the *DSM-5*, and how PTSD and MI affect veterans. Furthermore, I explored PTG theory (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996) and how the use of self-forgiveness applied to people experiencing MI may benefit from positive growth. In this literature review, I explore the role of self-forgiveness as it

applies to MI and PTG. Furthermore, I review and synthesize the key independent variables (i.e., MI, self-forgiveness) and the dependent variable (i.e., PTG) to determine what is known about the variables, what is debated, and implications for further study. An exhaustive review of the current literature on PTSD, MI, self-forgiveness, and PTG as well as their related research methods and theoretical framework follows.

# **Literature Review**

# **Posttraumatic Stress Disorder**

The exposure of military soldiers to combat in the American Civil War (1861– 1865) and the Franco–Prussian War (1870–1871) resulted in medical research conducted to examine the psychological traumatic effects of war on veterans (Friedman, 2015). The aftermath of combat operations also resulted in legislation targeting the welfare of returning veterans from World War I. The Smith-Hughes National Vocational Education Act of 1917 provided federal aid in the form of vocational preparation for injured service members returning from combat operations (Imperatore, 2017). The purpose of the Act was federal sponsorship in career and technical education (Imperatore), with a mandate for states to create boards of vocational education (DeWitt, 2017).

Vocational rehabilitation services have since evolved to meet the needs of veterans who experience physiological as well as trauma-related symptoms. Programs through the VA such as Therapeutic and Supported Employment Services are in place to help veterans with psychiatric disorders such as PTSD acquire employment (Davis et al., 2019). However, veterans in transitional work situations have been found to be noncompliant with work schedules, nonadherent in follow up with assignments, noncompliant with substance use treatment, and often show a loss of interest in returning to work (Davis et al., 2019).

While the primary focus has been on helping post-combat veterans obtain employment, psychological trauma continues to affect many soldiers returning from combat and requires further research (Davis et al., 2019; Vance et al, 2016). As such, another surge of research was conducted to examine the psychological trauma experienced by soldiers close to blast sites during World War I (Vance et al., 2016). Countless traumatic experiences from the combat frontlines introduced numerous psychological and physiological disorders (Church, 2016).

One traumatic event that caused major concerns in recent conflicts such as Operation Iraqi Freedom and Operation Enduring Freedom involves mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI). The U.S. Department of Defense statistics accounted for 383,947 service members who have been diagnosed with mTBI between the years 2000 and 2018 (Defense & Veterans Brain Injury Center, 2018). A common occurring comorbidity associated with mTBI is PTSD. PTSD and mTBI have overlapping symptoms, such as decreased cognitive functioning and poor emotional functioning (Katz et al., 2015; Losoi et al., 2016; Scott et al., 2016). The effects of mTBI and other factors contribute to ongoing psychological trauma experienced by veterans returning from combat. The connection between mTBI and PTSD may also be linked with individuals who experienced MI. Further research may be needed to see if a connection exists between combat veterans who experienced MI and mTBI. PTSD and MI are the same animal, but different species in the sense there is an overlap in the symptoms of fear and those related to guilt and shame. However, in this study, I explored PTSD only as it relates to MI. To understand the psychological impact of traumatic events veterans endure in combat and how PTSD is best understood today, an overview of PTSD and related sequelae is necessary.

# Shell Shock

Myers (1915) introduced *shell shock* as predicaments soldiers endured in combat, which included physical damage of the nervous system and related psychological symptoms such as panic and sleep problems. For example, soldiers experienced blindness, paralysis, and other symptoms directly connected with the nervous system that are not related solely by physical injury. Initially, the effects of shell shock were thought to be the result of exposure to explosion of artillery shells. According to Crocq and Crocq (2000), the effects of heavy artillery used on the battlefield caused psychological disturbance among soldiers. The development of this phenomenon resulted in the establishment of new psychiatric wards due to the overfilling of hospitals. Myers established four receiving medical centers in France and introduced individual psychotherapy and hypnosis as acute treatments for soldiers experiencing symptoms of shell shock.

Overwhelming cases of soldiers afflicted with fright and anxiety because of their exposure to the combat environment (e.g., enemy shells, mines, exposure to maimed or dead comrades) manifested in cases of mutism, general tremors, inability to stand and walk, and loss of consciousness. The evacuation of the afflicted soldiers was not carried forward and treatment centers were established near the frontline of the battlefield. The
premise of maintaining soldiers close to the frontline was an idea psychiatrists thought moving patients away from the frontline may have caused chronic disability (Crocq & Crocq, 2000). The process ideology assumed that soldiers experiencing shell shock would benefit from the emotional support of their wounded comrades, thus having a high likeliness to return to their units. The treatment of wounded soldiers in the forward combat frontline area was comprised of five important principles and established by American Expeditionary Forces Physician Salmon (1917); they are: brevity, immediacy, proximity, expectancy, simplicity, and centrality.

*Immediacy* meant treating soldiers promptly before stress leading to chronic manifestations could take effect; *proximity* implied keeping the soldier close to the battlefield instead of a peaceful environment they will never want to leave; *expectancy* refers to the positive results anticipated through the use of psychotherapy; *simplicity* involves the use of simplistic treatments such as rest and sleep as well as psychotherapy that did not involve past experiences or childhood traumas; *centrality* was a process used to understand the flow of "psychiatric casualties" stemming from events endured in the frontline of combat to the rear in the psychiatric unit (Crocq & Crocq, 2000).

As the technical and industrial advances in warfare equipment and tactics continued to progress, the psychological and physiological well-being of service members involved in combat deteriorated from exposure to the new tactics of warfare (e.g., trench warfare) (Popkirov et al., 2017). The ideology changed when soldiers not involved in the explosions showed similar symptomology to those exposed to explosions (Friedman, 2015). The chronological order of trauma-based psychological injuries progressed to include other labels/symptoms (e.g., war neurosis, combat stress). The recognition of treatment for shell shock among soldiers, in part, was due to many researchers such as Sigmund Freud. Freud's work with patients exposed to shell shock allowed him to realize the mental wounds were of equal importance to physical wounds, which should be treated with dignity (Janowitz, 2019). For their part, the American Psychiatric Association, in turn, continued to monitor the development of combat-related traumatic experiences and provided definitions and guidelines leading to the current classification and treatment of PTSD as it is known today.

# Posttraumatic Stress Disorder and the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders

Although PTSD has been described in numerous ways (e.g., nostalgia, soldier's heart, battle fatigue, combat stress reaction), the psychological classification of trauma has evolved to the present category of traumatic stress. PTSD was introduced by the American Psychiatric Association in *The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (3<sup>rd</sup> ed; DSM-III; American Psychiatric Association [APA], 1980). The initial *DSM-III* described a traumatic event as a devastating stressor outside the scope of the normal human experience. PTSD is exclusive because of the significance it places on the traumatic stressor. For example, a PTSD diagnosis could not be made unless a person met the stressor criterion which entails traumatic stressors that are different from "normal" painful stressors of life (e.g., bankruptcy, rejection) (Friedman, 2015).

*The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (4<sup>th</sup> ed; DSM-IV; American Psychiatric Association [APA], 1994) diagnostic criteria for PTSD included exposure to the traumatic event and symptoms relating to: intrusive recollections, avoidance/numbing, and hyperarousal. A fifth and a sixth criterion were added to the DSM-IV. The fifth criterion concerned the duration of symptoms of PTSD and the sixth criterion addressed distress and functional impairment associated with PTSD symptoms (APA, 1994).

The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (5<sup>th</sup> ed.; DSM-5; American Psychiatric Association, 2013) defines PTSD as, "the development of characteristic symptoms following exposure to one or more traumatic event" (p. 274). Furthermore, individuals affected by PTSD may experience reoccurring, fear-based events followed by emotional and behavioral symptoms. Other individuals may experience "anhedonic and dysphoric mood states" (APA, p. 274). The evolution of the PTSD underwent important changes from the DSM-IV-TR (APA, 1994) to the DSM-5 (APA, 2013). PTSD was moved out of the anxiety disorders into a new class of traumaand stressor-related disorders. The definition of what constitutes PTSD was revised to include learning about the death of a family member or a close friend, separating PTSD criteria for adults and children, introducing a new four-cluster organization and diagnostic algorithm, and adding a dissociative subtype to the diagnosis. In addition, PTSD is currently viewed as being external (i.e., experiencing a traumatic event) rather than being viewed as an individual internal weakness (i.e., traumatic neurosis). The DSM-5 (APA, 2013) expanded on:

- The addition of the trauma- and stressor- related disorders and placement of these disorders adjacent to categories for anxiety disorders and dissociative disorders to emphasize the similarities between them.
- The expansion of the criteria to include "learning the traumatic event(s) occurred to a close family member or a close friend." (p. 271).
- The transition also evolved to diversify PTSD criteria as it effects age group categories (e.g., adult, children).

A notable finding regarding PTSD that was not apparent when it was first introduced in 1980 is that PTSD is relatively common (Friedman). According to the U.S. Department of Veteran Affairs [VA] (2019), the prevalence of PTSD in the U.S. general population is approximately seven to eight percent. The VA also reported the number of veterans with PTSD varies by service era such as Operations Iraqi Freedom (OIF) and Enduring Freedom (OEF) 11-20%, Gulf War (Desert Storm) 12%, and Vietnam War 15% (VA, 2019).

# **PTSD** and Veterans

According to the VA (2017), for over a decade, U.S. service members have deployed to combat operations in OEF, OIF, and Operation New Dawn (OND), which has resulted in over 400,000 returning members enrolled in mental health treatment centers requiring PTSD treatment. PTSD is a cause of significant distress in individuals and often impedes personal and social interactions with family, friends, and negatively affects employment (Xue et al., 2015). The veteran returning home often encounters numerous obstacles when trying to reintegrate into civilian life, which involves coping with war time experiences (Miller et al., 2017). The consequences veterans experience secondary to PTSD can have detrimental effects on the veteran as well as their family members.

## **Reintegration After Combat Exposure**

Combat soldiers may experience recurring, distressing dreams regarding a traumatic event such as attacking non-combatants under orders from superiors. Another factor affiliated with the exposure to combat events is that PTSD can contribute to negative post-deployment reintegration experiences (Elnitsky & Kilmer, 2017). For example, combat exposure may lead to isolation through avoidance of external reminders such as people, places, activities, or situations that arouse distressing feelings or thoughts. Reintegration into family and society, as well as living with posttraumatic memories, are major concerns that affect veterans with PTSD. The effects of isolation from family and friends may cause the veteran to not seek help from agencies such as the VA for fear of the stigmatization it creates. One measure to evaluate the mental acuity of veterans returning from combat operations is using a post deployment health assessment (PDHA).

The PDHA is a screening instrument distributed among service members upon returning from deployment. The PDHA consists of a short questionnaire which evaluates mental health measures such as PTSD, depression, alcohol abuse, in addition to anger issues, relationship problems, and the interest of the service member wanting to get help (Britt et al., 2019). After completion of the assessment the veteran is interviewed by a primary care physician who documents and recommends further treatment options. A second assessment is issued to service members 3-6 months after a deployment called the *post-deployment health re-assessment* (PDHRA). Service members not completing both the PDHA and PDHRA have been found to have different post-deployment health outcomes (Luse et al. 2016). The results of not completing the required assessments may lead to behavioral health risks. The only available data about this risk to be found is through the periodical *Marine Times* "An audit from the Navy Department states, the Marine Corp failed to comply in the completion of PDHA from 46 percent in fiscal year 2008 to 64 percent in 2016." (Snow, 2019). Service members have also been known to minimize mental health symptoms due to concerns of stigmatization; 23% to 40% of veterans returning from combat duty access mental health care (Kehle et al., 2010; Majette, 2013).

Men and women serving in the military may not seek mental health treatment for PTSD due to the stigmatization of mental health problems, as these problems are often seen as weaknesses in a culture that adheres to masculine standards (Stana et al., 2017). The stigma, in turn, frequently results in an unwillingness to accept or seek help (Elliot et al., 2018). Furthermore, veterans have reported feelings of alienation from friends, family, and society due to others' lack of understanding regarding PTSD. Research shows veterans returning from combat (e.g., Afghanistan, Iraq) are depicted as "broken", even though the majority do not endure physical or psychiatric impairment (Wilbura, 2016). Mental health stigma is a severe obstacle in the treatment and care of individuals with mental health problems, especially in military and veteran populations (Nash, 2019). The stigmatization of mental health issues among veterans returning from combat operations

may lead to the use of alcohol and illegal substances as they turn to their own devices for dealing with their mental health problems (Birtel et al., 2017).

The mental health problems veterans face, including PTSD, may lead to high rates of consumption of alcohol and illegal substances such as opioids. If an individual meets the criteria for PTSD, more than likely the individual will meet *DSM-5* criteria for comorbid disorders (e.g., alcohol and other substance abuse disorders) (APA, 2013). Research shows alcohol use disorder is four times more likely to relate to lifetime PTSD compared to individuals abstaining from alcohol use (Fuehrlein et al., 2016). Veterans with PTSD are also susceptible to opioid misuse and overdose (Mahoney et al., 2020). According to Mahoney et al., veterans with comorbid PTSD and opioid use disorder tend to experience frequent primary care and mental health visitations as well as increased risk of homelessness, other comorbid mental health disorders, and suicide risk. The cooccurrence of chronic pain (e.g., pain severity, pain disability, fear of pain) (Herbert et al., 2020) and PTSD have been documented but are outside the scope of this study.

Suicide is a common risk among veterans who have served in combat. According to Hendin (2017) the amount of combat exposure determines the nature of guilt and risk for suicide. The rate of suicide among veterans who served in Operation Enduring Freedom /Operation Iraqi Freedom/ Operation New Dawn rose from 10.3% – 11.3% per 100,00 individuals in 2005 to a rate of 16.3% per 100,000 individuals in 2008 (Ramchand et al., 2011). Guilt has been included in the DSM-5 as a symptom of PTSD (APA, 2013). Evidenced-based treatments to reduce trauma-related guilt exist such as prolonged exposure (PE) and cognitive processing therapy (CPT); however, to date no research exists showing the efficiency of treatments improving the symptoms of guilt (Tripp & McDevitt-Murphy, 2017). However, eye movement desensitization and reprocessing (EMDR) has been effective in treatments of veterans diagnosed with PTSD using treatment formats targeting dissociative exhibits and MI issues (Hurley, 2018).

#### **Psychotherapy and Veterans**

PTSD has many other long-term debilitating effects on war veterans and psychotherapy has been identified as a primary means to help remediate the effects of the disorder. The National Center for PTSD (2019) recommended three trauma-focused psychotherapies, with emphasis on the memory of the traumatic event: CPT, PE, and EMDR. CPT is a therapeutic process where individuals learn skills to understand how to modify and challenge the obstructive beliefs related to trauma. PE is a therapeutic process which involves repetitive talking (can be imaginal or in vivo exposure) about the traumatic event which, in turn, diminishes the intensity of the disturbance. The process allows for gaining positive control over feelings and thoughts. EMDR involves the conjunction of hand and eye movement while describing the trauma. According to Shapiro (1989), EMDR therapy helps an individual access and process traumatic memories and adverse life experiences to reach an adapted solution. After successful treatment, affective distress is alleviated, negative beliefs are revised, and physiological arousal is decreased. The use of psychotherapies such as CPT, PE, trauma-based CBT and EMDR are instrumental in the resolution of PTSD-related events; however, further studies contradict the positive results of these psychotherapeutic approaches in the treatment of PTSD. One concern involving the use of PE and CPT was the increase in

trauma focus did not predict the dropout rate. Imel et al. (2013) pointed out that in three separate trials in comparison between present centered therapy (PCT) and trauma specific therapy (TST), PCT resulted in a lower dropout of 22% compared to TST which displayed a 36% dropout rate. Data collected showing comparison between the therapies showed participants prefer the use of cognitive therapy and exposure therapy over psychodynamic psychotherapy, EMDR, and the use of novel technologies (e.g., virtual reality, computer-based therapy) (Watkins et al. 2018). Providers that petition the use of such treatments (e.g., novel treatments) show concern that trauma focused treatments may pose distress-related symptoms, such as asking the patient to focus on the trauma. The action may limit the providers' capacity reimbursement for other kinds of treatments for the client.

Veterans who participated in evidenced-based psychotherapy (EBP) treatments have not always benefitted from these procedures (Steenkamp, 2015). A study by Walters et al. (2020) demonstrated the use of PE did not improve sleep efficiency among 55 veterans and active-duty personnel with PTSD, resulting in continuous sleep impairment and nightmares. Two consecutive research studies examining CPT and PE failed to find a significant relationship between the efficacy regarding PTSD among 247 mental health care professionals, and subsequently resorted to other non-CBT orientation (Finley et al., 2015; Raza & Holohan, 2015).

CPT is viewed as a difficult process for individuals to adhere to due to structured sessions and the amount of homework assigned (Najavits, 2015). Furthermore, an independent VA study of 796 veterans attending CPT and PE resulted in only 11.4% of

veterans who began the therapy and of those only 7.9% completed the treatment; furthermore, more dropouts occurred after three CPT sessions and two PE sessions (Mott et al., 2014). The findings concur with other nationwide veteran studies indicating the probability that less than 10% of veterans with PTSD finished the EBP treatments (Mott et al., 2014; Seal et al, 2010). The reasons for the dropout rates may be that PTSD is not the only issue veterans face and this leads to incomplete treatment. An alternative action to help veterans with PTSD treatment is to evaluate their spiritual environment or measures interconnected with PTSD and the recovery effort (Currier et al., 2015). Spirituality is a multifaceted concept which covers many angles of intrapersonal and communal elements that may help recovery efforts for veterans with PTSD. For example, the application of spiritual concepts (e.g., forgiveness) with PE in vivo exercises among veterans who are spiritually oriented could lead to an appreciation for faith, confidence, values, and goals (Currier et al.) which improves quality of life. Empirical evidence exists to show the connection between MI and PTSD symptoms among combat veterans (Barnes et al., 2019). MI entails an individual being placed in a situation where they are forced to behave in a manner that is incongruent with their personal values. A considerate amount of overlap exists between PTSD and MI; however, an important distinction between the two is based on the core sentiment that PTSD is founded on anxiety and fear whereas MI deals with guilt and shame (Antal & Winings).

# Moral Injury

The characteristics of MI are essential to understanding the guilt and shame many veterans endure. Shay (1991) coined the term MI based on commentaries by veterans

regarding the perceptions of the war-related injustices they experienced because of their superiors' professional misconduct. For example, a commander directing their platoon to harm innocent civilians may result in the development of MI among members of that platoon. According to Shay (2014), MI involves three circumstances that must be present "(a) the betrayal of "what's right"; (b) by a person in legitimate authority (c) in a high-stakes situation" (p.182). Litz et al. (2009) added to Shay's statement that one-self can be the cause of betrayal by witnessing and not stopping the event.

Shay's (1991) definition of MI places responsibility for the development of MI on following orders from authoritative figures, undermining the personal moral code of the subordinates. MI is closely related to PTSD in that MI is a type of trauma resulting from inner conflict, this phenomenon is known as "soul injury" (Koenig et al., 2018; Morris, 2018). Individuals with MI may not show PTSD-related symptoms of hypervigilance, hyperarousal, and avoidance, but may instead experience psychological and spiritual symptoms stemming from internal moral incongruence. However, Koenig et al. (2018) reported MI has been closely compared to PTSD in that both share common symptoms such as anxiety, depression, and suicidal behavior. There is considerable overlap between MI and PTSD in that both begin with an event that is often life threatening or harmful to the individual or others. Nevertheless, with MI, one tends to experience guilt and shame whereas with PTSD, symptoms tend to be fear-laden (Norman & Maguen, 2020). In addition, Nazarov et al. (2015) noted the use of a pre-deployment assessment, which entails measuring an individual's moral judgement style, may predict perceived MI symptoms (e.g., shame, guilt) thus reducing the possibility of developing combat-related

PTSD. Furthermore, measuring moral judgement prior to deployments along with early intervention programs increases the possibility to predict the likelihood of PTSD-related symptoms that improve guilt and shame conditions to prevent long-term growth of psychological distress caused by deployments (Nazarov et al.)

## **Overview of Moral Injury**

The term for MI is derived from the Greek term *miasma*, which entails a moral, corruptive state of mind that arose from participation in war campaigns (Nash et al., 2013). The current-day concept of MI evolved from exposure to trauma that resulted in acute effects on emotional, psychological, behavioral, social, and spiritual functions (Antal & Winings, 2015; Drescher et al., 2011; Litz et al, 2009; Maguen & Litz, 2012). During conflicts such as the Korean and Vietnam Wars, experiences involving killing or violence secondary to combat resulted in MI (e.g., My Lai Massacre in Vietnam, Non-Gun Ri Massacre in Korea) which, in turn, led to mental health problems such as PTSD (Fontana & Rosenheck, 1994; Maguen et al., 2011). Combat veterans subjected to guerilla-style tactics were known to share war stories (e.g., not knowing if they were shooting at the good guys or the bad guys) that often led them to deviate from their personal moral beliefs, subsequently developing MI (Sullivan & Starnino, 2019). The effects of these and similar transgressions resulted in the need to clarify the differences between MI and PTSD, and it was through these analyses that MI emerged as a separate construct from PTSD. Notably, studies conducted among Vietnam veterans determined war-related actions that violated veterans' moral and ethical practices, over time, caused behavioral problems and reintegration difficulties (Shatan, 1973). Today, veterans

continue to suffer and experience guilt and shame because of their transgressions, which can result in both MI and PTSD.

The etiology of MI is a source of wide discussion. Litz and colleagues (2009) elaborated on Shay's (1991) postulations and proposed the term "morally injurious" which posits MI is the "lasting psychological, biological, spiritual, behavioral, and social impact of perpetrating, failing to prevent, or bearing witness to acts that transgress deeply held moral beliefs and expectations" (2009, p. 697). A primary difference between the Shay and Litz et al. definition of MI is Shay attributed MI to following superiors' orders that conflicted with one's personal beliefs whereas Litz et al. attributed MI to witnessing someone committing a transgression or the failure to prevent a transgression committed by someone else.

MI can trigger self-conflict and emotional anguish, and it falls upon the individual to distinguish whether they will accept the experience or whether they will live with the shame or guilt associated with the experience (Bryan et al., 2016). For example, military service members may witness human anguish and atrocities and will either draw upon various protective factors (e.g., belief in a just world) or they may experience shame and guilt which can eventually manifest as MI. Bryan et al. asserted if an individual's personal belief system is repeatedly contradicted, his/her trust and faith are lost, and he/she become increasingly susceptible to developing MI.

A substantial amount of research has been conducted around PTSD, which results from the development of fear secondary to trauma because of exposure to life-threatening events (Currier et al., 2013, Litz et al., 2009, Nash et al., 2013). MI, on the other hand, stems from engaging in transgressions, as well as from feeling betrayed for being "pushed" to perform transgressions that are incongruent with one's personal morals. Furthermore, Litz et al. noted the effects of internal moral conflict causes a negative response to the significance of transgressive acts, therefore causing reoccurring episodes of shame, guilt, and fear of judgement by others. As a result of these actions, the veteran may self-impose a thought process of self-stigmatization. According to Kalisova et al. (2018) individuals with mental conflicts may internalize stigmas derived from public view and recognize self-stigmatizing biases. For example, a veteran with MI may develop self-stigmatization perceiving herself in a negative manner after witnessing or committing a transgressive act which renders her immoral, irredeemable, or unrepairable or believing she exists in an imperfect world (Litz et al., 2009).

## Litz's Moral Injury Model

Litz et al. (2009) described moral injurious events (MIE) as transgressions that lead to conflict and violate personal moral codes and beliefs. For example, a soldier who believes killing is morally wrong but is faced with a situation of committing the act of killing due to an authoritative directive, from a superior that is not fully aware of the scenario or has issued orders that are not legally (i.e., Geneva Convention) compliant, may experience MI. Litz et al. studied numerous measures and elements that established links to personal growth, including forgiveness. MI and PTSD share a correlation of effects (e.g., deep fear of trust, aloneness, loss of faith) but are separated between the guilt and shame associated with MI and the trauma and subsequent fear associated with PTSD. The MI syndrome is a concept that is not new to combat veterans who witnessed morally injurious transgressions that violated personal moral codes. MI involves an offense of wrongdoing that contradicts an individual's moral conscience on the rules of conduct (Litz et al., 2009). According to Litz et al., the MI model consists of a process of events resulting from dissonance between one's personal morals and the behaviors in which he/she has engaged. In the event of a severe act of transgression, the experience is contrasting and inconsistent with the perception of how the world appears and how a person should be treated. For example, an individual having to place an elderly parent in a nursing home for extra care, knowing there is a strong possibility of contracting the Covid-19 virus, and in turn, the elderly parent dying from exposure to other people who are infected by the virus in the nursing home. Litz et al. proposed the act of transgression can be categorized as global, internal, and stable and may lead to a moral emotional state of anxiety and shame for fear of being judged by others. Global attributions are those applied broadly (e.g., "I fail in everything), internal attributions apply to personal characteristics (e.g., "I failed because I am no good"), and stable attributions are those assumed to be permanent (e.g., "I always fail"). MIEs are moral transgressions that may cause a negative perception of how veterans see their environment and how their environment contradicts their moral character.

The results of moral transgressions may cause lasting, moral emotional grief (e.g., shame and guilt). It is this shame and guilt that often causes a person to withdraw, hindering him from performing corrective and repairing actions with family, friends, and other people in his lives (Litz et al., 2009). The results of withdrawal and self-conviction associated with MI are reflective of the avoidance and emotional numbing associated

with PTSD. Litz et al. suggested that, as with PTSD, the trauma associated with MI results in re-experiencing the trauma, possibly causing painful recollection leading to personal guilt and negative emotions. From there, the guilt and negative emotions (e.g., shame) manifests by way of self-harming behaviors that include poor self-care, alcohol and drug abuse, negligent recklessness, and parasuicidal behavior. Litz et al. postulated the longer the corrective action to rectify a transgression is delayed, the greater the likelihood a loss of confidence will develop and the greater the likelihood the person who committed the act will perceive the act as being unforgiveable.

Another vulnerability factor associated with MI is neuroticism. Neuroticism is a general personality trait that involves a person perceiving his/her environment in a distressing, threatening manner. Litz et al. (2009) proposed this neuroticism impedes an individual's ability to engage in self-forgiveness, subsequently reducing his/her chances for developing positive goals and enhancing self-esteem. Because self-esteem functions as a positive means to deal with a moral transgression, a damaged self-esteem can result in MI. Conversely, achieving a level of self-appraisal and self-forgiveness following a moral transgression reduces the chances of developing MI and increases one's motivation to take remedial action. Litz's model of MI is illustrated in Figure 1.

# Figure 1

Working Causal Framework for Moral Injury



# Source: Litz et al., 2009

#### Moral Injury and Veterans

Major research on veterans has focused on PTSD as both a fear and trauma disorder associated with exposure to life-threatening events rather than the guilt associated with engagement in combat (Currier et al., 2013; Drescher et al., 2011; Frankfurt & Frazier, 2016; Maguen & Litz, 2014; Nash et al., 2009.) Transgression and betrayal are key elements affecting veterans with MI, and factors of spirituality (e.g., forgiveness) serve as moderators for MI (Currier et al., 2013). A National Health and Resilience in Veterans study (Wisco et al., 2016) surveying a random sample of 2,273 veterans concluded 25.5% of the population affirmed at least one transgression on the moral injurious event scale (MIES). Morally injurious events are characterized as

psychological, biological, behavioral, spiritual, and social impacts resulting from an individual's inability to reconcile the guilt and shame he/she feel after witnessing a transgression that contradicts his/her deep moral values (Litz et al., 2009). For example, combat veterans committing or witnessing attacks on civilians who are non-combatants, are victims themselves of MIE. Unlike traumas such as witnessing a highway accident, war-related traumas involve the act of perpetrators breaching social ethics such as killing innocent people or failing to prevent the atrocity (Lee et al., 2020). Such exposure to MIE can cause serious reintegration issues upon returning home from deployment.

Personal conflicts such as social withdrawal, trust diminishment, anger, and grief contribute to the hindrance of reintegration into family and society once combat is over. According to Litz et al. (2009) war time killing-related cognitions invoke MIEs of guilt and shame which often lead to self-condemnation. Such transgressions must be addressed, and the veteran must realize a moral boundary was crossed (Burkman et al., 2020). According to Litz et al. the *impact of killing* (IOK) incidents experienced by veterans often goes beyond the scope of evidence-based psychotherapies and requires additional interventions. In the case of IOK, there is a process involved that requires acceptance and grievance-related processing that ultimately leads to self-forgiveness (Burkman et al.).

The assessment process used in psychotherapies is a vital factor in comprehending the distinction as to why certain veterans experience MI symptoms and others do not (Farnsworth et al., 2017). The genesis of MI symptoms arises from incongruence following a traumatic event that disrupts an individual's integral moral

structure (Litz et al., 2009). A MI model introduced by Farnsworth et al. highlighted the role of moral pain, which describes the moral cognition directed toward guilt and judgment or the differences between both. The model combines the use of acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) as a therapeutic approach which has proven to be a sound approach for reducing MI (Nieuwesma et al., 2015). The use of ACT helps individuals identify inherent personal values while using acceptance and mindful methods in the process of clarifying life events and challenges (Farnsworth et al.). However, limitations have been noted in the use of this treatment, including the emotional challenges reported by veterans due to the compressed schedule of the method and completion of homework. For example, older veterans may have a harder time completing worksheets as homework as opposed to younger veterans who may be more emotionally open and agreeable to such tasks. Karlin et al. (2013) noted older veterans are less likely to participate in psychotherapy which may, in and of itself, deter them from wanting to complete psychotherapeutic homework. However, using ACT, clients can learn to become open to experiencing challenges related to changing life circumstances. With control-oriented strategies, the veteran may be able to resolve sadness such in cases of personal loss (Karlin et al., 2013). Therefore, Farnsworth et al. suggested addressing MI using forgiveness-focused ACT exercises would be beneficial for future assessments and research.

# **Reintegration Concerns**

Post-deployment from combat operations adjustments to personal surroundings play a crucial role in the assessment process of reintegration. As such, veterans may find difficulty distinguishing between existing values (i.e., military versus civilian) leading to negative cognitive and emotional outcomes (e.g., shame, guilt, worthlessness) (Drescher et al., 2011; Frankfurt & Frazier, 2016; Litz et al., 2009). In other cases, veterans acknowledge that they can find solutions on their own (Williamson et al., 2020). One such way is through religious and spiritual practice. Three out of four service members agree that religion and spirituality play an important part in their lives (Koenig et al., 2017). Chaplain services (e.g., Priests, Pastors, Rabbis, Imams) play an important role in providing religious/spiritual counseling to their congregations and refer individuals, in need, to appropriate mental health professionals (VanderWeele, 2018). However, spiritual conflict in the form of religious beliefs could cause distress when an individual is confronted with a traumatic or stressful event (Koenig et al., 2018). The distinction between religion and spirituality conflict is spiritual conflict is an important focus of and has been a key component used in various MI models (Farnsworth et al., 2017; Jinkerson, 2016). Religious conflict can range from anger toward a deity to divisions between members of other faiths (Lancaster & Miller, 2020). Despite the conflicts, spiritual and religious practices may yield an altruistic engagement approach to conflict resolution (McClintock et al., 2019).

The influence of spiritual and religious methodology may contribute to an altruistic mindset. Veterans may hold strong "familial" values from personal upbringing which carries forward to include a strong bonding with comrades serving together and considering them as "kin." These values include altruistic traits such as forgiveness. Litz et al. (2009) stated interpersonal forgiveness is a process to help individuals adapt and

recover from harm, and similarly important is self-forgiveness. Self-forgiveness, which involves the preventative action of self-condemnation and shame, can play an important role in a healing process from committing or witnessing transgressive actions. Selfacknowledging fault about an incident fosters a positive relationship, and forgiveness allows for the peaceful resolution and restoration of positive perception of an individual (Lichtenfeld et al., 2019). Sharma et al. (2017) stated individuals with positive religious and spiritual morals engage in altruistic behaviors and tend to exhibit less unhealthy and risky behaviors. The altruistic aptitude of forgiveness includes the person's will to forgive as well as the emotional experience it garners. For example, veterans returning to Vietnam to atone for transgressive actions they committed during the Vietnam war and finding peace within themselves talking to victims of the war and understanding the anguish and tribulations of the actions of war.

## Forgiveness

Forgiveness involves an intentional motive, through a voluntary process, to which an individual who has been a victim of an offense has a change in feelings and attitudes toward the aggressor (Doka, 2017). The act of forgiveness is an important element to bear in mind when conflict exists, as it allows people to move forward in a positive direction and resolve problems peacefully (Forster et al., 2020). Forgiveness plays an integral role in dealing with morally injurious events (MIEs) in that the guilt and shame associated with MI are spotlighted as the main culprits of the MIEs. However, veterans may not have the opportunity to interface with and apologize to the individual(s) they hurt (e.g., innocent civilians) and may find reassurance for their transgressions through selfforgiveness which helps them deal with their conflicted moral values. Self-forgiveness, which is a form of forgiveness, involves intrinsic motivational and affective repair following a transgression, which leads to a shift from blame to beneficence (Hall & Finchman, 2005). Veterans are often plagued by MIEs and can be "healed" through selfforgiveness (Litz et al., 2009). However, to better understand self-forgiveness, the concept of forgiveness was addressed.

Guilt and shame have been identified as key elements of MI but differ on a spectrum between interpersonal and intrapersonal outcomes (Litz, 2009; Shay 2012; Tangney, 1995; Tangney et al., 2007) and are both important to consider when examining forgiveness. Shame involves a perception of a "flawed self," which is often accompanied by feelings of powerlessness and worthlessness (Tangney, 1995). Guilt, on the other hand, involves one's belief regarding flawed behaviors so when one feels guilty, he/she perceives the past behaviors as being flawed but may still perceive the self as a worthwhile person (Tangney, 1995). Guilt can motivate an offender to seek responsibility and forgiveness for his or her transgressions or it may cause the offender to self-inflict punishment if amends are deemed unattainable (Gausel & Leach, 2011; Griffin et al., 2016; Jennings et al. 2016; Nelisson & Zeelenberg, 2009; Schmader & Lickel, 2006). Conversely, shame is avoidance-oriented in that it has been linked to punishing and excusing oneself but not with forgiving oneself. As such, offenders who feel guilt may also feel compelled to offer apologies to their victims, while individuals experiencing shame may display avoidance-oriented behavior conveyed through a lack of empathy or remorse (Leith & Baumeister, 1998; Roseman et al., 1994; Wolf et al., 2010).

More recently, researchers (e.g., Kouchaki et al., 2014; Leach & Cidam, 2015) have contradicted the ideology of the positive and negative effects of guilt and shame. That is, shame connected with positive social motivation is seen as mendable when mistakes or offenses are committed, whereas guilt has been associated with increased risk-taking behavior (e.g., heavy alcohol consumption) considering failure outcomes (e.g., failed relationships). Woodyatt et al. (2013) posited three measures to counteract shame: self-punitiveness, pseudo self-forgiveness, and genuine self-forgiveness. Selfpunitiveness displays an avoidant emotion coping mechanism may initially show positive results but will diminish with time. Pseudo self-forgiveness lays on the notion of the offender externalizing responsibility to nullify one's shame. Genuine self-forgiveness is the process of acknowledging self-culpability, making amends for offenses and in the process restoring one's moral character. Guilt may also have consequential effects when repair efforts for transgressions seem fruitless. The offender may forgive him or herself by either deciding to accept socio-moral values; therefore, accepting responsibility and replacing self-blaming feelings with self-validating sentiments (Woodyatt et al., 2013). For example, a convicted felon who seeks counseling may be willing to accept the transgression they committed and seek to find ways to provide restitution to the victim as a form of substituting guilty feelings.

Researchers (e.g., Bryan et al., 2016; Maguen et al., 2017; Wortmann et al., 2017) recognized the value of forgiveness in identifying, evaluating, and handling shame and guilt associated with MI among veterans exposed to combat related transgressions, PTSD, and MI. Evidence shows forgiveness as a coping mechanism for transgressions may encourage meaning, which in turn is conceived as a vital facet of recovery from trauma-related circumstances such as MI and PTSD (Griffin et al., 2020). The act of forgiveness is not a simple process involving an interpersonal relationship (Sandage, et al., 2000); the act of seeking forgiveness for a transgression requires understanding and effort. According to Sandage et al., forgiveness is defined as, "A motivation to accept moral responsibility and to attempt interpersonal reparation following relational injury in which one is morally culpable" (p. 22). As such, the transgressions (Tangney, 1995).

The path to genuine self-forgiveness begins with the outline an offender needs to follow, starting with acknowledging responsibility, working through the guilt, and seeking to comprehend the wrongdoing committed, which leads to acceptance of goodness in self. Two important processes exist in understanding the act of forgiveness: *decisional* and *emotional forgiveness* (Weinberg, 2020). Decisional forgiveness is defined as the choice to reduce the negative behavior, allowing for possible recovery of positive behavior toward an aggressor. Emotional forgiveness is the internal action of switching negative feelings (e.g., anger, sadness, guilt, shame) with positive feelings (e.g., empathy, love, compassion). The path of self-forgiveness remains a dual-process interpretation where there is a need for an emotional release from self-blame and the moral responsibility to admit wrongdoing (Griffin et al., 2016).

McCullough (2000) classified the conceptualization of forgiveness through an instrument along three dimensions. The first dimension explains the specific nature in which forgiveness is measured, to include dispositional (e.g., a constant personality

characteristic), episodic (e.g., connected to a precise event or occurrence), and dyadic forgiveness (e.g., specific occurrences related within the association). The second dimension involves the category in which forgiveness is classified. Forgiveness can be categorized while granting forgiveness, seeking, or accepting forgiveness, or selfforgiveness. The third dimension is a measurement of how forgiveness is evaluated. This third dimension entails several processes (a) a victim evaluates forgiveness given to the offender, (b) the victim realizes how the offender feels about the forgiveness (e.g., remorse), and (c) an intermediary (e.g., clinician) evaluates both the effectiveness of the forgiveness the victim gives the offender and the offender's response to the victim's offering of forgiveness (McCullough, 2000). Forgiveness has been researched extensively and results show there are stages an individual follows to reach reconciliation for their transgressions such as the process described in the Cornish and Wade (2015) forgiveness model.

## The Forgiveness Model

Research on forgiveness is relatively new and is often overshadowed by studies on resilience (Sanjay et al., 2019). According to Sanjay et al., forgiveness has been researched across two major periods. During the first phase (1932 to 1980), forgiveness research focused on theoretical and conceptual aspects of forgiveness. The second phase (1980 to present) entailed ongoing study of the construct of forgiveness as well as the development of instruments to assess forgiveness. Sanjay et al. also reported many theories have been developed (e.g., radical theory of forgiveness). These theories have led to the construct of many models related to forgiveness. The self-forgiveness model (Cornish &Wade, 2015) addresses the concept of self-forgiveness which focuses on emotional, motivational, and behavioral components. The goal is for the offender to realize repair for the damage they have caused is needed because of their offense. The Cornish and Wade model of self-forgiveness entails four "R" components: *responsibility, remorse, restoration, and renewal* that are delineated below.

*Responsibility* is defined as a passage the offender must take in accepting fault for his or her actions and the consequences that result from those actions. *Remorse* entails the emotions an individual feels (e.g., shame) regarding their actions. During this phase, global shame-based responses are to be minimized and replaced with appropriate remorse-based (specific to the offense) responses. *Restoration* follows responsibility and remorse and is directed toward the offender performing amends for harm caused to the victim. The behavior that led to the action/transgression is explored at this stage. *Renewal* is the emotional state of forgiveness the offender feels, including empathy, acknowledgment of harm caused, and regard for oneself, all of which led to moral growth (Cornish & Wade, 2015). According to Cornish and Wade, if empathy, acknowledgement, and regard for oneself are not addressed, future offenses are likely to occur, and reconciliation may seem useless. For example, Cornish and Wade noted a father who abuses both alcohol and his family must first learn to address each act of abusive behavior before reconciliation can take place. The abusive behavior will likely cease once the individual (the father) gains emotional control over the situation and can realize self-forgiveness. Litz et al. (2009) reported the act of forgiveness may serve as a

positive moderator following MIEs among veterans. The application of the selfforgiveness model processes (i.e., responsibility, remorse, restoration, and renewal) play a pivotal role in addressing guilt and shame-related issues associated with MI.

## Self-Forgiveness

Genuine self-forgiveness involves the psychological process where an individual assumes responsibilities for transgressions he or she committed upon another individual (Cornish & Wade, 2015). Spirituality can be an important factor regarding self-forgiveness, leading to physical and mental health well-being (Currier et al., 2016). Presently, there is little empirical research in recognition of forgiveness problems veterans with PTSD face (Litz et al., 2009; Worthington & Langberg, 2012). However, for forgiveness to be attained, the offender must accept and make amends for any damage or injury he or she committed, and the offender must understand that he or she is an imperfect person and in constant moral growth (Purcell et al., 2018; Webb et al., 2017). Therefore, the process of self-forgiveness is an important part in addressing MIEs as a measure to avert guilt and shame (Litz et al.). Forgiveness involves overcoming one's guilt and shame and helps a person lead a positive lifestyle.

Life events involving trauma may lead to guilt and shame sensations. Guilt- and shame- proneness are transgression-response approaches in which guilt proneness is identified as self-imposed fault (Tangney et al., 2007). *Guilt-proneness* is considered an adaptive style wherein an individual reconciles and repairs wrongdoings instead of letting them prolong and worsen. In contrast, *shame-proneness* is a less adaptive style of self-fault leading to defensiveness and evasion (Tangney et al.). Therefore, shame-proneness

predicts decreased levels of self-forgiveness and guilt-proneness predicts increased levels of self-forgiveness which is explained by approach and repair qualities (e.g., apology, behavior conditioning) that promote resoluteness (Carpenter et al., 2016; McGaffin et al., 2013). However, there are coping methods such as forgiveness available to deal with issues of the self-condemnation associated with shame and guilt.

Like the decisional and emotional forgiveness elements associated with forgiveness (Weinburg, 2020), decisional forgiveness and emotional forgiveness are also associated with self-forgiveness but have different meanings (Worthington & Langberg, 2012). *Decisional forgiveness* is a choice to act in a malicious way toward oneself using self-blame and self-condemnation and lowering oneself to standards below others. *Emotional forgiveness* is the replacement of an individual's relentless emotions with positive self-empathy and self-sympathy. Hall and Finchman (2005) used a model of selfforgiveness which discussed the idea of forgiveness as it is related to making amends to the afflicted person. Hall and Finchman's model of self-forgiveness is illustrated in Figure 2.

# Figure 2

Proposed Model of Self-Forgiveness



Source: (Hall & Finch, 2005)

Worthington (2006) suggested a therapeutic psycho-educational approach to moving toward self-forgiveness by books, counseling support groups, and self-directional activities. Scherer et al. (2011) tested the efficiency of brief self-forgiveness groups with a sample of 79 individuals. He found those who took part in a psychoeducational program pertaining to alcohol abuse for at least 10 hours in addition to self-forgiveness treatment had more positive results compared to individuals who only received psychoeducation. Scherer et al. concluded psychotherapy and psychoeducation facilitates self-forgiveness through a method of steps used to help with the healing process. Because veterans are at risk for developing MI due to exposure to combat and other militaryrelated events, self-forgiveness may help to alleviate the guilt and shame associated with the MI they incur following their transgressions.

## Forgiveness and Veterans

Hurtful situations following transgressions can progress from failed promises, abusive behavior, and breaking trust among individuals and those close to them (Wenzel et al., 2020). Relationship transgression among individuals may escalate, and the result may lead to events such as relational breakups and productivity loss. Wenzel et al. postulated transgressional situations have two sides: the victim, who has been harmed, and the offender who inflicts the pain. The act of transgression is a breach of expected moral behaviors and an apology signifies the offender's responsibility for the act committed against the victim. Lessening the injustice gap between the offender and the victim entails reduction in fear, sadness, and anger (Davis et al., 2016; Witvliet et al., 2008; Worthington, 2006) and the introduction of positive actions such as gratitude, empathy, and forgiveness. However, in the case of veterans, they typically do not have the opportunity to apologize to people they have hurt during military service and, as such, must rely on intrinsic means to attain self-understanding and self-satisfaction. The nature and pace of the combat theatre scenario does not allow a means to go back to the enemy and apologize for actions committed in battle; in war the soldier moves on to the next mission/objective. Self-forgiveness is one technique veterans can use to cope with their transgressions and related MI.

In combat, service members may be called upon to make choices (e.g., shoot or kill) realizing afterwards the actions caused the death of innocent people, leading to a feeling of a debt to settle, and the debt is a continuing feeling of guilt and shame (Purcell et al., 2018). As such, forgiveness of self may not be feasible because soldiers feel that

the act of serving in war may have awakened a darker side that remains within and removes the positive identity traits of themselves (e.g., good person, kind spouse, good friend) (Purcell et al., 2016). Bryan et al. (2015) surveyed 474 military and veteran personnel to examine the correlation between self-forgiveness and severity of posttraumatic symptoms, suicidal ideation, and suicide attempts. The purpose of the study was to ascertain if self-forgiveness would moderate the effects of PTS on suicidal ideation/attempts. The results showed higher levels of self-forgiveness were correlated with significantly less severe PTS, regardless of trauma exposure intensity. The results also showed participants in the suicide attempt group scored the lowest on selfforgiveness and participants in the suicidal ideation group had significantly higher selfforgiveness scores than the suicide attempt group. Participants with no history of suicidal ideation or suicide attempts scored the highest on self-forgiveness. As such, it appears self-forgiveness leads to resilience in that self-forgiveness can serve as a protective factor to moderate not only the effects of trauma but also the effects of MI, both of which are common among combat veterans (Worthington and Langberg, 2012).

#### **Combat Deployments**

During deployments, combat veterans typically witness atrocities and are involved in trauma-related transgressions and MIEs. These individuals return home and are often afflicted by occurrences they experienced in combat and require attention to meet their psychological needs (Miller et al., 2017). Wisco et al. (2017) surveyed 564 combat veterans regarding their own transgressions, transgressions by others, and their feelings of being betrayed. The results showed 10.8% of the veterans reported engaging in personal transgressions (e.g., violation of own moral code or values), 25.5% reported transgression by others that included witnessing others' immoral transgressions, and 25.5% reported feeling betrayed by leaders and other service members who were once trusted. While it appears evident that many combat veterans experience MIEs, not all of them develop MI. Therefore, it is likely those who do not develop MI may be using some form of intrinsic cognitive processes such as self-forgiveness to deal with the MIEs. One possible attribute to the decrease of MI could involve the use of self-forgiveness as a measure to increase PTG (Purcell et al., 2018). These high levels of endorsement indicate a significant minority of U.S. combat veterans experienced potential MIEs, although acceptance of a single item does not suggest lasting MI was sustained from that experience (Wisco et al.).

Some veterans attribute their moral violation actions to personality deficits that lead to trauma-related guilt and shame (Levi-Belz, 2020). As such, forgiveness/selfforgiveness portrays a protective role in connection with making sense of trauma and reintegration into family, community, and spirituality (Currier et al., 2016). Barriers to care associated with reduced help-seeking (Jones, 2018) may present self-forgiveness as a possible solution and a means of reaching out to others who have been victims of their transgressions. The effects of moral violations may lead veterans to consequences such as self-condemnation if they do not reach some type of resolution for their immoral violations.

Self-condemnation can result from immoral acts committed by combat veterans who disagree with orders yet follow those orders as well as by veterans watching others commit immoral acts (Litz et al., 2009). As a result, soldiers may condemn themselves for their involvement in such immoral acts. Judgment from others, to include family and friends, may trigger thoughts of self-condemnation among veterans and may increase their thoughts of being condemned by others (Hoge et al., 2004). The results of this selfcondemnation can have long-term, adverse effects that interferes with veterans' mental health, relationships, and spiritual functioning (Litz et al., 2009; Maguen et al., 2009; Pargament & Sweeney, 2011). Furthermore, the "machismo" culture of the military provides a big hurdle in the self-condemnation process. According to Worthington and Langeberg (2012), the military mindset is ingrained in the ideology of self-reliance and "no room for weakness." This ideology extends to the avoidance of seeking emotional support for self-condemnation regarding incidents that occurred in the line of duty. Selfcondemnation, because of engaging in or witnessing immoral acts can be a contributing factor of MI among veterans and the military culture mindset (e.g., machismo mentality, "no pain-no gain", "suck it up!") may deter veterans from seeking professional help to address MI-related issues.

#### **Self-Forgiveness and Moral Injury**

The first step to self-forgiveness is the open acknowledgement of the wrongdoing and the acceptance of responsibility for that wrongdoing (Wenzel et al., 2012). In cases involving veterans with MI, the guilt and shame resulting from involvement in or witnessing transgressions can be a burden to carry. In turn, seeking emotional support for this shame and guilt may be seen as a sign of weakness, leaving an individual with drastic negative alternative options (e.g., suicide) (Lansky, 2003; Taylor, 2015; Violanti et al., 2015). Risks for suicidal behavior may stem from involvement in *potentially morally injurious events* (PMIEs) (Litz et al., 2009) that include killing innocent civilians or observing others engage in serious combat-related wrongdoings. In the MI integrative model (Litz et al.), forgiveness support can act as a moderator between transgressions and MI resulting from the detrimental psychosocial aftermath after exposure to a PMIE. The role of self-forgiveness may play an instrumental role in helping veterans cope with PMIEs to avert self-condemnation and shame and to facilitate corrective action. For example, Levi-Belz et al. (2020) surveyed 191 Israeli combat veterans to examine the protective role of self-forgiveness and perceived social support in relation to PMIEs and suicidal ideation/suicidal behavior. The results indicated veterans with a history of suicidal ideation/suicidal behavior reported significantly higher levels of PMIEs exposure and lower levels of self-forgiveness compared to veterans with low suicidal ideation/suicidal behavior. As such, the role of self-forgiveness may have served as a protective factor against self-condemnation and related suicidal ideation and behavior in the aftermath of PMIE exposure.

#### **Protective Factors**

While there is little research regarding self-forgiveness and veterans, other protective factors related to self-forgiveness which have been shown to reduce the effects of PMIEs are religion and spirituality. According to Brémault-Phillips et al. (2019), spiritual and religious communities may be an indispensable recourse for veterans with MI because they may support the healing process of moral emotions leading to mending personal relationships, self-regulation, and social connection. The Carey and Hodgson (2018) research showed chaplains were an important source for pre-and post-deployment screening among veterans to assess for issues related to shame and guilt which are associated with MI. According to Kopacz et al. (2015), researchers and medical specialists have acknowledged chaplains play an important role in utilizing spiritual screening scales to identify individuals who pose a threat for suicidal ideation as well as factors/symptoms of MI. Furthermore, the advantages of pastoral care may help veterans by resolving MI-related issues (e.g., lack of self-forgiveness and guilt) through pastoral counseling.

In contrast, spirituality can undermine the MI healing process by reducing one's own responsibility for their transgressions, and instead placing responsibility on an external, divine source. Self-forgiveness, on the other hand, places sole responsibility for transgressions on the person committing those transgressions. As such, in the case of veterans who are typically unable to repent or apologize for their transgressions, selfforgiveness affords them the opportunity to take responsibility for their transgressions and make appropriate amends.

#### **Posttraumatic Growth**

Numerous concepts have been used to describe the positive transformation after the occurrence of a traumatic event; however, the most well-known and accepted is PTG by Tedeschi and Calhoun (1996). An individual afflicted by trauma tackles afflictions through a cognitive-emotional process to integrate the traumatic event into a more understandable and significant "life changing event" where the individual's beliefs fit in the world (Calhoun & Tedeschi, 2001; Janoff-Bulman, 2006; Janoff-Bulman & Frantz, 1997). A predictor of PTG is measured on the intensity level of the trauma afflicted on the individual's world beliefs, wherein the higher the level of disturbance, the most potential for growth exists (Calhoun et al., 2010).

## **Overview of Posttraumatic Growth**

The notion that suffering and distress can yield positive change is an old concept (Tedeschi and Calhoun, 2004). Many cultures (e.g., Greek, Christian, Hinduism, Buddhism, Islam) throughout the years have embraced the positive change of suffering (Tedeschi and Calhoun, 1995). Individual resilience is the ability of a person's grasp on a stressful situation, proceeding from adversity, and reverting to normal (i.e., bounce back) and appear stronger than before (i.e., thriving despite adversity) (Vera et al., 2020). For example, objectives of reaching a grade of resilience after trauma for combat soldiers could be to focus on having prevention measures in place, back up plans, and a "buddy system" prior to going on combat missions. The term PTG was coined by psychologists Tedeschi and Calhoun (1998).

Two variants that helped shape the PTG theory include the stress-related growth model (SRGM) and the adversarial growth model (AGM). The SRGM describes the sense of meaning as it is applied to challenges and stressful circumstances (Park, 2010). The AGM associated growth with psychological well-being (Linley et al., 2004) which invokes the idea that an individual experiencing a challenging situation comes across two options that may take place. The traumatic experience can be linked into the person's world belief, or a modification of personal beliefs can be changed based on present circumstances. The potential for positive psychological growth exists if the individual
assimilates the trauma-related information and prior beliefs (Linley, 2004). To illustrate, a veteran may have a greater appreciation for his or her family following a traumatic event such as witnessing a transgression against innocent civilians in combat which may strengthen the bond between family members.

### Contributors of Posttraumatic Growth

Negative circumstances are main factors that contribute to high levels of psychological distress (i.e., personal crisis) resulting in an individual's attempt to achieve PTG (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2004). Growth stems from struggling and surpassing the effects of the trauma; PTG is a topic of great concern among researchers. The increased scientific understanding of the effects caused by traumatic events has evolved from a negative perspective of consequences to the redevelopment of well-being and growth (Tsai, et al. 2015). Certain predictors exist in PTG, including social support and spirituality that contribute to the success of the reduction of negative trauma effects.

Recent studies account for social support as a major contributor to PTG (Pietrzak et al., 2010; Prati & Pietratoni, 2009). Trauma, in connection with social support, can be used as a remedial tool for the negative self-awareness often found in a traumatized person (Taku et al., 2009; Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2004). Nordstrand et al. (2020) surveyed 4,053 Norwegian Armed Forces veterans to explore the social support and social barriers as experienced by veterans witnessing war-related traumatic events after deployment to Afghanistan. The results showed the use of social support among veterans contributed significantly toward PTG after exposure to combat duty. Previous studies have focused on effects measured by the PTGI (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996) but this study used the

Posttraumatic Change Scale (PTGCS) (Nordstrand et al., 2017). The PTGI captures the effects of social support as it relates to posttraumatic changes benchmarked using a unipolar growth measure. The PTGCS collects negative (e.g., posttraumatic deprecation) and positive (e.g., PTG), as well as if no change occurred (Nordstrand et al.).

In contrast, the disclosure of trauma may not be beneficial. The discussion of war time experiences by veterans may cause social stigmatization which reduces the benefits of social support regarding PTG (Guay et al., 2006; Zeligman et al., 2016). The disclosure of trauma further raises questions about how important it is for combat veterans to share personal negative experiences from combat operations. Social support is a possible measure that may provide the veteran an avenue to disclose sentiments about feelings regarding past traumatic experiences. Tedeschi and Calhoun (2004) posited a social support relationship needs to be meaningful to the veteran and as such, finding a meaning in life is a significant component of PTG. The study of social support as a protective factor in growth has been studied as an avenue to recover from a traumatic experience (Zeligman et al.).

#### Characteristics of Posttraumatic Growth

The outcomes of traumatic events as reported by survivors produce positive and negative effects that can influence the well-being of individuals (Linley & Joseph, 2004). The positive psychological effect (e.g., PTG) can enhance relationships, change views of self, and a lead to new life philosophy which has occurred because of traumatic events (e.g., accidents, sexual assault, and illnesses). PTG is characterized as the positive result of following a range of stressful and traumatic events (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996). An

individual facing a traumatic event (e.g., witnessing the death of friend) can cause grief but accepting the situation and moving forward could increase positive growth. Tedeschi and Calhoun (2004) outlined the process of growth as an outcome variable in a functional-descriptive model (FDM) of PTG. The FDM maintains growth is established when beliefs are reconciled because of negative event symptoms that are strong enough to dispute core beliefs and allow for cognitive processing (Brooks et al., 2019). As such, PTG is identified as a coping mechanism to decrease distressful situations.

Certain coping skills have been associated with positive growth as applied to circumstances of distress. Spiritual coping techniques are associated with growth as they can influence a restoration of spiritual beliefs and minimize distress (Prati & Pietantoni, 2009). Spiritual change involves a deeper connection within, respect for a higher power, and the meaningful purpose of our existence (Kramer et al., 2019). Positive spiritual transformation includes a deeper understanding of life, personal strength and selfunderstanding leading to a renewed appreciation of intimate relations in life (Tedeschi et al., 1998). As such, social support and intrinsic spirituality are associated with PTG, therefore, promoting the positive psychological growth from traumatic experiences among veterans (Tsai et al., 2015). However, other skills such as avoidant and emotional coping have not had positive results. Avoidance coping has a long-term maladaptive result as it restricts recovery and preserves posttraumatic symptoms (Hagenaars, et al., 2011). Emotional coping produces negative emotional experience revival and releases suppressed feelings of the experience (Litman, 2006). For example, a veteran may resort to alcohol or drug abuse to suppress emotions relating to their past transgressions. In

contrast, research has shown emotional coping can assist with making sense and meaning of a traumatic situation (Larsen & Berenbaum, 2015). In addition to the coping mechanisms in place, other characteristics involving PTG are the five general domains that measure the traumatic event.

Tedeschi and Calhoun (1998) posited there are five general domains that gauge the traumatic event and make meaning of it: *appreciation of life, relationship with others, new possibilities in life, personal strength,* and *spiritual change.* 

**Appreciation of life.** Trauma can cause a hardship that threatens personal values, and the process of recovery can lead to an appreciation or gratitude for inconspicuous things. The effects of trauma may readjust priorities and give an individual a sense of appreciation of life and importance to unnoticed matters. (e.g., "I changed my priorities about what matters to me in life").

**Relationship with others.** Traumatic events expose the care and concern others show toward the individual in recovery. The ability to reach out for help and the acceptance of support from others steer toward a stronger bond of an individual's feeling toward people around them (e.g., "I feel a connection with those around me").

**New possibilities in life.** The results of traumatic events can end personal goals and dreams individuals set out to achieve. In redirecting new priorities and establishing new goals, individuals rediscover new passages and opportunities they never knew existed (e.g., "I can improve things with my life"). **Personal strength.** Traumatic events often present new opportunities for individuals to learn and reevaluate difficult circumstances leading to strengths never envisioned (e.g., "I am better capable of handling difficult situations").

**Spiritual enhancement.** A traumatic offense is followed by an individual's grasp on the reasons of the occurrence. The effort to realize an individual's personal worldview can clarify life's meaning and purpose leading to a discernment of something greater than themselves (e.g., spiritual, religious).

Applying the five general domains that gauge a traumatic event has the possibility of enhancing the positive growth process from MI to PTG. The application of the five domains can help with the transition process from a negative perception to one of personal growth. For example, a combat veteran experiencing MI may establish goals based on the five general domains of PTG from a mental health clinician leading to positive growth. The transition follows an individual such as a combat veteran realize the negative perception of life and commit to change. Through the help of others among him or her, new possibilities can be explored. The result of this transition can provide personal strength to move forward in a better outlook at life. The process continues with the individual realizing that the process holds a higher purpose in life and one greater than themselves.

### Posttraumatic Growth and Behavioral Changes

Calhoun et al. (2010) stated the two categories of distress (e.g., psychological, and emotional) contribute to the traumatic experience and create a facilitator for rumination which begins automatically and continues to grow strenuously. During this period of PTG rumination, an individual can reflect on cognitive behavior changes that may increase positive changes following a traumatic event. The PTG model (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1998) demonstrates the transition from an individual's assumptive world beliefs prior to the traumatic event and how the development of emotional distress and assumptive beliefs afterwards lead to an acceptance of a "changed world" and increased wisdom resulting in positive growth. However, McMillen (2004) and Hobfoll et al. (2007) argued PTG, which is based on Frankl's (1985) "*Man's Search for Meaning*", should not only consist of talk and meditational routines but also of actions and rightful conduct. Hobfoll et al. concluded PTG transpires along with a change in behavior, whereas Tedeschi and Calhoun projected growth occurs when an individual's assumptive cognition transforms into a positive change of thought and outlook.

Shakespeare-Finch and Barrington (2012) surveyed 176 participants (88 trauma survivors and their significant others) to identify positive behavioral changes following a traumatic event using the *PTG Inventory* (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996). The purpose of the study was to ascertain whether trauma survivor's significant others would support the changes to positive cognitive and behavioral developments of PTG encountered by the trauma survivors. The results showed many survivors (69.8%) reported positive change in behavior and the accounts were validated by their significant others. The findings underscore the validity of the PTG Inventory as a measure for survivors (e.g., combat veterans with PTSD) to report cognitive growth and positive behavioral changes (Shakespeare-Finch & Barrington). The process between a traumatic event and positive transformation is attainable but it requires a change in behavior as well as a support

network. The support network allows the individual to feel that he or she is not alone. Through the process of family, friends, and including spiritual support, the individual can grow and surpass the anguish of trauma.

### Tedeschi and Calhoun's Posttraumatic Growth Model

PTG is the process an individual takes to deal with the experienced trauma in a positive manner (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2004). Tedeschi and Calhoun designed a PTG model that encompasses the struggle of an individual with stressful and traumatic events in life. The model displays a systematic process which places an individual in a prebereavement position prior to the occurrence of a traumatic event and entails how traumatic events can unsettle a sense of self and how they perceive him/herself and how the world sees them. The individual may be caught up in certain challenges where it is necessary to handle emotional distress and undertake in cognitive processing of beliefs, goals, and life narratives.

During the PTG process, intrusive rumination is possible but can be deflated through writing (e.g., journaling) and talking with others. The result of disengaging from the automatic rumination allows the individual to focus on new goals which are meaningful and coherent and to discard previous goals that might have seemed significant. For example, a veteran who is plagued by thoughts of events he or she witnessed in combat may be able to channel the thoughts into journaling. Tedeschi and Calhoun advised individuals to participate in the growth process using two socio-cultural categories: *proximate* and *distal*. The proximate category involves a small social network, while the distal category involves broader cultural themes for the purpose of minimizing the perceptive view of traumatic event. The result of reaching PTG sees the individual in a position to manage the distress, realize new personal narratives, and become wiser and more understanding. The effort and work put into the process allows the individual to adopt new beliefs and values and to a develop a different view of the world that is positive and yields a clear understanding of life. Tedeschi and Calhoun's model of PTG is illustrated in Figure 3.

# Figure 3

## Theoretical Model of Posttraumatic Growth



Source: (Tedeschi et al., 2010)

## Posttraumatic Growth and Veterans

The involvement of troops in Operation Enduring Freedom and Operation Iraqi Freedom have reopened issues pertaining to PTSD and depression in the mental health treatment and research arena (LaRocca et al., 2018). According to Hoge et al. (2004), although combat exposure is connected to PTSD, many combat veterans find ways to cope with stressful situations and do not develop PTSD symptomology (Institute of Medicine, 2008; Thomas et al., 2011). The positive outcome many veterans strive to achieve after facing trauma is PTG. However, PTSD and PTG are *not* at opposite ends of the spectrum (Hawker & Nino, 2017). Instead, the two are correlated through a linear or curvilinear link where moderate level of PTSD is connected to the highest level of PTG (Tsai et al., 2015). Calhoun and Tedeschi (2013) proposed a drastic amount of distress must occur to cause a traumatized view of the presumptive world which opens the path to PTG. Therefore, individuals who are not seriously traumatized will not go on to develop PTG. The plausible achievement of PTG is often overshadowed by how combat evolves to further worsen the psychological health of those service members that currently are involved in combat operations. Modern warfare and unconventional tactics used by enemy combatants have had significant and drastic effects on combat veterans. Enemy combatants use asymmetrical warfare such as guerrilla tactics to create fear and slowly undermine the will power of the adversary (Arnold 2009).

Veterans exposed to traumatic events in combat may transfer the negative effects of their traumas to their daily lives, resulting in financial distress, familial problems, substance abuse, suicidal ideation, and difficulties integrating into the community (Moran et al., 2013; Rothbaum et al., 2007). For example, Sayer and colleagues (2010) found more than half of a select population of Afghani and Iraqi veterans struggled with issues of anger control, and one-third engaged in self-destructive behaviors (e.g., drug and alcohol abuse, reckless driving). Anger issues and the possibility of self-medication are examples of symptoms associated with PTSD. The veteran's reintegration into society may worsen combining domestic issues and their social environment with the unresolved chapter from combat traumatic experiences (Freytes et al., 2017).

PTSD is a constant and abundantly studied concept; however, one of the positive outcomes of PTSD is the opportunity for PTG. PTG surpasses the core of trauma exposure and PTSD. Joseph and Linley (2005) maintained PTG has three main facets: *personal resilience, wisdom, and strength, wherein individuals find a new appreciation* for things that matter to them. Veterans who are striving for PTG are introduced to a new hope since the trauma they experienced may have inhibited their chances of advancing from the trauma in a positive direction. It is during this process that veterans can develop a clear and meaningful view of the world around them. New world view perspectives may include religious and spiritual interest to help deal with the traumatic experience as well as social support. A strong social support is a positive measure that can help turn the tides of negative thinking into positive outcomes. Stana et al. (2017) studied 466 response posts, from a VA online support group for combat veterans diagnosed with PTSD, written by 63 veterans. The purpose of the study was to find types and frequencies of support used by the participants. The study found a significance in members being more open to receive informational support rather than receive emotional support. The

informational support provided a medium of reducing incertitude and the chance to offer direction by other members who already had longevity in the forum to newcomers (Stana et al.). A finding indicated that this result could be due to stigma due to masculinity norms within the veteran group. Such stigmatization encountered by veterans may impede seeking support from professionals therefore aggravating guilt and shame from MI and hindering PTG.

### Posttraumatic Growth and Moral Injury

Transgressions that cause an individual to question their moral beliefs and values can result in distressful situations leading to MI (Litz et al. 2009). The consequences of MI often entail negative mental health outcomes such as depression, suicidality, substance misuse, and PTSD (Frankfurt & Frazer, 2016; Litz et al., 2009; Maguen et al, 2010; Williamson et al., 2018). Veterans who experienced life-threatening trauma and developed PTSD displayed symptoms such as memory loss, nightmares, flashback, and strong startled reflexes. Whereas those veterans who experience MI show predominant symptoms of guilt, shame, anger, and depression (Griffin et al., 2019; Williamson et al, 2019) but also effect moral and custom personal beliefs. PTSD and MI are similar but with different characteristics. PTG has been shown to be a positive outcome from PTSD and is also associated with MI leading to greater life satisfaction (Evans et al., 2018).

PTG is followed by experiences of appreciation toward the value of life. Williamson et al. (2020) surveyed 30 United Kingdom veterans of the Armed Forces who experienced a challenging event while in military service. The purpose of the study was to examine responses from veterans' responses to trauma and MI and the impact of the events on their psychological wellbeing. The study had two classifications: (a) morally injured veterans who were classified as being part of or witnessing transgressive acts and, (b) non-morally injured veterans who were classified as experiencing a traumatically or life-threatening event. The study yielded information about the existence of veterans experiencing trauma and MI simultaneously, as well as veterans can experience ethically challenged and life-threatening consistent with PTSD criteria. The study showed that PTG included an appreciation of life, provided a positive ability to empathize with others, and positive relations with family members between morally injured and non-morally injured veterans.

## Moral Injury, Self-Forgiveness, and PTG

There are studies that address MI and forgiveness (e.g., Purcell et al., 2018; Sullivan et al., 2019; Wusik et al., 2015) and studies that address MI and PTG (e.g., Evans et al., 2018; Nordstrand et al., 2019; Williamson et al., 2020). However, there are no studies that address MI, self-forgiveness, and PTG, with self-forgiveness serving as a moderator between MI and PTG. Starnino et al., (2019) conducted a qualitative study on spiritually integrated group intervention intending on helping veterans with PTSD in the process of moral and spiritual repair. The article describes MI and the connection it has with spiritual injury. The article focuses on forgiveness as a measure to forgive others with no mention of self-forgiveness due to morally injurious events or transgressions witnessed by the veteran. PTG is defined in the article but does not mention how selfforgiveness or MI are connected. Overall, the purpose of this study will combine all the factors (e.g., MI, self-forgiveness, PTG) and demonstrate the interaction as well as if selfforgiveness significantly moderates the correlation between MI and PTG.

## Summary

This chapter will provide an overall composition of what the study entails. The chapter will allow the reader to be aware of the gap in literature in which no other study provides information examining the influence of self-forgiveness as a moderator between MI and PTG. The population targeted in this chapter were combat veterans experiencing MI. The chapter will inform the readers about the evolution of PTSD in the nineteenth century until present time and how it has affected veterans who have been involved in combat operations. Furthermore, the chapter will describe the concept of MI and the correlation it has with PTSD. The chapter will describe forgiveness the concept of selfforgiveness and how it can be used as a measure to overcome a personal sense of guilt and shame to overcome ideas of self-damnation for results stemming from MI. The chapter will continue with the overview of PTG and how it sets a positive direction from MI. Information relating to the instruments used were described in the study. The information will relate to gathering quantitative data for analysis. This chapter will provide information about literature search strategies, key variables, concepts, and themes.

### Chapter 3: Research Method

### Introduction

The problem statement and literature review in Chapters 1 and 2 directed the development of research questions and hypotheses to evaluate the moderator, predictor, and outcome variables through an empirical evaluation of the quantitative data. The present study was designed to assess whether self-forgiveness will serve as a moderator between MI and PTG among U.S. combat veterans. Specifically, the aim of this study was to ascertain whether the presence of self-forgiveness diminishes MI and enhances PTG among combat veterans. In this chapter, I provide a detailed overview of the research design, instrumentation, data collection procedures, and data analysis plan. The sample selection and composition are discussed, followed by a detailed description of procedures used to conduct the study. Information describing the instruments used and their psychometric properties is also addressed. This section will conclude with an identification and rationalization of variables selected for the study followed by a detailed description of the research design and data analyses.

#### **Research Design and Rationale**

A cross-sectional and non-experimental quantitative design was used to examine self-forgiveness as a moderator between MI and PTG among U.S. combat veterans. The cross-sectional design is an appropriate research design to make inferences about characteristics shared by a population while the sample is taken. The characteristics of a population might consist of variables such as interests, ethnicity, gender, disability type, and academic class (Hawker & Boulton, 2000). The use of a quantitative approach enables a descriptive and correlation-based analysis of the hypotheses. Examining quantitative data instead of other research methods can help determine trends, attitudes, and opinions of populations (Creswell & Creswell, 2018).

### Methodology

## **Population**

In this study, I targeted veterans of the U.S. Armed Forces who have been involved in combat operations from WWII to OEF/OIF. The federal government defines a veteran as an individual who served honorably on active duty, the Reserves, or the National Guard in the Armed Forces (VA, 2017). According to the U.S. Census Bureau (2019), there are 17.4 million veterans in the U.S. Armed Forces. VA defines a combat veteran as a military service member who experienced any level of hostility for any duration consequent to offensive, defensive, or friendly fire military action involving a real or perceivable enemy (VA, 2017). Individuals involved in a theater of combat operation are classified as active duty regardless of experience in the Reserve or National Guard component (VA, 2015). The demographic survey used in this study queried veterans about the number of combat tours served and the duration of the tours.

#### Sampling and Sampling Procedures

In this research study I used nonprobability convenience sampling to create a sample consisting of veterans who are subscribers to an internet podcast website. The podcast website is a veteran-operated nonprofit organization dedicated to the enrichment of the life and lifestyle of veterans and their families. The mission of the internet podcast service is to provide a platform where veterans' voices are heard, action is taken, and outcomes are obtained. The ultimate outcome is relying on veterans helping veterans for advocacy of the prevalence of PTSD among veterans and the influences it has on their life and their families. With nonprobability sampling method, there is no probability attached to the unit of the population and the selection relies on the subjective judgment of the researcher (Fraenkel et al., 2015). Convenience sampling consists of a group of individuals who are conveniently available for study (Fraenkel et al., 2015). The advantage of convenience sampling is the convenience of selecting one or more research sites and recruiting participants who are willing to complete the survey. Convenience sampling is a cost-effective way of saving time, as doing a pilot study in selected sites takes time. However, a researcher needs to be careful to include information on demographic and other characteristics of the sample studied.

The participants were recruited in specific sites and the data results might not be entirely generalizable to the entire population. For instance, the results collected from a podcast or social media related to veterans might not comprehensively represent the entire veteran population across the United States. Therefore, convenience sampling needs to consider the extent to which the study protocol and data collection methods can be replicated at different sites (Fraenkel et al., 2015). Additionally, the conclusions drawn by a researcher need to be carefully inferred from the results of the sample and cannot be generalized to the entire population.

Approximately 17,500 audience members have tuned into the veteran-supported podcast as the sample frame in this study. Eligibility to participate in the web-based survey was determined by having the prospective participants answer the following three screening questions: Did you serve in the armed forces during the timeline of WWII to OEF/OIF? Were you deployed overseas in support of combat operations? Did you participate in combat while you were deployed to a forward operating location? If prospective participants answered yes to all three questions, confirming eligibility to participate, the remaining portion of the survey would appear. If a prospective participant responded no to any of the screening questions, the participant did not meet inclusion criteria. A pop-up appeared thanking them for their participation and the survey was terminated.

A power analysis was performed using G\*Power (Buchner et al., 1997) to determine the minimum number of participants needed for the study. According to the hypothesis testing of the present study, type of statistical analysis, effect size, critical significance level, power value, and number of variables were used in G\* Power. The following G\*Power criteria were used: *F*-Tests; multiple linear regression, fixed model  $R^2$  deviation from zero; with two predictors; an alpha of .05; a power of .8 (Newton & Rudestam, 2013) and an effect size f<sup>2</sup> of 0.15 (Cohen, 1992). The analysis indicated a required minimum sample size of 68 participants for this study.

## **Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection**

Study participants were recruited from among veterans who subscribe to or frequent the podcast website. During the COVID-19 pandemic, many constraints impeded collecting data from live participants. Policies to prevent the transmission of COVID-19 led to medical, government, and state mandated resolutions placing limits on social interaction (Dian et al., 2020). Therefore, in this research I abided by these restrictions and recruited a convenience sample and collected all data participant data online.

I conducted a web-based survey to collect data via an internet survey collection website. The internet survey collection website offers a survey platform that gathers opinions through surveys, quizzes, and polls from any audience. The use of online surveys provides efficiency, speed, and a low-cost method for collecting empirical data (Cobanoglu & Cobanoglu, 2003). Each participant could elect to participate in this study by clicking on the provided link and was redirected to the internet survey collection website. I emailed two follow-up solicitations to the person in charge of the podcast's post and announcement of the survey for their audiences. The first follow-up email solicitation was forwarded 14 days after sending the first email solicitation. The second follow-up email solicitation was forwarded 14 days after the first follow-up. The podcast host briefly introduced this study during their weekly podcast and invited their veteran audience to participate in the study. Prospective veteran participants were informed they could access a link that was placed on the podcast's website, mobile chat, and social media of the internet podcast (see Appendix H). In addition, the management team of the internet podcast service forwarded an email solicitation with the web-based survey link for veteran audiences allowing their access to this study participation.

A demographic questionnaire I designed was used to collect demographic information to describe the respondents. The demographic information included race/ethnicity, age, gender, branch of service, component of service, religious preference, service campaign, number of combat tours served, and the duration of the tours. Eligible participants were required to read and sign a consent form provided in the web-based survey. Specifically, the informed consent consists of: (a) information explaining the study, and the research purposes; (b) the facts that research participation was voluntary, and participants can withdraw at any time by merely closing the survey; (c) indications that all collected data were anonymous (a function of online surveys) and would never be associated with the participants; (d) my contact information was provided should a participant have further questions; and (e) resources for participants to prevent harm or any adverse mental health consequences resulted from taking the survey. For example, while completing the survey, some participants might have experienced a heightened risk of anxiety due to the MI associated with their combat exposure. The participants might have needed mental health services or crisis interventions to ease their anxiety. Thus, a detailed informed consent was helpful to follow research ethics and decrease harm on vulnerable veteran participants during the study participation process.

The participants were recommended to carefully read and acknowledge the instructions on the consent form. All eligible participants needed to check the box located next to the consent statement, "I have read and understand the nature of this online survey research in which I am about to participate and do so voluntarily." Finally, clicking on the "submit" button started the questionnaire. Participants could withdraw from the study any time without any penalty or consequences. After completing the questionnaire, participants received an acknowledgment letter expressing appreciation for their participation.

The survey had 45 questions, consisting of the MIES that has nine questions, the HFS that has 18 questions, the PTGI that has 10 questions, and eight demographic questions. No individual identifying information was requested or collected in this questionnaire. This web-based survey took approximately 20 minutes to complete. No incentives were provided for participants in this study.

## **Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs**

I sought and received permission to use the three instruments included in the present study (see Appendices A, B, C). To establish readability and the average amount of time needed to complete the survey, three combat veterans and one clinical psychologist who works with veterans were asked to complete the demographic questionnaire and the survey and provide feedback. Modifications were made on the survey based on the feedback provided. The instruments examined the independent predictors which were MI as measured by the MIES (Nash et al., 2013), forgiveness and self-forgiveness measured using the HFS (Edwards et al., 2002), and the dependent criterion PTG measured using the PTGI (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996). Cronbach's alpha calculated the reliability as the internal consistency of all the instruments. Cronbach's  $\alpha$  more than .8 means good reliability of an instrument; the range between .7 to .79 is acceptable reliability, .6 to .69 means marginally acceptable reliability, .5 to .59 means poor reliability, and less than .5 means unacceptable reliability of the instrument (George & Mallery, 2003). The MIES, the HFS, and the PTGI met acceptable criteria.

## Moral Injury Event Scale

MI has been studied to enhance understanding of the relation between behavioral and emotional issues regarding combat veterans (Bryan et al., 2014). The MIES (Nash et al., 2013) was used to measure the multiple dimensions of MI in a military population through a nine-item survey. According to Bryan et al. (2016), the MIES can be used in pencil-and-paper and online format. The three dimensions of MI assessed by the MIES are: perceived transgressions by self (three items), perceived transgressions by others (three items), and perceived betrayal by others (three items) which combine into one total score. The resulting data could be used to assess the prevalence and perceived intensity of war-zone experiences which is a required forerunner to evaluating the biological, psychological, social, and spiritual consequences of MI (Nash et al., 2013). The MIES assesses factors such as witnessing acts of commission, perpetrating acts of commission, or perpetrating acts of omission (Koenig, 2019). The MIES consists of nine-item measure based on a 6-point Likert scale with the following ratings: 1 = strongly agree, 2 =moderately agree, 3 = slightly agree, 4 = slightly disagree, 5 = moderately disagree, and 6 = strongly disagree. Higher mean scores of MIES indicates that having experienced greater intensity of events (Nash et al., 2013).

The Likert scale on the MIES has two reverse-keyed items. The role of the reverse coding is to ensure participants are paying attention to the scale and questions while taking the survey (Suárez Álvarez et al., 2018). The MIES demonstrated a good internal reliability ( $\alpha = .90$ ) and an excellent reliability for the transgressions by self ( $\alpha = .93$ ), transgressions by others ( $\alpha = .84$ ), and perceived betrayal ( $\alpha = .79$ ) subscales (Nash

et al., 2013). The MIES shows strong construct validity (Bryan et al., 2016; Nash et al., 2013). The MIES is a tool that offers the opportunity for clinicians and researchers to measure moral contentions experienced by individuals exposed to military surroundings (e.g., combat situations) that conflict with personal moral values. According to Zhizhong et al. (2020), a study conducted applying the MIES among Chinese health professionals during the COVID pandemic resulted in acceptable results (0.71 for nurses and 0.70 for physicians). The Cronbach's alpha of MIES in this present study is  $\alpha = .97$  with good reliability.

### Heartland Forgiveness Scale (HFS)

The Heartland Forgiveness Scale (HFS, [Thompson et al., 2005]) was used to evaluate the general tendency to forgive the self (e.g., "I hold grudges against myself for negative things I've done," "I don't stop criticizing myself for negative things I've felt, thought, said, or done"). The 18-item HFS consists of three 6-item subscales measuring other, self, and situational forgiveness. The scale uses a seven-point Likert scale with the following ratings: 1 = almost always false of me, 3 = more often false of me, 5 = more often true of me, 7 = almost always true of me. Each response was given a numerical value and the scores were calculated from two sources: one total scale score and three subscales. Higher mean scores of HFS represented greater self, others, and situational forgiveness. The HFS can be administered to individuals ages 18 and up and takes no longer than 5-10 minutes for completion (Asgari & Roshani, 2013).

According to Thompson et al. (2005), HFS total ( $\alpha =$ . 83), HFS Self subscale ( $\alpha =$ . 72), HFS other subscale ( $\alpha =$ . 73), and HFS Situation subscale ( $\alpha =$ . 77) indicated

acceptable test-retest reliability. The HFS has shown significant correlation and criterion validity with other spiritual and emotional scales such as the Mauger Forgiveness Scale (MFS) and the Multidimensional Forgiveness Inventory (MFI) (Thompson et al., 2005). According to Asgari and Roshani (2013), the HFS shows high validity in correlation with the Forgiveness Scale (r =.841). According to the Heartland Forgiveness Survey Psychometric website (2005), the HFS can be completed with paper-and-pencil or on the computer. The MFI focused on the process of granting forgiveness in a multi-dimensional capacity such as forgiveness of self, forgiveness of others as well as other options beyond one's control (e.g., natural disaster or illness) (Thompson et al., 2005). According to Ikedo et al. (2020), a cross-cultural adaptation and validation of the European Portuguese version of the HFS resulted in Cronbach's alpha score of 0.86. The Cronbach's alpha of HFS in this present study was  $\alpha$  = .92 with good reliability.

### **Posttraumatic Growth Inventory**

PTG is defined in the current study as a positive psychological (cognitiveemotional) transformation experience from the result of struggles to handle life events that are challenging (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996). The PTGI involves a 21-item scale which includes five factors of new possibilities, relating to others, personal strength, spiritual change, and appreciation of life (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996). The scale pinpoints five empirically derived subscales in which PTG could be measured resulting in one overall score. Higher mean score of PTGI means greater degree of positive change that occurred in participants' lives due to their combat crisis. The items of the PTGI are based on a 6-point Likert-type scale with the following ratings: 0 = I did not experience this change as a result of my crisis, 1 = I experienced this change to a very small degree as a result of my crisis, 2 = I experienced this change to a small degree as a result of my crisis, 3 = I experienced this change to a moderate degree as a result of my crisis, 4 = Iexperienced this change to a great degree as a result of my crisis, and 5 = I experienced this change to a very great degree as a result of my crisis (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996). The item scores will form total scores in the range of 0 to 105.

The PTGI was an appropriate instrument of measure for the study. According to Tedeschi and Calhoun (1996), an internal consistency and re-test reliability of the PTGI shows an  $\alpha = .90$ ; even with the deletion of individual items did not result in a drop below an alpha of .89. The factors composing the PTGI showed the following reliability scores: new possibilities ( $\alpha = ...84$ ); relating to others ( $\alpha = ...85$ ); personal strength ( $\alpha = ...72$ ); spiritual change ( $\alpha = .85$ ); appreciation of life ( $\alpha = .67$ ) (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996). Also, the PTGI has shown validity with other measures of growth for college students, cancer survivors and victims of assault (Tedeschi et al., 2016). According to Konkolÿ Thege et al. (2014) a study using the PTGI was completed using paper-and-pencil and online and resulted in a Cronbach's  $\alpha = .93$  with the full scale and the test-retest reliability of (r = .90). Stein et al. (2018), conducted a longitudinal assessment between PTG and loneliness among combat veterans and the results yielded excellent internal consistency regarding the total score ( $\alpha = 0.93$ ). The PTGI is a published instrument available in the public domain and does not require researchers to secure permission for its use when conducting non-profit studies. The Cronbach's alpha of PTGI in this study was  $\alpha = .97$  with good reliability.

## **Data Analysis Plan**

The Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) 27.0 was used to perform descriptive statistics, preliminary assumption screening, and hierarchical linear regression with moderation analysis to test research hypotheses. After collecting data, all data would be screened and cleaned for missing information and outliers by Mahalanobis distances.

## **Descriptive Statistics**

The research study will report descriptive statistics to assess frequency and percentage of each demographic variable (e.g., age, gender, branch of service, component of service, religious preference, service campaign). The statistics in the study will include the mean and standard deviation of the variables. The descriptive statistics data will demonstrate how combat veterans are categorized according to the demographic variables. The skewness and kurtosis of the MIES, HFS, and PTGI was calculated both in total to determine the data was normally distributed.

### Hierarchical Linear Regression

The following three research questions with respective hypotheses, predictor variables, and outcome variables were analyzed by a hierarchical linear regression with moderation analysis in the present study.

RQ1: Does a relationship exist between MI and PTG among combat veterans?  $H_01$ : There is no relationship between MI and PTG among combat veterans.  $H_a1$ : There is a relationship between MI and PTG among combat veterans. RQ2: Does a relationship exist between forgiveness and PTG among combat veterans?

 $H_02$ : There is no relationship between self-forgiveness and PTG among combat veterans.

 $H_a$ 2: There is a relationship between self-forgiveness and PTG among combat veterans.

RQ3: To what degree does the presence of self-forgiveness moderate the relationship between MI and PTG among combat veterans?

 $H_03$ : The presence of self-forgiveness does not moderate the relationship between

MI and PTG among combat veterans.

 $H_a$ 3: The presence of self-forgiveness does moderate the relationship between MI and PTG among combat veterans.

Predictor variable  $(X_1 * M)$ : the interaction of moral injury (MI) and self-forgiveness.

Outcome variable (Y): Posttraumatic growth (PTG).

First of all, a bivariate correlation analysis was used to test the statistical significance of the relationship between MI, self-forgiveness, and PTG. The purpose is to primarily identify relationships between MI and PTG and if self-forgiveness correlates within the two variables. The correlational analysis will indicate the strengths of the relationships between these variables. Following, hierarchical linear regression is an analysis strategy of multiple linear regression based on previous literature models. The present author will decide in which order to enter predictors into the regression model (Field, 2017). One predictor variable and a moderator were added to the regression model in a particular order or interactions by separate steps. Hence, the researcher in this study

will use a hierarchical linear regression analysis to estimate the conditional expectation of MI scores given PTG scores on top of the predictive value provided by the self-forgiveness variable in the test of means and correlational analyses (Creswell, 2009).

Moreover, the hierarchical strategy was to control for certain predictor variables and viewed whether adding a new predictor variable produced a significant regression model to predict the outcome variable. An *F*-test was used to examine the significance of the regression models, and a *t*-test was used for determining the individual relationships between predictor variables and outcome variables (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2018). In both of the tests, the present author set the significance value at an alpha level of .05. The amount of  $R^2$  change and *F* change were examined at each hierarchical regression model.

*Moderation Analysis.* According to Warner (2013), moderation is present when the scores to predict Y differ from  $X_1$  across from the scores of M. Although the terms Moderation and Mediation sound similar, they should not be confused (Baron & Kenny, 1986). A moderation variable (M) is a third variable that influences the association between a predictor variable ( $X_1$ ) and an outcome variable (Y). The outcome variable for the analysis was PTG (Y). The predictor variable for the analysis was MI ( $X_1$ ). The moderator variable evaluated for the analysis was self-forgiveness (M). The moderation hypotheses, including  $X_1$  and M as predictors, and the interaction of  $X_1$  and M of Y can be examined in a hierarchical linear regression model. The outcome variable Y is the result of a regression model producing a correlation between the three predictors (Warner, 2013). The interaction between  $X_1$  and M was analyzed to find if they are statistically significant (p < .05). The conditional effect of  $X_1$  on Y will show corresponding effects at low moderation, middle moderation, and high moderation. The results of the analysis will identify M as a negative/positive moderator of the relationship between  $X_1$  and Y (Warner, 2013). The hierarchical regression analysis with moderation consists of the following steps:

- Step 1: MI and self-forgiveness was entered to see the effects on PTG. The statistical outputs obtained from the step 1 of hierarchical regression analysis was used to examine the first and second research hypotheses in this study.
- Step 2: The interaction of MI and self-forgiveness was entered. In this step, the interaction of MI and self-forgiveness on PTG were determined, after controlling for the effect of MI and self-forgiveness covariate. The statistical output obtained from this step 2 analysis will examine the third research hypothesis about moderation between three variables.

While performing hierarchical linear regression with moderation analysis, all predictor variables and their interaction terms might be grade mean centered. Centering refers to a transformation that a variable into deviations around a fixed point (Field, 2017). Grade mean centering is used to take each score and subtract from the mean of all scores of a variable. The purpose of centering is to enhance the interpretation of regression coefficients and decrease multicollinearity. Finally, assumptions of the hierarchical linear regression with moderation model were assessed prior to data analysis.

# Assumptions of Hierarchical Linear Regression

The preliminary examination of regression assumptions, including linear relationship, multivariate normality, multicollinearity, and homoscedasticity were tested

(Mendenhall & Sincich, 2011). The assumptions of hierarchical linear regression analyses are listed as follows.

**Linear Relationship.** There must be a linear relationship between the predictor variables and the outcome variables. Outliers are required to check. Scatterplots can show whether there is a linear or curvilinear relationship (Cohen et al., 2003).

**Multivariate Normality.** Multiple linear regression analysis requires that the errors between observed and predicted values (i.e., the residuals of the regression) should be normally distributed. This assumption may be checked by looking at a histogram or a Q-Q-Plot. If there are outliners that influence the normality of multiple linear regression function, the researcher may consider transforming the data or removing the outliners. Moreover, normality can be checked with a goodness-of-fit-test (e.g., the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test or the Shapiro-Wilk Test) (Meyers et al., 2017). The statistically significant value is obtained greater than .05 in Kolmogorov-Smirnov test or the Shapiro-Wilk Test (p > .05), which means the variables are expected to be normal distributions. If the value is less than .05, the variable violates the assumption of the normal distribution, which means the data needs to be transformed (Williams et al., 2013).

**Multicollinearity.** Multiple linear regression assumes that there is no multicollinearity in the data. Multicollinearity occurs when the predictor variables are too highly correlated with each other. A matrix of Pearson's bivariate correlations among all predictor variables was computed and the correlation coefficients between variables typically should be less than .80 (Vatcheva, et al., 2016). In addition, the value of tolerance should be less than 1 (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2018). The value of the Variance

Inflation Factor (VIF) was conservatively suggested to be less than 5 to meet multicollinearity assumption (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2018). If the multicollinearity is found, transforming data would be one solution. The other solution might remove the variable which cause multicollinearity from the regression model.

**Homoscedasticity.** A scatterplot of standardized residuals versus predicted values can show whether points are equally distributed across all values of the predictor variables. If there is a cone-shaped pattern, the data is heteroscedastic. If the data are heteroscedastic, a non-linear data transformation or addition of a quadratic term might fix the problem (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2018).

### **Threats to Validity**

#### **External Validity**

According to Cohen (2016) external validity consists of the degree to which the results of a study could be generalized toward the veteran population. The research study was planned to have procedures, parameters, and instruments in place at the beginning to reduce any influence of external validity. The research study will use accepted, established, and tested instruments to reduce the threat. The research design may be inflexible. A minimum amount or no change can work on a survey project once data collection commences (Haberman & Yao, 2015). Due to the quantitative and non-experimental nature of the study, threats to external validity were avoided by establishing datasets from a recognized group. The external validity threats that were bypassed included analyzing and testing interactions, and inferences upon differences shown over time (Gravetter & Wallnau, 2016). The distinctiveness of the research study's sample of

the data collected was from a specific background on a defined group of participants. A reduction in generalization was a benefit of applying this model.

### **Internal Validity**

Internal validity implies the extent to which the findings of a study measure what the researcher's intentions and are truthful to measured populations (Patino & Ferreira, 2018). For example, measurements used from recognized data may cause contradictory issues when precautionary steps are taken in the sample collection process. For the research study, many foreseen threats such as statistical regression, maturation, history, testing, and instrumentation were avoided using random sampling to diminish selection bias (Gravetter & Wallnau, 2016).

### **Ethical Procedures**

The approval of Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) was secured before conducting any research involving human subjects. The Approval Number is 11-17-21-0758939. An e-mail response to an inquiry about this matter was received from the Walden University IRB explaining the procedures of using non-Department of Defense entities (e.g., podcast services, survey platforms) is permissible and does not classify the veterans that volunteer to take the surveys as a vulnerable population (see Appendix I). Likewise, permission from the podcast service management group was obtained prior to using the podcast's website to recruit participants.

### **Data Security**

Participants will not be asked to provide any personal identifying information. The online survey's demographic information section will merely seek sociodemographic information. The raw data file collected using and supplied by the internet survey collection website was filed in a password and biometrics fingerprint scanner protected laptop. As a secondary protection measure, I stored the data in a password-protected file on a personal USB flash drive in a locked file cabinet and the laptop file will remain password protected for 5 years from the date of dissertation approval.

## Managing Risks of Harm to Participants

In the informed consent of the survey, participants were given national and international assistance contact information pertaining to mental health issues. The resources available (free of charge) for participants are *Veterans Crisis Line* website, *Tragedy Assistance Program for Survivors* (TAPS), and the *Suicide & Crisis Hotline*. The Veterans Crisis Line website is a confidential support organization available seven days a week, 365 days a year. The organization connects veterans who are in crisis (as well as their families and friends) with qualified and caring Department of Veterans Affairs responders via a toll-free number. If the individual is overseas and has access to the Internet, then he or she can access the website, otherwise they can visit their local hospital or mental health clinic for assistance. Another option offered by the Veterans Crisis Line website is a number to text on a personal mobile phone.

TAPS is an organization that offers information about helpful services and offers personnel available to talk with the veteran. The services are available 24 hours a day, seven days a week, 365 days a year. A toll-free number is available. If the individual is located out of the country, they can access the website for assistance. The Suicide & Crisis Hotline provides free and confidential assistance for individuals in distress as well as, prevention and crisis resources for the individual and loved ones. Services are available 24 hours a day, seven days-a-week via a toll-free number provided in the form.

### Summary

In this chapter, the researcher discussed the quantitative research design and a deductive approach to examine self-forgiveness as a moderator between MI and PTG among combat veterans. The research will use a descriptive, moderation analysis with hierarchical linear regression to test the moderating role of self-forgiveness (as measured by the HFS) on the relationship between MI (as measured by the MIES) and PTG (as measured by the PTGI). Data was collected through a web-based survey collection questionnaire. An URL link of the survey was shared in the internet podcast website. The findings of this study were included in Chapter 4 and the results were reviewed in detail in the concluding chapter.

# Chapter 4: Results

### Introduction

In this study, I investigated whether self-forgiveness serves as a moderator between the independent variable MI and the dependent variable PTG among combat veterans. I hypothesized that a relationship would exist between MI, self-forgiveness, and PTG. Furthermore, I hypothesized that self-forgiveness would moderate the relationship between MI and PTG. Several factors exist as evidence that PTG can correlate with spirituality, PTSD, and MI (Litz et al., 2009; Tedeschi et al., 2017; Wusik et al., 2015). A three-part survey questionnaire was available to participants who were recruited through a veteran podcast website. The questionnaire was composed of three instruments: the MIES (see Appendix E) consisted of nine items ( $\alpha = .97$ ), the HFS (see Appendix F) consisted of 18 items ( $\alpha = .92$ ), and the PTGI subscale (see Appendix G) consisted of 21 items ( $\alpha = .97$ ). The questionnaire also included an instrument to gather demographic data. The purpose of the study was to help feel a gap that remains in the current mental health literature regarding the effect of self-forgiveness as a moderator between MI and PTG among combat veterans.

In this chapter, I describe the data collection, review the research questions and hypotheses, and discuss the results of the study. The section also contains the details of the data collection including discrepancies in data collection, descriptive characteristics and validity of the sample. The following were the research questions and hypotheses of the research study:

RQ1: Does a relationship exist between MI and PTG among combat veterans?

 $H_01$ : There is no relationship between MI and PTG among combat veterans.

 $H_{a}$ 1: There is a relationship between MI and PTG among combat veterans.

RQ2: Does a relationship exist between forgiveness and PTG among combat veterans?

 $H_02$ : There is no relationship between self-forgiveness and PTG among combat veterans.

 $H_a$ 2: There is a relationship between self-forgiveness and PTG among combat veterans.

RQ3: To what degree does the presence of self-forgiveness moderate the relationship between MI and PTG among combat veterans?

 $H_0$ 3: The presence of self-forgiveness does not moderate the relationship between MI and PTG among combat veterans.

 $H_a$ 3: The presence of self-forgiveness does moderate the relationship between MI and PTG among combat veterans.

Predictor variable  $(X_1 * M)$ : the interaction of moral injury (MI) and self-

forgiveness.

Outcome variable (Y): Posttraumatic growth (PTG).

### **Data Collection**

The required documentation was submitted to the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) for review on November 2, 2021. IRB approved the materials on December 14, 2021 (approval number 11-17-21-0758939). Data collection began through an online podcast service organization on January 18, 2022, and prior to that, a survey was constructed through an online survey platform and a URL was created. The partner site embedded the URL in the company website and informed subscribers of the survey's availability. I did not collect identifying information from participants, and protocols were in place within the survey platform and the partner podcast website omitting the collection of IP addresses.

The veteran's service organization sent invitations through their podcast broadcast to all veterans who tune into the weekly and monthly podcast episodes. The invitation explained what the research study consisted of and invited listeners to visit the website homepage and participate in the survey. The home page of the survey, accessed through the link, contained information regarding the research purpose, protocols, and uses and informed consent allowing participation. I used the Qualtrics survey software for collecting demographic data with an outside link to the MIES, HFS, and PTGI surveys. Participants were required to enter completion codes to ensure they finished the survey. A total of 99 participants responded to the surveys. Of the survey responses collected, 80 valid responses were used for data analysis after cleaning the data. Participants responded over a period of 3 months, and the data collection was complete on March 17, 2022. The collection of the survey responses was delayed for 1 month due to the partnership agreement letter between the veteran service organization and researcher not being submitted to the IRB. Due to COVID-19, the veteran service organization was shut down for a month. Discrepancies were detected during the cleaning of the data resulting from several missing data responses.
I asked participants to answer seven questions about demographics information (see Appendix D). The questions pertained to (a) age, (b) gender, (c) ethnicity/race, (d) branch of service, (e) service component, (f) combat operation, and (g) religious affiliation. Age categories were from 18 to 65 and above. Gender categories were male, female, nonbinary, third gender, and prefer not to say. Ethnicity/race categories were Asian or Pacific Islander, Black or African American, Hispanic or Latino, Native American or Alaskan Native, White or Caucasian, multiracial or biracial, and a race or ethnicity not mentioned. The branch of service categories were Army, Navy, Air Force, Marines, and Coast Guard. The service component categories were active duty, Reserve and National Guard. The combat operations categories were from WWII through Operation Enduring Freedom/ Operation Iraqi Freedom. The religious affiliation categories were Catholic, Protestant, Christian Orthodox, Jewish, Muslim, Sikh, Hindu, Buddhist, atheist, other, or none. All participants answered each demographic indicator.

#### Results

#### **Descriptive Statistics**

A total of 80 participants completed the full survey with valid responses. In the study, 19 records were barred from the investigation for the following reasons: 17 did not meet the requirements of the screening questions, while two records were started but not completed by the participants. The sample consisted of 49 men (61.3%) and 31 women (38.8%). Among 80 participants, 29 (36.3%) were ages 45–54. A large number of participants identified as White or Caucasian (n = 29 or 36.3%). The majority of participants served in the U.S. Army (n = 41 or 51.2%), identified mainly as active duty

(n = 62 or 77.5%), and the majority served in Operation Enduring Freedom (n = 32 or 40.0%). The majority of the veterans participating in the survey identified as Catholic (including Roman Catholic and Orthodox; n = 26 or 32.5%). Frequencies and percentages are presented in Table 1.

# Table 1

Demographic	n	%
Age		
18–24	5	6.3%
25–34	6	7.5%
35–44	18	22.5%
45–54	29	36.3%
55–64	10	12.5%
65+	12	15.0%
Gender		
Male	49	61.3%
Female	31	38.8%
Race/ethnicity		
Asian or Pacific Islander	4	5.0%
Black or African American	13	16.3%
Hispanic or Latino	21	26.3%
Native American or Alaskan Native	8	10.0%
White or Caucasian	29	36.3%
Multiracial or biracial	4	5.0%
A race/ethnicity not listed	1	1.3%
Branch of service		
Army	41	51.2%
Navy	3	3.8%
Air Force	10	12.5%
Marines	26	32.5%
Service component		
Active duty	62	77.5%
National Guard	3	3.8%
Reserves	15	18.8%
Combat operation		
Vietnam War	13	16.3%
Persian Gulf War	6	7.5%
Bosnian War	1	1.3%
Operation Enduring Freedom	32	40.0%
Operation Iraqi Freedom	28	35.0%
Religious affiliation		
Čatholic	26	32.5%
Protestant	24	30.0%
Christian Orthodox	7	8.8%
Jewish	2	2.5%
Muslim	1	1.3%
Buddhist	2	2.5%
Atheist	11	13.8%
Other	5	6.3%
None	2	2.5%

Demographics of Survey Participants, N = 80

The predictor and outcome variables of the study measured by the three instruments reported the range of minimum and maximum scores, the mean, and the standard deviation (Table 2). The mean scores (M) of MIES were 4.26, and the standard deviation (SD) was 1.83. The mean scores of HFS were 5.08, and the SD was 1.25. The mean scores of PTGI were 3.85, and the SD was 1.37.

## **Preliminary Data Examination**

Before conducting statistical analysis, the missing data, outliers, and assumptions were tested. The mean scores of the three instruments were calculated to present the continuous values of predictor variables and outcome variables. There were several missing data in these 80 responses. An imputation way is appropriate if missing data of a study takes less than 5% of the responses (Howell, 2012; Tabachnick & Fidell, 2018). Mean substitution was used for the missing data of one variable because listwise deletion would decrease the sample size (Howell, 2012; Tabachnick & Fidell, 2018). Thus, the mean score of each variable was manually typed in the missing items in the present study. The Mahalanobis distance was used to check for multivariate outliers (Meyers, et al., 2017). No outlier was determined in the present study. Finally, a test of assumption was conducted to examine correlation, linearity assumptions, normality of residuals of outcome/dependent variables, multicollinearity assumptions, and homoscedasticity assumptions.

First, an examination of Pearson correlation coefficients (r) (see Table 2) revealed that all independent variables were significantly correlated with the outcome variables. Second, scatterplot was used to examine the linear relationship between independent

variables and outcome variables; no violation of linearity assumptions were identified in the study. Third, the normality of the residuals of outcome/dependent variables was tested. The residuals of the regression between observed and predicted values in a normal Q-Q plot following the residual line as normally distributed. No need for transformation of outcome/dependent variables in the study. Fourth, the multicollinearity assumptions were evaluated after running the regression analysis. Also, the interaction term including the independent variable (MI) and the moderate variable (self-forgiveness) were centered to avoid multicollinearity. All the tolerance values of the variables ranging from .704 to .846 presented in the regression coefficient tables were less than 1. Also, the VIF values of the variables in the regression models ranging from 1.183 to 1.421 were less than five as acceptable limits. The assumption of multicollinearity was deemed to have been met in the study. Finally, a scatterplot of standardized residuals versus predicted values of the model showed that the data points were equally distributed across all values of the predictor variables; thus, the assumption of homoscedasticity was satisfied. Therefore, there was no linearity, normality, multicollinearity, and homoscedasticity assumption violations in the study.

## Table 2

Variables	Mean	SD	MIES	HFS	PTGI
MIES	4.26	1.83	_		
HFS	5.08	1.25	.425***	_	
PTGI	3.85	1.37	.257*	.399***	_
Note. * $p < .05$ .; ** $p < .01$ .; *** $p < .001$					

Descriptive Statistics and Correlations (N = 80)

#### **Hierarchical Regression Analysis**

A hierarchical regression analysis (HRA) was performed in the present study to analyze three research questions. The *F* values were provided to examine the significance of the regression models. The amount of  $R^2$  change ( $\Delta R^2$ ) and significant *F* change ( $\Delta F$ ) were examined since a particular or combination of predictor variables were added into each hierarchical regression model. A standardized correlation coefficient ( $\beta$ ) and a t-test value were used for determining the individual relationships between predictor variables and outcome variables at (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2018). All the significance values set at an alpha level of .05 were reported in each regression model and the relationship of individual predictor variables.

A two-step hierarchical linear regression was conducted with PTG as the outcome variable. The predictor variables, MI and self-forgiveness, were entered at the first model of the regression, and the interaction of MI and self-forgiveness was added to the second step model. The Table 3 illustrated the model summary and the regression coefficients of variables.

## **Assumptions Hypothesis 1**

Hypothesis 1 is the questioning of the existence of a relationship between MI and PTG. Bivariate correlations were computed among the two scales. The results of the correlational analyses presented in Table 2 show that each of the correlations were statistically significant were greater or equal to 1.25. In general, the results suggest a low relationship between MI and PTG.

A hierarchical regression analysis (HRA) tested the predictor (MI) compared to the dependent variable (PTG). Regression is useful in testing the influence that individual or sets of predictors have on a dependent variable (Cohen, Cohen, West, & Aiken, 2002; Hoyt, Imel, & Chan, 2008; Hoyt, Leierer, & Millington, 2006). The HRA investigated the role of the Moral Injury Event Scale (MIES) as a predictor of general disposition. The MI showed positive non-significant associated with PTG ( $\beta$  =.107, *t* (77) = .29, *p* > .05). Moreover, the result of the first regression model indicated that statistically significant at an alpha level of .05, *F* (2, 77) = 7.798, *p* < .001. MI and self-forgiveness were significant predictors, which accounted for 16.8% of the variance in PTG (*R*<sup>2</sup> = .168, *p* < .001).

#### **Assumptions Hypothesis 2**

Hypothesis 2 is the questioning of the existence of a relationship between selfforgiveness and PTG. Bivariate correlations were computed among the two scales (Heartland Forgiveness Scale, PTGI). The results of the of the correlational analyses presented in Table 2 showed the three correlations were statistically significant and were greater than or equal to .399. In general, the results suggest a moderate relationship between self-forgiveness and PTG. In addition, the PTGI appears to have a stronger relationship with the Homeland Forgiveness Scale than it does with the Moral Injury Events Scale. The results support the hypotheses that self-forgiveness is positively correlated with PTG.

A HRA tested the moderator (self-forgiveness) compared to the dependent variable (PTG). The HRA investigated the role of the Homeland Forgiveness Scale (HFS) as a predictor of general disposition. The self-forgiveness showed significantly positive association with PTG ( $\beta = .354$ , *t* (77) = 3.08, *p* = .03).

#### **Assumptions Hypothesis 3**

A test of moderation was conducted as a competing hypothesis to determine if levels of self-forgiveness meaningfully impact the relationship between MI and PTG. The moderation analysis utilized the interaction effect between MI and self-forgiveness in predicting levels of PTG. To avoid multicollinearity with the interaction terms, the variables were standardized and centered, and an interaction term of MI and selfforgiveness was calculated. The second regression model reported found that the standardized partial regression for MI ( $\beta$  =.259, *t* (.76) = 2510, *p* =.014) was significantly positive associated with PTG, while self-forgiveness ( $\beta$  = .354, *t* (3.080), *p* < .05) was not significant. The interaction of MI and self-forgiveness ( $\beta$  =.510, *t* (76) = 5,232, *p* < .001) was significantly positive associated with PTG. Additionally, the result of the second regression model indicated that statistically significant at an alpha level of .05, *F*(3, 76) = 16.106, *p* < .001. MI and the interaction term were significant predictors, which accounted for 38.9% of the variance in PTG (*R*<sup>2</sup> = .389, *p* < .001). Introducing the interaction of MI and self-forgiveness as a significant predictor explained an additional 22% of the variation in PTG, and the change in  $R^2$  was significant,  $R^2$  change ( $\Delta R^2$ ) = .220, p < .001, controlling for MI and self-forgiveness. Therefore, self-forgiveness is a significant moderator between MI and PTG.

When holding levels of forgiveness at different levels (i.e., unforgiveness, half unforgiveness and half forgiveness, frequent forgiveness), no relationship was found between MI and PTG. For low level of forgiveness as unforgiveness of self, others, and situations, the partial regression coefficient for MI was  $\beta = .106$ , t (74) = .296, p > .05. The middle level of forgiveness, half unforgiveness and half forgiveness of self, others, and situations, was  $\beta = -.126$ , t (54) = -1.646, p > .05. The high level of forgiveness as frequently forgiving self, others, and situations was  $\beta = .833$ , t (54) = 7.193, p < 0.001. The interaction effects could be found in Figure 4. Thus, the finding reported that the high level of forgiveness had a significant moderation effect on the relationship between MI and PTG.

## Table 3

Variables		В	SE	β	t	р	<i>R2</i>	$\Delta R2$	F	p of
			В							F
Step 1							.168	.168	7.798***	0.000
	Moral injury	.080	.086	.107	.929	.356				
	Forgiveness	.388	.126	.354**	3.080	.003				
Step 2							.389	.220	16.106***	0.000
	Moral injury	.194	.077	.259*	2.510	.014				
	Forgiveness	.157	.117	.143	1.340	.184				
	Interaction	.375	.072	.510***	5.232	.000				

Regression Coefficients of Predictors on Posttraumatic Growth

Dependent Variable: posttraumatic growth. \*p < .05. \*\*p < .01. \*\*\*p < .001.

## Figure 4

Interaction Effects of Intensity of Moral Injury Events and Levels of Forgiveness on Posttraumatic Growth



## Summary

The statistical analyses conducted with the sample data for this study, and presented in this chapter, supported the first null hypothesis, which stated that MI predicted the criterion PTG. However, the second and third null hypotheses were rejected, as findings supported the hypothesis that self-forgiveness predicted positive correlation between the MI and moderate to high levels of PTG in combat veterans. The results of the study show that self-forgiveness is a significant predictor of PTG. Furthermore, self-forgiveness is a significant moderator to influence MI and PTG. Chapter 5 will include a discussion of the findings, implications of the study, and recommendations for future studies presented above. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

#### Introduction

The purpose of the present study was to investigate whether self-forgiveness serves as a moderator between the independent variable MI and the dependent variable PTG among combat veterans. Understanding the ability of self-forgiveness to serve as a moderator between MI and PTG could lead to significant changes in how combat veterans' transition into society. The study was conducted in such a way to measure the perceptions of combat veterans who subscribe to a specific veteran podcast website. The construct of MI has not been measured in relationship to PTG among combat veterans. The intention of this study was to measure both constructs in the presence of selfforgiveness. In the present study, my hypothesized outcome was that combat veterans experienced a higher level of PTG where self-forgiveness subscribed to Tedeschi and Calhoun's theory of PTG (1996). The study findings indicated a positive correlation in both the PTG and MI styles. However, I hypothesized that the influence of selfforgiveness would be significantly related to PTG. Survey data were collected and analyzed using a hierarchical regression. The results of the data analysis revealed that MI did not show significant results interacting alone with PTG. However, the interaction between MI and self-forgiveness resulted in a positive and significant outcome interacting with PTG.

## **Interpretation of the Findings**

## Hypothesis 1

In Hypothesis 1, the null hypothesis is supported, concluding that a relationship does not exist between MI and PTG among combat veterans. MI can be sustained by combat veterans who experience both ethically challenging and life-threatening events (Nordstrand et al., 2019). Furthermore, the possibility exists that trauma and morally injurious events may cause a double stressor that may complicate treatment from therapists who only focus on the traumatic aspects of the event (Williamson et al., 2020). My study confirmed the absence of MI in the presence of PTG. The variable MI explains 16.8% of PTG.

#### Hypothesis 2

As described in the PTG theory, spiritual enhancement, which entails selfforgiveness, sets out to realize an individual's personal worldview. The outlook of using self-forgiveness may clarify life's meaning and purpose, leading to a discernment of something greater than the self (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996). In Litz et al.'s (2009) MI integrative model, the use of forgiveness acted as a moderator between transgressions and MI after potential MI exposure. The second hypothesis in this study was focused on the relationship between self-forgiveness and PTG among combat veterans. The subscales of the HFS, developed by Thompson et al. (2005), included forgiveness of self, forgiveness of others, and forgiveness of situations.

## Hypothesis 3

Hypothesis 3 sought out to explain to what degree the presence of self-forgiveness moderates the relationship between MI and PTG among combat veterans. The model was an attempt to offer a solution to the problem discussed in Chapter 1 that there is insufficient research addressing how forgiveness (notably self-forgiveness) can intervene the impact of MI and trauma, resulting in PTG (e.g., Whealin et al., 2020; Wozniak et al., 2020). In previous studies related to spirituality and the intervention group process designed to treat spiritual and moral wounding, a combination of chaplain/ pastoral and mental health professionals has been able to help combat veterans diagnosed with PTSD (Starnino et al., 2019).

Within the model, MI did not predict PTG as indicated in Hypothesis 1. Further, self-forgiveness predicted PTG as attempted and confirmed in Hypothesis 2. However, when MI and self-forgiveness were combined, PTG heightened. Both the analysis and the hierarchical regression resulted similarly. As the study did not intend to explain all organizations of the U.S. Armed Forces, the collected data led to the conclusion in the veteran partner organization.

#### Limitations of the Study

The study was the examination of the relationship between MI and selfforgiveness in the presence of PTG. The collection of the data originated from a single organization. The qualification for participation in the study was involvement in combat operations between World War II and Operations Enduring Freedom and Iraqi Freedom. The intention of the study was not to explain all service branches of the U.S. Armed Forces but rather to acquire and examine the data in the selected organization to explore the correlation in the representative context. A possible solution to the overview of the current study is sample size.

The limited sample size for the study was 68 responses, as calculated using G\*Power Analysis. According to data provided by the veteran podcast support group used for this study, the majority of the subscribers to the program identify as men between ages 45 and 54, Christians, assigned to the Army serving in Operation Enduring Freedom and Iraqi Freedom. According to a study Hamrick et al. (2019), a sample of 285 Operation Enduring Freedom and Operation Iraqi Freedom participants who identified with witnessing morally injurious transgressions were polled to understand the association between MI and suicidal ideations. The most represented branch of the military was the U.S. Army (n = 136, 47.7%). The majority of the participants were male (n = 174, 61.1%) and White (n = 197, 69.1%). The study showed that MI mediated the connection between morally injurious events and suicidality. I believe the case of MI among male White/Caucasian who served in the U.S. Army is worth further investigation. Hoge et al. (2004) posited that 45–65% of combat veterans in Operation Iraqi Freedom reported involvement in killing enemy combatants. Furthermore, killing during combat is associated with PTSD, which is associated with MI (Hamrick et al., 2019).

The use of larger sample size may have allowed data to be representative of larger groups and organizations and applied in a more general way. Additionally, the use of larger sample sizes may assist with exclusion of incomplete surveys, which may help with examining significant relationships between the variables of the study. The data were collected via an internet survey collection platform. Due to the anonymity of the survey participants, there was no way to validate participants comprehended the questions in the survey. The study has to rely on the integrity of the participant taking the time to answer the questions, how they interpreted the questions, and how they represented answers thoughtfully and honestly.

## Recommendations

Recommendations for future study are multidirectional. The present study was designed as a quantitative study with a survey methodology. Future studies may use a qualitative approach. The qualitative method allows a researcher to interview participants and clarify comprehension and accuracy of responses. The veteran support group used in this study is just one of many organizations available for veterans to use for support after military service. Future studies could focus reaching out to VA to conduct studies with more combat veterans.

The present study is a first of its kind and used a broad demographic base. The demographics were composed of age, gender, race/ethnicity, branch of service, component of service, combat operation, and religious beliefs. Future research may explore each of the demographic categories individually. Studies may also focus on pastoral/religious counseling along with mental health practitioners. For those individuals who identify as agnostics or nonbelievers, atheists, and conscientious objectors, a holistic approach may be more suitable. Holistic approaches to counseling focus on the

individualistic values and self-assertion, while religious approaches focus on spirituality, obedience, and humility (Farias & Lalljee, 2008).

## Implications

The current study has implications in the field of clinical psychology, veteran support organizations, and combat veterans. As posed by Starnino et al. (2019), the use of spiritual integrated interventions may bridge a gap between MI and mindful and compassion-based practices that may lead to positive outcomes. Through the investigation of distinctive situations, mental health therapists create an environment where veterans receive strengthening from a professional and personal standpoint. The study hoped to help combat veterans, who have endured MI, with an avenue of professional assistance (Chaplain/Mental health) in self-forgiveness that may lead to PTG.

Bryan et al, (2016) noted that MI is a trigger for self-conflict and emotional anguish. The result of the trigger lies upon the individual to decide whether to accept the experience or live with the shame and guilt associated with the experience. Although a perfect environment may not be created where conflict does not exist, mental health professionals and chaplains/pastoral members may use the results of this study, adding positive elements to the quality of life of combat veterans who have MI. The results of this study could foster compassion and collaboration in the veteran. Griffin et al. (2020) stated that forgiveness may encourage meaning and is conceived as a vital factor of recovery from MI. Finally, the addition to social change is associated with the positive relationship between spiritual treatment, veteran advocate services agencies, and clinical interventions. For the spiritual treatment, the opportunity is open to the possibility of combining spiritual (religious, non-religious) counseling as a treatment for MI among veterans who have experienced morally injurious events. Veteran advocate service agencies may explore spiritual program options and advise veterans of sources that offer spiritual healing to compliment mental health treatments. The clinical intervention in the end would help enhance quality of life and life meaning among veterans who have experienced MI, therefore allowing for successful reintegration of combat veterans into society.

## Conclusion

Veterans service organizations are continuously striving to optimize the efficiency and operational efficiency of support programs for veterans who need help dealing with the transgressions of war such as PTSD and MI. This study presents preliminary evidence that optimum levels of innovation in counseling treatment care exists for the veteran. Further, the results provide additional evidence that self-forgiveness has a significant role in PTG. There is data supporting the hypothesis that self-forgiveness moderates the relationship between MI and PTG. The study examined whether levels of PTG were influenced by levels of MI and whether self-forgiveness moderated that relationship. Adding self-forgiveness when examining levels of MI and PTG is the first of its kind that I am aware. The statistical tests did yield a significant relationship for moderation when adding self-forgiveness. Positive social change not only develops a supportive group based on a mental health treatment enhanced by spiritual counseling, but creates a network of additional support avenues for veterans who have been diagnosed with PTSD to get additional assistance with MI. Through the process of self-forgiveness an individual's personal emotions, motivations, and behavioral intentions toward the offender may become less negative and more positive over time (Fernandez-Capo et al., 2017). Working with veterans before they deploy to combat may be the most effective way to increase selfforgiveness for the events, they may encounter during combat operations. The results may lead to a solid foundation of stress coping mechanisms and life skills that might reduce the stress they feel returning from combat operations and being involved with morally injurious events.

## References

American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.).

Antal, C. J., & Winings, K. (2015). Moral injury, soul repair, and creating a place for grace. *Religious Education*, 110(4), 382–394. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00344087.2015.1063962</u>

Asgari, P., & Roshani, K. (2013). Validation of forgiveness scale and a survey on the relationship of forgiveness and students' mental health. *International Journal of Psychology and Behavioral Research*, 2(2), 109–115.

Back, S. E., Killeen, T., Badour, C. L., Flanagan, J. C., Allan, N. P., Ana, E. S., Lozano,
B., Korte, K. J., Foa, E. B., & Brady, K. T. (2019). Concurrent treatment of substance use disorders and PTSD using prolonged exposure: A randomized clinical trial in military veterans. *Addictive Behaviors*, *90*, 369–377.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2018.11.032

- Balkin, R. S., Perepiczka, M., Sowell, S. M., Cumi, K., & Gnilka, P. B. (2016). The forgiveness reconciliation model: An empirically supported process for humanistic counseling. *Journal of Humanistic Counseling*, 55(1), 55–65.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/johc.12024">https://doi.org/10.1002/johc.12024</a>
- Barnes, S. M., Walter, K. H., & Chard, K. M. (2012). Does a history of mild traumatic brain injury increase suicide risk in veterans with PTSD? *Rehabilitation Psychology*, 57(1), 18–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027007</u>

Barnes, H.A., Hurley, R.A., & Taber, K.H. (2019). Moral injury and PTSD: Often co-

occurring yet mechanistically different. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, *31*(2), A4–103.

https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.neuropsych.19020036

- Birtel, M. D., Wood, L., & Kempa, N. J. (2017). Stigma and social support in substance abuse: Implications for mental health and well-being. *Psychiatry Research*, 252, 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2017.01.097</u>
- Blinka, D., & Wilson Harris, H. (2016). Moral injury in warriors and veterans: The challenge to social work. *Social Work & Christianity*, 43(3), 7–27.
- Brémault-Phillips, S., Pike, A., Scarcella, F., & Cherwick, T. (2019). Spirituality and moral injury among military personnel: A mini review. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00276
- Britt, T. W., Wright, K. M., Sipos, M. L., & McGurk, D. (2019). Testing the effects of using a behavioral health provider to deliver a routine post-deployment assessment for soldiers returning from combat. *Psychological Services*, *16*(4), 651–656. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/ser0000266</u>
- Brooks, M., Graham-Kevan, N., Robinson, S., & Lowe, M. (2019). Trauma characteristics and posttraumatic growth: The mediating role of avoidance coping, intrusive thoughts, and social support. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, 11(2), 232–238. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000372</u>
- Bryan, A. O., Theriault, J. L., & Bryan, C. J. (2015). Self-forgiveness, posttraumatic stress, and suicide attempts among military personnel and veterans. *Traumatology*, 21(1), 40–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/trm0000017</u>

Bryan, C. J., & Clemans, T. A. (2013). Repetitive traumatic brain injury, psychological symptoms, and suicide risk in a clinical sample of deployed military personnel. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 70(7), 686–691.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.1093

Bryan, C. J., Bryan, A. O., Anestis, M. D., Anestis, J. C., Green, B. A., Etienne, N.,
Morrow, C. E., & Ray-Sannerud, B. (2016). Measuring moral injury:
Psychometric properties of the moral injury events scale in two military samples. *Assessment*, 23(5), 557–570. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191115590855</u>

- Burkman, K., Maguen, S., & Purcell, N. (2021). Impact of killing: A treatment program for military veterans with moral injury. In J. M. Currier, K. D. Drescher, & J. Nieuwsma (Eds.), *Addressing moral injury in clinical practice*. (pp. 203–221). American Psychological Association. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0000204-012</u>
- Calhoun, L. G., & Tedeschi, R. G. (2001). Posttraumatic growth: The positive lessons of loss. In R. A. Neimeyer (Ed.), *Meaning reconstruction & the experience of loss* (pp. 157-172). American Psychological Association.
- Calhoun, L. G., Tedeschi, R. G., Cann, A., & Hanks, E. A. (2010). Positive outcomes following bereavement: Paths to posttraumatic growth. *Psychologica Belgica*, 50(1–2), 125–143. <u>https://doi.org/10.5334/pb-50-1-2-125</u>
- Calhoun, L. G., & Tedeschi, R. G. (2013). *Posttraumatic growth in clinical practice*. Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Carpenter, T. P., Tignor, S. M., Tsang, J.-A., & Willett, A. (2016). Dispositional selfforgiveness, guilt- and shame-proneness, and the roles of motivational tendencies.

Personality and Individual Differences, 98, 53–61.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.04.017

- Carver, C. (2010). Resilience and thriving: Issues, models, and linkages. *Journal of Social Issues, 54*(2), 245–266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-</u> 4560.1998.tb01217.x
- Cesur, R., Sabia, J. J., & Tekin, E. (2013). The psychological costs of war: military combat and mental health. *Journal of Health Economics*, 32(1), 51-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healeco.2012.09.00
- Chang, T. Z., & Vowles, N. (2013). Strategies for improving data reliability for online surveys: A case study. *International Journal of Electronic Commerce Studies*, 4(1), 121-129. <u>https://doi.org/10.7903/ijecs.1121</u>.
- Church, J. (2016). Literary representations of shell shock as a result of World War I in the works of Virginia Woolf and Ernest Hemingway. *Peace & Change*, 41(1), 52–63.
- Cohen, J. (1992). A power primer. Psychological Bulletin, 112(1), 155-159.
- Cohen, J., Cohen, P., West, S., & Aiken, L. (2003). *Applied multiple* regression/correlation analysis for the behavioral sciences (2nd ed.). Routledge.
- Cornish, M. A., Wade, N. G. (2015). A therapeutic model of self-forgiveness with intervention strategies for counselors. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 93(1), 96–104.
- Correll, D. N., Engle, K. M., Lin, S. S. H., Lac, A., & Samuelson, K. W. (2020). The effects of military status and gender on public stigma toward posttraumatic stress

disorder. Stigma and Health. https://doi-org/10.1037/sah0000222

- Crocq, M. A., & Crocq, L. (2000). From shell shock and war neurosis to posttraumatic stress disorder: a history of psychotraumatology. *Dialogues in clinical neuroscience*, 2(1), 47.
- Creswell, J.W. & Creswell, J. D. (2018). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Sage publications.
- Currier, J. M., Holland, J. M., Malott, J. (2015). Moral injury, meaning making, and mental health in returning veterans. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 71(3), 229-240. <u>https://doi-org/10.1002/jclp.22134</u>
- Currier, J. M., Drescher, K. D., Holland, J. M., Lisman, R., & Foy, D. W. (2016). Spirituality, forgiveness, and quality of life: Testing a mediational model with military veterans with PTSD. *International Journal for the Psychology of Religion*, 26(2), 167–179.
- Davis, D. E., Yang, X., DeBlaere, C., McElroy, S. E., Van Tongeren, D. R., Hook, J. N.,
  & Worthington, E. L., Jr. (2016). The injustice gap. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, 8(3), 175–184.
- Davis, L. L., Resnick, S. G., Maieritsch, K. P., Weber, K. C., Erbes, C. R., Strom, T. Q., McCall, K. P., & Kyriakides, T. C. (2019). Employment outcomes from VA vocational services involving transitional work for veterans with a diagnosis of posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, 42(3), 257–267. https://doi.org/10.1037/prj0000357

Defense and Veterans Brain Injury Center. (2018). DoD worldwide numbers for TBI.

Retrieved from https://dvbic.dcoe.mil/dod-worldwidenumbers-tbi

- Department of Veterans Affairs. (2020). National veteran suicide prevention annual report; 2019. *Office of Suicide Prevention*
- Doka, Kenneth (2017). *Grief is a journey*. Atria Books. pp. 14–16. <u>ISBN 978-1476771519</u>.
- Eftekhari, A., Crowley, J. J., Mackintosh, M.-A., & Rosen, C. S. (2020). Predicting treatment dropout among veterans receiving prolonged exposure therapy.
   *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice & Policy*, *12*(4), 405–412.
   <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/tra0000484</u>
- Elnitsky, C. A., Fisher, M. P., & Blevins, C. L. (2017). Military Service Member and Veteran Reintegration: A Conceptual Analysis, Unified Definition, and Key Domains. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8. https://doi-org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00369
- Evans, W. R., Szabo, Y. Z., Stanley, M. A., Barrera, T. L., Exline, J. J., Pargament, K. I., & Teng, E. J. (2018). Life satisfaction among veterans: Unique associations with morally injurious events and posttraumatic growth. *Traumatology*, 24(4), 263–270.
- Farias, M., & Lalljee, M. (2008). Holistic individualism in the Age of Aquarius: Measuring individualism/collectivism in New Age, Catholic, and atheist/agnostic groups. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 47(2), 277–289. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5906.2008.00407.x
- Farnsworth, J. K., Drescher, K. D., Evans, W., & Walser, R. D. (2017). A functional approach to understanding and treating military-related moral injury. *Journal of*

Contextual Behavioral Science, 6(4), 391-397.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2017.07.003

- Farnsworth, J. K., Borges, L. M., & Walser, R. D. (2019). Moving moral injury into the future with functional contextualism: A response to Nash's "Unpacking two models for understanding moral injury" (2019). *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 32(4), 633–638.
- Fernandez-Capo, M., Recoder Fernandez, S., Gamiz Sanfeliu, M., Gomez Benito, J., & Worthington, E. L., Jr. (2017). Measuring forgiveness A systematic review. *European Psychologist*, 22(4), 247–262. https://doi-org/10.1027/1016-9040/a000303
- Field, A. (2017). Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics (5th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Finley, E. P., Garcia, H. A., Ketchum, N. S., McGeary, D. D., McGeary, C. A., Stirman,
  S. W., & Peterson, A. L. (2015). Utilization of evidence-based psychotherapies in
  Veterans Affairs posttraumatic stress disorder outpatient clinics. *Psychological Services*, *12*, 73–82. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/ser0000014</u>
- Forster, D. E., Billingsley, J., Russell, V. M., McCauley, T. G., Smith, A., Burnette, J. L., Ohtsubo, Y., Schug, J., Lieberman, D., & McCullough, M. E. (2020). Forgiveness takes place on an attitudinal continuum from hostility to friendliness: Toward a closer union of forgiveness theory and measurement. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 119(4), 861–880.

Fraenkel, J. R., Wallen, N. E., & Hyun, H. H. (2015). How to design and evaluate

research in education. McGraw-Hill Education.

Frankfurt, S., & Frazier, P. (2016). A Review of Research on Moral Injury in Combat
Veterans. *Military Psychology (American Psychological Association)*, 28(5), 318–330.

Frankl, V. (1985). Man's search for meaning. New York: Beacon Press.

Friedman, M. J. (2007). PTSD history and overview. United States Department of Veterans Affairs.

https://www.ptsd.va.gov/professional/treat/essentials/history\_ptsd.asp

Friedman, M. J. (2015). History of PTSD in veterans: Civil war to DSM-5. US Department of Veterans Affairs, 15.

https://www.ptsd.va.gov/understand/what/history\_ptsd.asp

- Fuehrlein, B. S., Mota, N., Arias, A. J., Trevisan, L. A., Kachadourian, L. K., Krystal, J. H., ... Pietrzak, R. H. (2016). The burden of alcohol use disorders in US military veterans: results from the National Health and Resilience in Veterans Study. *Addiction*, 111(10), 1786-1794. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13423
- George, D., & Mallery, P. (2003). SPSS for Windows step by step: A simple guide and reference (4th ed.). Allyn & Bacon.
- Gravetter, F. J., & Wallnau, L. B. (2016). Statistics for the Behavioral Sciences (10th ed.). Belmont CA: Wadsworth Cengage Learning. ISBN-10:1111830991
- Greenberg, J., Tsai, J., Southwick, S. M., & Pietrzak, R. H. (2021). Can military trauma promote psychological growth in combat veterans? Results from the national health and resilience in veterans' study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 282, 732–

739. https://doi-org./10.1016/j.jad.2020.12.077

- Griffin, B. J., Moloney, J. M., Green, J. D., Worthington, E. L., Jr., Cork, B., Tangney, J. P., Van Tongeren, D. R., Davis, D. E., & Hook, J. N. (2016). Perpetrators' reactions to perceived interpersonal wrongdoing: The associations of guilt and shame with forgiving, punishing, and excusing oneself. *Self and Identity*, *15*(6), 650–661.
- Griffin, B. J., Purcell, N., Burkman, K., Litz, B. T., Bryan, C. J., Schmitz, M., Villierme,
  C., Walsh, J., & Maguen, S. (2019). Moral Injury: An Integrative Review. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 32(3), 350–362. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.22362</u>
- Griffin, B. J., Williams, C. L., Shaler, L., Dees, R. F., Cowden, R. G., Bryan, C. J., Litz,
  B., Purcell, N., Burkman, K., & Maguen, S. (2020). Profiles of moral distress and associated outcomes among student veterans. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy.*
- Guay, S., Billette, V., & Marchand, A. (2006). Exploring the links between posttraumatic stress disorder and social support: Processes and potential research avenues.
   Journal of Traumatic Stress, 19, 327–338. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jts.20124</u>
- Guina, J., Welton, R. S., Broderick, P. J., Correll, T. L., & Peirson, R. P. (2016). DSM-5 criteria and its implications for diagnosing PTSD in military service members and veterans. *Current psychiatry reports*, 18(5), 43. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-016-0686-1
- Hagenaars, M. A., Fisch, I., & van Minnen, A. (2011). The effect of trauma onset and frequency on PTSD-associated symptoms. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 132*,

192–199. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2011.02.017

- Haleigh A. Barnes, P. D., Robin A. Hurley, M. D., & Katherine H. Taber, P. D. (2019).
  Moral injury and PTSD: Often co-occurring yet mechanistically different. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, *31*(2), A4-103.
  https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.neuropsych.19020036
- Hall, J. H., & Fincham, F. D. (2005). Self–forgiveness: The stepchild of forgiveness research. *Journal of social and clinical psychology*, 24(5), 621-637.
- Hamrick, H. C., Kelley, M. L., & Bravo, A. J. (2020). Morally Injurious Events, Moral Injury, and Suicidality among Recent-Era Veterans: The Moderating Effects of Rumination and Mindfulness. *Military Behavioral Health*, 8(1), 109–120.
   <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21635781.2019.1669509</u>
- Hawker, D. S., & Boulton, M. J. (2000). Twenty years' research on peer victimization and psychosocial maladjustment: A meta-analytic review of cross-sectional studies. *The Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, *41*(4), 441-455. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1469-7610.00629</u>
- Hawker, M. E., & Nino, A. (2017). Factors Contributing to Posttraumatic Growth in Iraq and Afghanistan Combat Veterans. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, 26(10), 1104–1116.

Heartland Forgiveness (2005). Heartland Forgiveness Scale. http://www.heartlandforgiveness.com

Hendin, H. (2017). Psychodynamic treatment of combat veterans with PTSD at risk for suicide. *Psychodynamic Psychiatry*, 45(2), 217-235.

Herbert, M. S., Malaktaris, A. L., Lyons, R., & Norman, S. B. (2020). Trauma-related guilt and pain among veterans with PTSD. *Psychiatry Research*, 285. <u>https://doi.org10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112820</u>

Hobfoll, S. E., Hall, B. J., Canetti-Nisim, D., Galea, S., Johnson, R. J., & Palmieri, P. (2007). Refining our understanding of traumatic growth in the face of terrorism: Moving from meaning cognitions to doing what is meaningful. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 56, 345–366. doi:10.1111/j.1464-0597.2007.00292.x

- Hoge, C. W., Castro, C. A., Messer, S. C., McGurk, D., Cotting, D. I., & Koffman, R. L.
  (2008). Combat duty in Iraq and Afghanistan, mental health problems and barriers to care. U.S. Army Medical Department Journal, 7–17.
- House, J. (2018). Authentic vs elicited data and qualitative vs quantitative research methods in pragmatics: Overcoming two non-fruitful dichotomies. *System*, 75, 4–

12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2018.03.014</u>

- Howell, D. (2012). Statistical methods for psychology (8th ed.). Belmont, CA: Wadsworth Cengage Learning.
- Hundt, N. E., Ecker, A. H., Thompson, K., Helm, A., Smith, T. L., Stanley, M. A., & Cully, J. A. (2018). "It didn't fit for me:" A qualitative examination of dropout from prolonged exposure and cognitive processing therapy in veterans. *Psychological Services*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/ser0000316</u>
- Hurley, E. C. (2018). Effective Treatment of Veterans With PTSD: Comparison Between Intensive Daily and Weekly EMDR Approaches. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01458

- Ikedo, F., Castro, L., Fraguas, S., Rego, F., & Nunes, R. (2020). Cross-cultural adaptation and validation of the European Portuguese version of the heartland forgiveness scale. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 18(1), 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-020-01531-9</u>
- Imel, Z. E., Laska, K., Jakupcak, M., & Simpson, T. L. (2013). Meta-analysis of dropout in treatments for posttraumatic stress disorder. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 81(3), 394. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031474</u>
- Institute of Medicine. (2008). Physiologic, psychologic, and psychosocial effects of deployment-related stress. In Gulf war and health (Vol. 6). Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.
- Janoff-Bulman, R. (2006). Schema-change perspectives on posttraumatic growth. In L.G. Calhoun & R. G. Tedeschi (Eds.), The handbook of posttraumatic growth:Research and practice (pp. 81-99). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Janoff-Bulman, R., & Frantz, C. M. (1997). The impact of trauma on meaning: From meaningless world to meaningful life. In M. J. Power & C. R. Brewin (Eds.), The transformation of meaning in psychological therapies: Integrating theory and practice (pp. 91-106). Hoboken, NJ, US: John Wiley & Sons Inc
- Janowitz, N. (2019). Freud's legacy and modern theories of ineffable trauma. *American Journal of Psychoanalysis*, 79(2), 212-229. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1057/s11231-</u> 019-09188-0

Jeter, W. K., & Brannon, L. A. (2018). 'I'll Make It Up to You: 'Examining the effect of

apologies on forgiveness. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, *13*(6), 597-604. doi: 10.1080/17439760.20171291854

- Jinkerson, J. D. (2016). Defining and assessing moral injury: A syndrome perspective. Traumatology, 22, 122–130. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/</u> trm0000069
- Joseph, S., & Linley, P.A. (2005). Positive adjustment to threatening events: An organismic valuing theory of growth through adversity. *Review of General Psychology*, 9(3), 262-280. doi: 10.1037/1089-2680.9.3.262.
- Kalisova, L., Michalec, J., Hadjipapanicolaou, D., & Raboch, J. (2018). Factors influencing the level of self-stigmatisation in people with mental illness. *The International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 64(4), 374–380. https://doi.org /10.1177/0020764018766561
- Karlin, B. E., Walser, R. D., Yesavage, J., Zhang, A., Trockel, M., & Taylor, C. B.
  (2013). Effectiveness of acceptance and commitment therapy for depression:
  Comparison among older and younger veterans. *Aging & Mental Health*, *17*(5), 555–563. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2013.789002</u>
- Kehle, S. M., Polusny, M. A., Murdoch, M., Erbes, C. R., Arbisi, P. A., Thuras, P., & Meis, L. A. (2010). Early mental health treatment-seeking among U.S. National Guard soldiers deployed to Iraq. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 23(1), 33-40. doi:10.1002/jts.20480
- Kelly, J. D., & Kelly, J. D. (2018). Forgiveness: A key resiliency builder. *Clinical Orthopaedics & Related Research*, 476(2), 203–204. https://doi.org /10.1007/s11999.00000000000024

- Kessler, R.C., Chiu, W. T., Demler, O., Merikangas, K. R., Walters, E. E. (2005).
  Prevalence, severity, and comorbidity of 12-month *DSM-IV* disorders in the national comorbidity survey replication. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 62, 617-627. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.62.6.617
- Koenig, H. G., Ames, D., Youssef, N. A., Oliver, J. P., Volk, F., Teng, E. J., Haynes, K., Erickson, Z. D., Arnold, I., O'Garo, K., & Pearce, M. (2018). Screening for moral injury: The Moral Injury Symptom Scale – Military Version short form. *Military Medicine*, 183(11–12), e659–e665. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/milmed/usy017</u>
- Konkolÿ Thege, B., Kovács, É., & Balog, P. (2014). A bifactor model of the Posttraumatic Growth Inventory. *Health Psychology and Behavioral Medicine*, 2(1), 529–540. https://doi.org/10.1080/21642850.2014.905208
- Kopacz, M., Hoffmire, C., Morley, S., & Vance, C. (2015). Using a spiritual distress scale to assess suicide risk in veterans: An exploratory study. *Pastoral Psychology*, 64(3), 381–390. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11089-014-0633-1</u>
- Kouchaki, M., Oveis, C., & Gino, F. (2014). Guilt enhances the sense of control and drives risky judgments. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 143(6), 2103–2110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037932</u>
- Kramer, L. B., Whiteman, S. E., Witte, T. K., Silverstein, M. W., & Weathers, F. W.
  (2020). From trauma to growth: The roles of event centrality, posttraumatic stress symptoms, and deliberate rumination. *Traumatology*, 26(2), 152–159.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/trm0000214.supp">https://doi.org/10.1037/trm0000214.supp</a> (Supplemental)

Lancaster, S. L., & Miller, M. (2020). Moral decision making, religious strain, and the

experience of moral injury. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice & Policy, 12*(2), 156–164. <u>https://doi.apa.org/doi/10.1037/tra0000518</u>

- Lansky, M. R. (2003). The "Incompatible Idea" revisited: The oft-invisible ego-ideal and shame dynamics. *The American Journal of Psychoanalysis*, 63(4), 365376.
  doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10</u>. 1023/B:TAJP.0000004741.67949.3f
- LaRocca, M. A., Scogin, F. R., Hilgeman, M. M., Smith, A. J., & Chaplin, W. F. (2018).
  The impact of posttraumatic growth, transformational leadership, and selfefficacy on PTSD and depression symptom severity among combat Veterans. *Military Psychology*, 30(2), 162–173.

https://doi.org/10.1080/08995605.2018.1425073

Larsen, S. E., & Berenbaum, H. (2015). Are specific emotion regulation strategies differentially associated with posttraumatic growth versus stress? *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 24*, 794–808.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10926771.2015.1062451

- Leach, C. W., & Cidam, A. (2015). When is shame linked to constructive approach orientation? A meta-analysis. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *109*(6), 983–1002. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/pspa0000037</u>
- Lehmann, C., & Steele, E. (2020). Going beyond positive and negative: Clarifying relationships of specific religious coping styles with posttraumatic outcomes. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, 12(3), 345–355. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/rel0000310</u>

Leith, K. P., & Baumeister, R. F. (1998). Empathy, shame, guilt, and narratives of

interpersonal conflicts: Guilt prone people are better at perspective taking. Journal of Personality, 66, 1–37. http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/1467-6494.00001

- Levi-Belz, Y., Dichter, N., & Zerach, G. (2020). Moral injury and suicide ideation among israeli combat veterans: The contribution of self-forgiveness and perceived social support. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 886260520920865. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260520920865
- Lichtenfeld, S., Maier, M. A., Buechner, V. L., & Fernández Capo, M. (2019). The influence of decisional and emotional forgiveness on attributions. *Frontiers in psychology*, 10, 1425. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01425</u>
- Lindstrom, C. M., Cann, A., Calhoun, L. G., & Tedeschi, R. G. (2013). The relationship of core belief challenge, rumination, disclosure, and sociocultural elements to posttraumatic growth. Psychological Trauma, 5(1), 50-55. doi:10.1037/a0022030
- Linley P.A., Joseph S. (2004). "Positive change following trauma and adversity: a review". Journal of Traumatic Stress. 17 (1): 11–21. doi:10.1023/b:jots.0000014671.27856.7e. PMID 15027788
- Litman, J. A. (2006). The COPE inventory: Dimensionality and relationships with approach-and avoidance-motives and positive and negative traits. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 41, 273–284. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2005.11.03</u>
- Litz, B. T., Stein, N., Delaney, E., Lebowitz, L., Nash, W. P., Silva, C., & Maguen, S. (2009). Moral injury and moral repair in war veterans: A preliminary model and intervention strategy. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 29, 695–706. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2009.07.003

- Luse, T. M., Slosek, J., & Rennix, C. (2016). Comparison of select health outcomes by deployment health assessment completion. *Military Medicine*, 181(2), 123–128. <u>https://doi.org/10.7205/MILMED-D-15-00019</u>
- MacLeod, A. D. (2004). Shell shock, Gordon Holmes and the Great War. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*, 97(2), 86–89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1258/jrsm.97.2.86</u>
- Maguen, S., Lucenko, B. A., Reger, M. A., Gahm, G. A., Litz, B. T., Seal, K. H., Knight, S. J., & Marmar, C. R. (2010). The impact of reported direct and indirect killing on mental health symptoms in Iraq war veterans. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 23(1), 86–90. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1002/jts.20434</u>
- Maguen, S., Burkman, K., Madden, E., Dinh, J., Bosch, J., Keyser, J., Schmitz, M., & Neylan, T. C. (2017). Impact of killing in war: a randomized, controlled pilot trial. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 9, 997. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.22471</u>
- Mahoney, C. T., Moshier, S. J., Keane, T. M., & Marx, B. P. (2021). Heightened healthcare utilization & risk of mental disorders among veterans with comorbid opioid use disorder & posttraumatic stress disorder. *Addictive Behaviors*, *112*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2020.106572</u>
- Majette, T. D. (2013). Self-stigma as a barrier to seeking mental health care for veterans (Order No. 3589710). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Walden University. (1430909473). Retrieved from
   <a href="https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?qurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.proquest.com">https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?qurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.proquest.com</a> %2Fdocview%2F1430909473%3Faccountid%3D14872

McCullough, M. E. (2000). Forgiveness as human strength: Theory, measurement, and

links to well-being. Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology, 19(1), 43-55.

Retrieved from

https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?qurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.proquest.com %2Fdocview%2F224855555%3Faccountid%3D14872

McClintock, C. H., Anderson, M., Svob, C., Wickramaratne, P., Neugebauer, R., Miller, L., & Weissman, M. M. (2019). Multidimensional understanding of religiosity/spirituality: Relationship to major depression and familial risk. *Psychological Medicine*, 49(14), 2379-2388. https://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0033291718003276

- McGaffin, B. J., Lyons, G. C. B., & Deane, F. P. (2013). Self-forgiveness, shame, and guilt in recovery from drug and alcohol problems. *Substance Abuse*, *34*(4), 396–404. <u>https://doi-org/10.1080/08897077.2013.781564</u>
- McMillen, J. C. (2004). Posttraumatic growth:What's it all about? *Psychological Inquiry*, *15*, 48–52. doi:10.1207/s15327965pli1501\_02
- Mendenhall, W. and Sincich, T. (2011). A Second Course in Statistics: Regression Analysis (7th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall
- Meyers, L. S., Gamst, G., & Guarino, A. J. (2017). *Applied multivariate research: Design and interpretation* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Miller, S. M., Pedersen, E. R., & Marshall, G. N. (2017). Combat experience and problem drinking in veterans: Exploring the roles of PTSD, coping motives, and perceived stigma. *Addictive Behaviors*, 66, 90–95.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2016.11.011
- Morris, J. T. (2018). Moral injury: Restoring wounded souls. *Anglican Theological Review*, *100*(2), 415–416. <u>https://eds-a-ebscohost-</u> com./eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=11&sid=b8b9ab22-5437-4efe-8458e9e97281619d%40sdc-v-sessmgr01
- Mott, J. M., Hundt, N. E., Sansgiry, S., Mignogna, J., & Cully, J. A. (2014). Changes in psychotherapy utilization among veterans with depression, anxiety, and PTSD.
   *Psychiatric Services*, 65(1), 106–112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201300056</u>
- Najavits L. M. (2015). The problem of dropout from "gold standard" PTSD therapies. *F1000prime reports*, 7, 43. <u>https://doi.org/10.12703/P7-43</u>
- Nash, W. P., & Litz, B. T. (2013). Moral Injury: A Mechanism for War-Related
   Psychological Trauma in Military Family Members. *Clinical Child & Family Psychology Review*, 16(4), 365–375. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-013-0146-y</u>
- Nash, W. P., Carper, T.L.M., Mills, M.A., Au, T., Goldsmith, A., Litz, B.T. (2013).
  Psychometric evaluation of the moral injury events scale. *Military Medicine*, 178(6), 646–652. <u>https://doi.org/10.7205/MILMED-D-13-00017</u>
- Nash, W. P. (2019). Commentary on the Special Issue on Moral Injury: Unpacking Two Models for Understanding Moral Injury. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 32(3), 465. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.22409</u>
- National Center for PTSD. (2019). PTSD basics. US Department of Veterans Affairs. https://www.ptsd.va.gov/understand/what/ptsd\_basics.asp
- Nazarov, A., Jetly, R., McNeely, H., Kiang, M., Lanius, R., & McKinnon, M. C. (2015). Role of morality in the experience of guilt and shame within the armed forces.

*Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *132*(1), 4–19. Error! Hyperlink reference not valid.

Newton, R. R., & Rudestam, K. E. (2013). Questions about multiple regression analysis. In R. R. Newton & K. E. Rudestam (Eds.), *Your statistical consultant* (2nd ed., pp. 281-314). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications. doi: 10.4135/9781506374673

Nieuwsma, J. A., Jackson, G. L., DeKraai, M. B., Bulling, D. J., Cantrell, W. C., Rhodes, J. E., Bates, M. J., Ethridge, K., Lane, M. E., Tenhula, W. N., Batten, S. V., & Meador, K. G. (2014). Collaborating across the Departments of Veterans Affairs and Defense to integrate mental health and chaplaincy services. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 29(Suppl 4), S885–S894.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-014-3032-5

Nieuwsma, J. A., Walser, R. D., Farnsworth, J. K., Drescher, K. D, Meador, K. G., & Nash, W. (2015). Possibilities within acceptance and commitment therapy for approaching moral injury. *Current Psychiatry Reviews*, 11(3), 193-206. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/1573400511666150629105234</u>

Nordstrand, A.E., Bøe, H. J., Holen, A., Reichelt, J.G., Gjerstad, C.L. & Hjemdal, O. (2019). Danger- and non-danger-based stressors and their relations to posttraumatic deprecation or growth in Norwegian veterans deployed to Afghanistan. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, *10*(1). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2019.1601989">https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2019.1601989</a>

Nordstrand, A. E., Bøe, H. J., Holen, A., Reichelt, J. G., Gjerstad, C. L., & Hjemdal, O.

(2020). Social support and disclosure of war-zone experiences after deployment to Afghanistan—Implications for posttraumatic deprecation or growth. *Traumatology*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/trm0000254</u>

- Norman, S. B., & Maguen, S. (2020). Moral injury. PTSD: National Center for PTSD. https://www.ptsd.va.gov/professional/treat/cooccurring/moral\_injury.asp
- Ortega, C. L., & Miller, E. (2020). Comorbid posttraumatic stress and substance use disorders: Treatment guideline from counselors. *Open Access Journal of Addiction and Psychology*, 3(3), 1-7. doi: 10.33552/OAJAP.2020.03.000565
- Pargament, K.I., & Sweeney, P.J. (2011). Building spiritual fitness in the Army: An innovative approach to a vital aspect of human development. *American Psychologist*, 66(1), 58–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021657</u>
- Park, C. L. (2010). Making Sense of the Meaning Literature: An Integrative Review of Meaning Making and Its Effects on Adjustment to Stressful Life Events.
   *Psychological Bulletin*, 136(2), 257–301. doi: 10.1037/a0018301
- Patino, C. M., & Ferreira, J. C. (2018). Internal and external validity: Can you apply research study results to your patients? Jornal Brasileiro de Pneumologia:
  Publicacao Oficial Da Sociedade Brasileira de Pneumologia e Tisilogia, 44(3), 183-183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/S1806-37562018000000164</u>
- Peres, J., Moreira-Almeida, A., Nasello, A., & Koenig, H. G. (2007). Spirituality and resilience in trauma victims. Journal of Religious Health, 46, 343–350. doi:10.1007/s10943-006-9103-0

Pietrzak, R. H., Goldstein, M. B., Malley, J. C., Rivers, A. J., Johnson, D. C., Morgan, C.

A., III, & Southwick, S. M. (2010). Posttraumatic growth in veterans of operations enduring freedom and Iraqi freedom. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 126, 230–235. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/</u> j.jad.2010.03.021

- Popkirov, S., Wessely, S., Nicholson, T. R., Carson, A. J., & Stone, J. (2017). Different shell, same shock. *BMJ: British Medical Journal (Online)*, 359 doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmj.j5621</u>
- Prati, G., & Pietrantoni, L. (2009). Optimism, social support, and coping strategies as factors contributing to posttraumatic growth: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Loss* and Trauma, 14, 364–388. <u>http://dx.doi.org/</u> 10.1080/15325020902724271
- Price, M., Gros, D. F., Strachan, M., Ruggiero, K. J., & Acierno, R. (2013). Combat experiences, pre-deployment training, and outcome of exposure therapy for post-traumatic stress disorder in Operation Enduring Freedom/Operation Iraqi
  Freedom veterans. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 20(4), 277–285.

https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.1768

- Purcell, N., Koenig, C. J., Bosch, J., & Maguen, S. (2016). Veterans' Perspectives on the Psychosocial Impact of Killing in War. *Counseling Psychologist*, 44(7), 1062– 1099. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000016666156
- Purcell, N., Burkman, K., Keyser, J., Fucella, P., Maguen, S. (2018). Healing from moral injury: A qualitative evaluation of the impact of killing treatment for combat veterans. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 27*(6), 645–673. https://doi.org/10.1080/10926771.2018.1463582

Purcell, N., Griffin, B. J., Burkman, K., & Maguen, S. (2018). "Opening a door to a new

life": The role of forgiveness in healing from moral injury. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00498</u>

- Ramchand, R., Acosta, J., Burns, R. M., Jaycox, L. H., & Pernin, C. (2011). The war within: Preventing suicide in the U.S. military. Santa Monica, CA: Rand
  Corporation. Retrieved from <u>http://www.rand.org/pubs/monographs/</u>MG953.html.
- Raza, G. T., & Holohan, D. R. (2015). Clinical treatment selection for posttraumatic stress disorder: Suggestions for researchers and clinical trainers. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 7*, 547–554.
   http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/tra0000059
- Reisman, M. (2016). PTSD Treatment for Veterans: What's Working, What's New, and What's Next. P&T: A Peer-Reviewed Journal for Managed Care & Formulary Management, 41(10), 623–634.
- Rennick, J. B. (2013). Canadian values and military operations in the twenty-first century. *Armed Forces & Society*, *39*(3), 511-530.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0095327X12441326

- Roseman, I. J., Wiest, C., & Swartz, T. S. (1994). Phenomenology, behaviors, and goals differentiate discrete emotions. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 67, 206–221. <u>http://dx.doi</u>. org/10.1037/0022-3514.67.2.206
- Rothbaum, B., Foa, E., & Hembree, E. *Reclaiming your Life After a Traumatic Experience, Workbook*, 2007. New York: Oxford University Press, Inc.
- Sandage, S. J., Worthington Jr, E. L., Hight, T. L., & Berry, J. W. (2000). Seeking

forgiveness: Theoretical context and an initial empirical study. *Journal of Psychology and Theology*, 28(1), 21-35.

Sanjay, S. R., & Hooda, R. S. (2019). Forgiveness: A theoretical perspective. *IAHRW International Journal of Social Sciences Review*, 7(4), 687–689.

Sayer, N., Spoont, M., & Nelson, D. (2004). Veterans seeking disability benefits for posttraumatic stress disorder: Who applies and the self-reported meaning of disability compensation. *Social Science & Medicine*, 58(11), 2133-2143. <u>http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.stthomas.edu/10.1016/j.socscimed.2003.08.009</u>

- Scherer, M., Worthington, E.L., Jr., Hook, J.N. & Campana, K.L. (2011). Forgiveness and the bottle: Promoting self-forgiveness in individuals who abuse alcohol. *Journal of Addictive Diseases*, 30(4), 382–395. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10550887.2011.609804</u>
- Seal, K. H., Maguen, S., Cohen, B., Gima, K. S., Metzler, T. J., Ren, L., Bertenthal, D., & Marmar, C. R. (2010). VA mental health services utilization in Iraq and Afghanistan veterans in the first year of receiving new mental health diagnoses. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 23(1), 5–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.20493</u>
- Shakespeare, F. J., & Barrington, A. J. (2012). Behavioral changes add validity to the construct of posttraumatic growth. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 25(4), 433–439. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.21730</u>
- Shapiro, F. (1989). Efficacy of the Eye Movement Desensitization Procedure in the Treatment of Traumatic Memories. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 2(2), 199–223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.2490020207</u>

Sharma, V., Marin, D. B., Koenig, H. K., Feder, A., Iacoviello, B. M., Southwick, S. M.,
& Pietrzak, R. H. (2017). Religion, spirituality, and mental health of US military veterans: Results from the National Health and Resilience in Veterans Study. *Journal of affective disorders*, 217, 197-204.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2017.03.071

Shay, J. (1991). Learning About Combat Stress from Homer's Iliad. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 4(4), 561–579. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1002/jts.2490040409

- Shay, J. (2012). Moral injury. Intertexts, 16(1), 57-66
- Snow, S. (2019, May). A Navy audit says the Marine Corps' noncompliance with health surveys could hinder early detection of PTSD. *The Marine Times*. <u>https://www.marinecorpstimes.com/news/your-marine-corps/2019/05/01/a-navyaudit-says-the-marine-corps-noncompliance-with-health-surveys-could-hinderearly-detection-of-ptsd/</u>
- Sripada, R.K., Pfeiffer, P.N., Rampton, J., Ganoczy, D., Rauch, S.A.M., Polusny, M.A., Bohenert, K.M. (2017). Predictors of PTSD symptom change among outpatients in the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs Health Care System. *Journal of Traumatic Stress.*, 30, 45–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.22156</u>
- Stana, A., Flynn, M. A., & Almeida, E. (2017). Battling the Stigma: Combat Veterans' Use of Social Support in an Online PTSD Forum. *International Journal of Men's Health*, 16(1), 20–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.3149/jmh.1601.20</u>

Starnino, V. R., Sullivan, W. P., Angel, C. T., & Davis, L. W. (2019). Moral injury,

coherence, and spiritual repair. *Mental Health, Religion & Culture*, 22(1), 99–114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13674676.2019.1589439</u>

- Steenkamp, M.M., Litz. B.T., Hoge, C.W., & Marmar, C. R. (2015). Psychotherapy for military-related PTSD: A review of randomized clinical trials. *JAMA*, *314*(5), 489–500. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.8370</u>
- Stein, J.Y., Levin, Y., Bachem, R. & Solomon, Z. (2018). Growing Apart: A Longitudinal Assessment of the Relation Between Post-traumatic Growth and Loneliness Among Combat Veterans. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00893</u>
- Suárez Álvarez, J., Pedrosa, I., Lozano, L. M., García Cueto, E., Cuesta Izquierdo, M., & Muñiz Fernández, J. (2018). Using reversed items in Likert scales: A questionable practice. *Psicothema*, 30(2), 149-158. doi: 10.7334/psicothema2018.33
- Sullivan, W. P., & Starnino, V. R. (2019). "Staring into the abyss": veterans' accounts of moral injuries and spiritual challenges. Mental Health, Religion & Culture, 22(1), 25–40. https://doi.org/10.1080/13674676.2019.1578952
- Szafranski, D. D., Gros, D. F., Acierno, R., Brady, K. T., Killeen, T. K., & Back, S. E. (2019). Heterogeneity of treatment dropout: PTSD, depression, and alcohol use disorder reductions in PTSD and AUD/SUD treatment noncompleters. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 26(2), 218–226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.2344</u>
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S., (2018). *Using multivariate statistics* (7th ed.). New York, NY: Pearson.

Taku, K., Cann, A., Tedeschi, R. G., & Calhoun, L. G. (2009). Intrusive versus deliberate

rumination in posttraumatic growth across US and Japanese samples. Anxiety,

Stress, & Coping, 22, 129–136

Tangney, J. P. (1995). Recent advances in the empirical study of shame and guilt. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 38, 1132–1145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764295038008008</u>

Tangney, J. P., Stuewig, J., & Mashek, D. J. (2007). Moral emotions and moral behavior. Annual Review of Psychology, 345.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.56.091103.070145

- Taylor T. F. (2015). The influence of shame on posttrauma disorders: have we failed to see the obvious? *European journal of psychotraumatology*, 6, 28847. <u>https://doi.org/10.3402/ejpt.v6.28847</u>
- Tedeschi, R. G., & Calhoun, L. G. (1996). The Posttraumatic Growth Inventory:
  Measuring the positive legacy of trauma. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 9(3), 455-471. doi:10.1007/BF02103658
- Tedeschi, R., Park, C., & Calhoun, L. (Eds.). (1998). *Posttraumatic growth: Positive changes in the aftermath of crisis*. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.

http://dx.doi.org/10.4324/9781410603401

- Tedeschi, R. G., & Calhoun, L. G. (2004). Posttraumatic growth: Conceptual foundations and empirical evidence. *Psychological Inquiry*, 15(1), 1-18. doi:10.1207/s15327965pli1501\_01
- Tedeschi, R. G., Calhoun, L. G., Cosden, M., Sanford, A., Koch, L. M., & Lepore, C. E. (2016). Posttraumatic Growth Inventory. *Substance Abuse*, *37*(4), 619–624.

- Tedeschi, R. G., Cann, A., Taku, K., Senol, D. E., & Calhoun, L. G. (2017). The posttraumatic growth inventory: A revision integrating existential and spiritual change. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 30(1), 11–18. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.22155
- Thomas, J. L., Britt, T. W., Odle-Dusseau, H., & Bliese, P. D. (2011). Dispositional optimism buffers combat Veterans from the negative effects of warzone stress on mental health symptoms and work impairment. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 67, 866–880. doi:10.1002/jclp.20809
- Thompson, L. Y., Snyder, C. R., Hoffman, L., Michael, S. T., Rasmussen, H. N.,
  Billings, L. S., Heinze, L., Neufeld, J. E., Shorey, H. S., Roberts, J. C, & Roberts,
  D. E. (2005). Dispositional forgiveness of self, others, and situations. Journal of
  Personality, 73, 313-359. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2005.00311.x</u>
- Tripp, J. C., & McDevitt-Murphy, M. E. (2017). Trauma-Related Guilt Mediates the Relationship between Posttraumatic Stress Disorder and Suicidal Ideation in OEF/OIF/OND Veterans. Suicide & Life-Threatening Behavior, 47(1), 78–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12266</u>
- Tsai, J., El-Gabalawy, R., Sledge, W. H., Southwick, S. M., & Pietrzak, R. H. (2015).
  Post-traumatic growth among veterans in the USA: results from the National
  Health and Resilience in Veterans Study. *Psychological Medicine*, 45(1), 165–179. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291714001202</u>
- The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (2019). How common is PTSD in adults? <u>https://www.ptsd.va.gov/understand/common/common\_adults.asp</u>

- U.S. Census Bureau (2019). Veteran Status [Data file]. Retrieved from https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=S2101&tid=ACSST1Y2019.S2101
- Vance, M. C., & Howell, J. D. (2020). Shell shock and PTSD: A tale of two diagnoses. Mayo Clinic Proceedings, 95(9), 1827-1830. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2020.06.002

VanderWeele, T. J. (2018). Religious Communities, Health, and Well-Being–Address to the US Air Force Chaplain. *Military medicine*, 183(5-6), 105-109. doi: 10.1093/milmed/usx206

Vatcheva, K. P., Lee, M., McCormick, J. B., & Rahbar, M. H. (2016). Multicollinearity in regression analyses conducted in epidemiologic studies. *Epidemiology* (*Sunnyvale, California.*), 6(2), 1-20. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4172/2161-</u> <u>1165.1000227</u>

- Vera, D., Samba, C., Kong, D. T., & Maldonado, T. (2020). Resilience as thriving: The role of positive leadership practices. *Organizational Dynamics*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgdyn.2020.100784</u>
- Violanti, J. M., Andrew, M. E., Mnatsakanova, A., Hartley, T. A., Fekedulegn, D., & Burchfiel, C. M. (2015). Correlates of hopelessness in high suicide risk police occupation. *Police Practice and Research*. Advance online publication. doi: http:// dx.doi.org/10.180/15614263.2015.1015125
- Wagner, A. C., Torbit, L., Jenzer, T., Landy, M. S., Pukay-Martin, N. D., Macdonald, A.,Fredman, S. J., & Monson, C. M. (2016). The Role of Posttraumatic Growth in aRandomized Controlled Trial of Cognitive-Behavioral Conjoint Therapy for

PTSD. Journal of traumatic stress, 29(4), 379–383.

https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.22122

- Wall Emerson, R. (2021). Convenience Sampling Revisited: Embracing Its Limitations Through Thoughtful Study Design. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, *115*(1), 76–77. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145482X20987707
- Walters, E. M., Jenkins, M. M., Nappi, C. M., Clark, J., Lies, J., Norman, S. B., & Drummond, S. P. A. (2020). The impact of prolonged exposure on sleep and enhancing treatment outcomes with evidence-based sleep interventions: A pilot study. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice & Policy, 12*(2), 175–185. <u>https://doi-org/10.1037/tra0000478</u>
- Warner, R. M. (2013). *Applied statistics: From bivariate through multivariate techniques*. SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Watkins, L. E., Sprang, K. R., & Rothbaum, B. O. (2018). Treating PTSD: A Review of Evidence-Based Psychotherapy Interventions. *Frontiers in behavioral neuroscience*, 12, 258. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00258</u>
- Webb, J. R., Bumgarner, D. J., Conway-Williams, E., Dangel, T., Hall, B. B. (2017). A consensus definition of self-forgiveness: Implications for assessment and treatment. *Spirituality in Clinical Practice*, 4(3), 216–227.

http://doi.org/10.1037/scp0000138

Weinberg, M. (2020). Differences in the association of spirituality, forgiveness, PTSD and stress among social workers and social work students treating trauma survivors. *Social Work in Health Care*, *59*(6), 430–444.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00981389.2020.1781739

- Wenzel, M., Woodyatt, L., & Hedrick, K. (2012). No genuine self-forgiveness without accepting responsibility: Value reaffirmation as a key to maintaining positive selfregard. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 42(5), 617–627. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.1873
- Wenzel, M., Woodyatt, L., Okimoto, T. G., & Worthington, E. L., Jr. (2020). Dynamics of moral repair: Forgiveness, self-forgiveness, and the restoration of vlue consensus as interdependent pocesses. *Personality & Social Psychology Bulletin*, 146167220937551. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167220937551</u>
- Whealin, J. M., Pitts, B., Tsai, J., Rivera, C., Fogle, B. M., Southwick, S. M., & Pietrzak,
  R. H. (2020). Dynamic interplay between PTSD symptoms and posttraumatic
  growth in older military veterans. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 269, 185–191.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.03.020">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.03.020</a>
- Williams, M. N., Grajales, C. A. G., & Kurkiewicz, D. (2013). Assumptions of multiple regression: Correcting two misconceptions. *Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation*, 18(11), 1-14. doi: https://doi.org/10.7275/55hn-wk47
- Williams, S. L., Ames, K., & Lawson, C. (2019). Preferences and trust in traditional and non-traditional sources of health information – a study of middle to older aged Australian adults. *Journal of Communication in Healthcare*, *12*(2), 134–142. https://doi.org/10.1080/17538068.2019.1642050
- Williamson, V., Stevelink, S. A. M., & Greenberg, N. (2018). Occupational moral injury and mental health: systematic review and meta-analysis. *British Journal of*

Psychiatry, 212(6), 339-346. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.2018.55

- Williamson, V. Murphy, D., Stevelink, S.A.M., Allen, S., Jones, E., & Greenberg. N. (2020). The impact of trauma exposure and moral injury on UK military veterans: a qualitative study. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, *11*(1). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2019.1704554">https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2019.1704554</a>
- Wisco, B.E., Marx, B. P., Miller, M. W., Wolf, E. J., Mota, N. P., Krystal, J. H., ...
  Pietrzak, R. H. (2016). Posttraumatic stress disorder in the U.S. veteran
  population according to DSM-5: Results from the National Health and Resilience
  in Veterans Survey. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 77, 1503–1510.
  https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.14m09328
- Wisco, B. E., Marx, B. P., May, C. L., Martini, B., Krystal, J. H., Southwick, S. M., & Pietrzak, R. H. (2017). Moral injury in U.S. combat veterans: Results from the national health and resilience in veterans' study. *Depression & Anxiety (1091-4269)*, *34*(4), 340–347. https://doi-org/10.1002/da.22614
- Witvliet, C. V., Ludwig, T. E., & Vander Laan, K. L. (2001). Granting forgiveness or harboring grudges: Implications for emotion, physiology, and health.
   *Psychological Science*, *12*(2), 117–123. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9280.00320
- Witvliet, C. V. O., Worthington, E. L., Root, L. M., Sato, A. F., Ludwig, T. E., & Exline, J. J. (2008). Retributive justice, restorative justice, and forgiveness: An experimental psychophysiology analysis. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 44(1), 10–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2007.01.009</u>

Witvliet, C. V., Wade, N. G., Worthington Jr, E. L., Root Luna, L., Van Tongeren, D. R.,

Berry, J. W., & Tsang, J. A. (2020). Apology and restitution: offender accountability responses influence victim empathy and forgiveness. *Journal of Psychology and Theology*, *48*(2), 88-104.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0091647120915181

- Wolf, S. T., Cohen, T. R., Panter, A. T., & Insko, C. A. (2010). Shame proneness and guilt proneness: Toward the further understanding of reactions to public and private transgressions. *Self and Identity*, *9*, 337–362. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15298860903106843
- Woodyatt, L., & Wenzel, M. (2013). Self-forgiveness and restoration of an offender following an interpersonal transgression. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, *32*, 225–259. doi: <u>http://dx.doi</u>.org/10.1521/jscp.2013.32.2.225
- Worthington, E. L., Jr., Sharp, C. B., Lerner, A. J., & Sharp, J. R. (2006). Interpersonal forgiveness as an example of loving one's enemies. *Journal of Psychology and Theology*, 34(1), 32–42.
- Worthington, E. L., & Langberg, D. (2012). Religious considerations and selfforgiveness in treating complex trauma and moral injury in present and former soldiers. *Journal of Psychology & Theology*, 4, 274–288.
- Wortmann, J. H., Eisen, E., Hundert, C., Jordan, A. H., Smith, M. W., Nash, W. P., & Litz, B. T. (2017). Spiritual features of war-related moral injury: A primer for clinicians. *Spirituality in Clinical Practice*, 4(4), 249–261.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/scp0000140">https://doi.org/10.1037/scp0000140</a>

Wozniak, J. D., Caudle, H. E., Harding, K., Vieselmeyer, J., & Mezulis, A. H. (2020).

The effect of trauma proximity and ruminative response styles on posttraumatic stress and posttraumatic growth following a university shooting. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice & Policy, 12*(3), 227–234.

https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000505

- Wusik, M. F., Smith, A. J., Jones, R. T., & Hughes, M. (2015). Dynamics among posttraumatic stress symptoms, forgiveness for the perpetrator, and posttraumatic growth following collective trauma. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 43(4), 389–394. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.21686</u>
- Zeligman, M., Barden, S. M., & Hagedorn, W. B. (2016). Posttraumatic growth and HIV: A study on associations of stigma and social support. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 94, 141–149. <u>http://dx.doi.org/</u> 10.1002/jcad.12071
- Zeligman, M., Varney, M., Grad, R. I., & Huffstead, M. (2018). Posttraumatic growth in individuals with chronic illness: The role of social support and meaning making.Journal of Counseling and Development, 96, 53–63.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jcad.12177

Zhizhong, W., Koenig, H. G., Yan, T., Jing, W., Mu, S., Hongyu, L., & Guangtian, L. (2020). Psychometric properties of the moral injury symptom scale among Chinese health professionals during the COVID-19 pandemic. *BMC Psychiatry*, 20(1), 556. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-020-02954-w</u>

## Appendix A: Permission to Use Moral Injury Event Scale

Subject: [EXTERNAL] Question regarding the use of the moral injury event scale

Greeting Dr. Nash,

My name is Mario S. De Souza and am a student at Walden University currently working on my dissertation. I wanted to know how to acquire permission to use the moral injury event scale for the purposes of my study. My research involves moral injury leading to posttraumatic growth using forgiveness as a moderator. I plan on using survey samples (e.g. Qualtrics, Survey monkey) to reach veterans through podcast services catered to them. Thank you for your time.

Respectfully,

Mario S. De Souza

Subject: RE: Question regarding the use of the moral injury event scale

No permission is needed since the MIES is in the public space.

Keep in mind that the MIES is intended to be a measure of exposure to potentially morally injurious events, not a measure of moral injury as an outcome. No valid measure yet exists for moral injury as an outcome.

Have fun.

Bill

## Appendix B: Permission to Use Homeland Forgiveness Scale

Subject: Re: Requesting permission to use the Heartland Forgiveness scale

Dear Mr. De Souza, You have permission to use the Heartland Forgiveness Scale (HFS) for your research. Regards, Laura

Dear Dr. Thompson,

I hope this letter finds you well. My name is Mario De Souza and I am a doctoral candidate at Walden University. I would like to request permission to use the Heartland Forgiveness Scale as part of my research. If you have any questions regarding my research study, please feel free to contact me. Thank you for your time in the matter.

Respectfully,

Mario S. De Souza

## Appendix C: Permission to Use Posttraumatic Growth Inventory Scale

### Subject: Re: Requesting permission to use the Posttraumatic Growth Inventory

You have my permission to proceed. I am attaching a copy of the PTGI for your use.

Richard G. Tedeschi, Ph.D. Distinguished Chair Boulder Crest Institute for Posttraumatic Growth Bluemont, VA

See my latest publications:

Transformed by Trauma: Stories of Posttraumatic Growth (2020)

*Posttraumatic Growth: Theory, Research, and Applications* (2018) at <u>https://www.taylorfrancis.com/books/9781315527444</u>

*The Posttraumatic Growth Workbook (2016)* at <u>https://www.newharbinger.com/posttraumatic-growth-workbook</u>

Dear Dr. Tedeschi,

I hope this letter finds you well. My name is Mario De Souza, and I am a doctoral candidate at Walden University. I would like to request permission to use the Posttraumatic Growth Inventory as part of my research. If you have any questions regarding my research study, please feel free to contact me. Thank you for your time in the matter.

Respectfully,

Mario S. De Souza Reply Forward

# Appendix D: Demographics Survey

- 1. Age
- 0 18-24
- 0 25-34
- 0 35-44
- 0 45-54
- 0 55-64
- 0 65+

#### 2. Gender

- O Male
- Female
- O Non-binary
- Third gender
- Prefer not to say

## 3. Ethnicity / Race

- O Asian or Pacific Islander
- O Black or African American
- Hispanic or Latino
- $\bigcirc$  Native American or Alaskan Native
- O White or Caucasian
- O Multiracial or Biracial
- $\bigcirc$  A race/ethnicity not listed here
- 4. Branch of Service
- O Army
- O Navy
- $\bigcirc$  Air Force
- O Marines
- O Coast Guard
- 5. Service Component
- Active Duty
- O National Guard
- Reserves

## 6. Combat Operation

- O World War II
- Korean War
- Vietnam War
- $\bigcirc$  Persian Gulf War
- O Bosnian War
- $\bigcirc$  Operation Enduring Freedom
- O Operation Iraqi Freedom

## 7. Religious Affiliation

- O Catholic (including Roman Catholic and Orthodox)
- Protestant (Anglican, Orthodox, Baptist, Lutheran)
- O Christian Orthodox
- Jewish
- O Muslim
- 🔿 Sikh
- O Hindu
- O Buddhist
- Atheist (does not believe in God)
- O Other
- None

## Appendix E: Moral Injury Event Scale

#### MIES

		Strongly Disagree	Moderately Disagree	Slightly Disagree	Slightly Agree	Moderately Agree	Strongly Agree
1.	I saw things that were morally wrong.	1	2	3	4	5	6
2.	I am troubled by having witnessed others' immoral acts.	1	2	3	4	5	6
3.	I acted in ways that violated my own moral code or values.	1	2	3	4	5	6
4.	I am troubled by having acted in ways that violated my own morals or values.	1	2	3	4	5	6
5.	I violated my own morals by failing to do something that I felt I should have done.	1	2	3	4	5	6
6.	I am troubled because I violated my morals by failing to do something I felt I should have done.	1	2	3	4	5	6
7.	I feel betrayed by leaders who I once trusted.	1	2	3	4	5	6
8.	I feel betrayed by fellow service members who I once trusted.	1	2	3	4	5	6
9.	I feel betrayed by others outside the U.S. military who I once trusted.	1	2	3	4	5	6

**Instructions:** Please circle a number to indicate how much you agree or disagree with each of the following statements about your experiences at any time since joining the military.

Source: William P. Nash, Brett T. Litz. Public Domain

#### Scoring instructions:

The original 11-item Moral Injury Events Scale shown in the Appendix of Nash et al. (2013) shows response choices from 1 to 6 corresponding to labels of "strongly agree" to "strongly disagree," such that, using the 9 items included in the final scale, higher scores on the MIES would correspond to lower intensity of Moral Injury Events.

The correct response choice labels are shown in the table above and described accurately in the text of Nash et al. (2013). The response choices from 1 to 6 correspond to labels of "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree," such that higher scores on the MIES correspond to higher intensity of Moral Injury Events.

Reference: Nash, W. P., Marino Carper, T. L., Mills, M. A., Au, T., Goldsmith, A., & Litz, B. T. (2013). Psychometric evaluation of the moral injury events scale. Military medicine, 178(6), 646-652.

## Appendix F: Homeland Forgiveness Scale

### HFS

### Directions: In the course of our lives negative things may occur because of our own actions, the actions of others, or circumstances beyond our control. For some time after these events, we may have negative thoughts or feelings about ourselves, others, or the situation. Think about how you typically respond to such negative events. Next to each of the following items write the number (from the 7-point scale below) that best describes how you typically respond to the type of negative situation described. There are no right or wrong answers. Please be as open as possible in your answers. 2 3 4 6 7 5 Almost Always More Often More Often Almost Always False of Me False of Me True of Me True of Me Although I feel badly at first when I mess up, over time I can give myself some slack. I hold grudges against myself for negative things I've done. 3. Learning from bad things that I've done helps me get over them. It is really hard for me to accept myself once I've messed up. 5. With time I am understanding of myself for mistakes I've made. 6. I don't stop criticizing myself for negative things I've felt, thought, said, or done. I continue to punish a person who has done something that I think is wrong. 8. With time I am understanding of others for the mistakes they've made. I continue to be hard on others who have hurt me. 10. Although others have hurt me in the past, I have eventually been able to see them as good people. 11. If others mistreat me, I continue to think badly of them. When someone disappoints me, I can eventually move past it. 13. When things go wrong for reasons that can't be controlled, I get stuck in negative thoughts about it. 14. With time I can be understanding of bad circumstances in my life. 15. If I am disappointed by uncontrollable circumstances in my life, I continue to think negatively about them. I eventually make peace with bad situations in my life. \_\_\_\_ 17. It's really hard for me to accept negative situations that aren't anybody's fault. 18. Eventually I let go of negative thoughts about bad circumstances that are beyond anyone's control.

Copyright Laura Y. Thompson and C. R. Synder @ August 1, 1999

#### Post Traumatic Growth Inventory

Client Name:\_\_\_\_\_Today's Date:\_\_\_\_\_

Indicate for each of the statements below the degree to which this change occurred in your life as a result of the crisis/disaster, using the following scale.

- 0 = I did not experience this change as a result of my crisis.
- 1 = I experienced this change to a very small degree as a result of my crisis.
- 2 = I experienced this change to a small degree as a result of my crisis.
- 3 = I experienced this change to a moderate degree as a result of my crisis.
- 4 = I experienced this change to a great degree as a result of my crisis.
- 5 = I experienced this change to a very great degree as a result of my crisis.

Possible Areas of Growth and Change			2	3	4	5
1. I changed my priorities about what is important in life.						
2. I have a greater appreciation for the value of my own life.						
3. I developed new interests.						
<ol><li>I have a greater feeling of self-reliance.</li></ol>						
<ol><li>I have a better understanding of spiritual matters.</li></ol>						
<ol> <li>I more clearly see that I can count on people in times of trouble. Text</li> </ol>						
<ol><li>I established a new path for my life.</li></ol>						
8. I have a greater sense of closeness with others.						
<ol><li>I am more willing to express my emotions.</li></ol>						
10. I know better that I can handle difficulties.						
11. I am able to do better things with my life.						
12. I am better able to accept the way things work out.						
13. I can better appreciate each day.						
<ol> <li>New opportunities are available which wouldn't have been otherwise.</li> </ol>						
15. I have more compassion for others.						
16. I put more effort into my relationships.						
<ol> <li>I am more likely to try to change things which need changing.</li> </ol>						
18. I have a stronger religious faith.						
19. I discovered that I'm stronger than I thought I was.						
20. I learned a great deal about how wonderful people are.						
21.1 better accept needing others.						

Appendix H: Survey Invitation



Combat Veterans Wanted

Are you a Veteran of the United States Armed Forces who served in combat between WWII and Operation Iraqi Freedom/Operation Enduring Freedom?

Research is being conducted to explore the relationship of selfforgiveness as a moderator between moral injury and posttraumatic growth. Participation may improve reintegration of combat veterans back home to families and society.

All that is needed are answers to three very brief surveys (48 questions total – 10 minutes)

Surveys and eligibility questionnaires located at the Voice of the Veteran website.

If you are interested or would like more information, please contact Mario S. De Souza\* Phone: Email:

\*Mario S. De Souza is a Doctoral Candidate at Walden University as well as a combat veteran who served two tours in Afghanistan. This study is being conducted to meet partial fulfillment for the degree of PhD in Clinical Psychology.

Appendix I: Permission to use non-Department of Defense entities

Mario De Souza Thu 7/23/2020 12:21 PM To: IRB

To whom it may concern,

I am writing to seek ethical guidance regarding collecting data from a vulnerable population. The population I refer to is regarding the veterans of the U.S. Armed Forces. The topic of my dissertation involves seeking a cross-sectional, correlational analysis to help me evaluate the connection between posttraumatic growth (PTG), and posttraumatic stress (PTS), moral injury (MI), and forgiveness among combat veterans. I also plan on collecting data thru an online survey method such as survey monkey distributed through various internet podcast services that cater to the veteran population. Any guidance you can share with me is appreciated.

Very Respectfully, Mario S. De Souza

IRB Tue 7/28/2020 4:38 PM Mario De Souza Cc: Denise A. Horton

Hi Mario,

As long as you recruit through non-Dod entities (like podcast services), the veterans are not considered vulnerable populations and do not require anything different from other adult research participants. We do not recommend that you try to recruit through the VA- they are not typically very supportive of doctoral student research, even when the researchers are veterans themselves. But if you decide to try to recruit through the VA or any DoD entity, be prepared for a lengthy process that takes many months.

There will be a lot of details you need to work out but given the sensitivity of that data, you should plan on using anonymous survey methods (with no consent signature). And all studies need to meet the criteria in this <u>checklist</u>.

Sincerely, Libby Munson Research Ethics Support Specialist Office of Research Ethics and Compliance Walden University